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On 9 November, 1995, Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme (formerly Banque Internationale à Luxembourg S.A.) entered 
into a U.S.$1,000,000,000 Programme for the issue of Euro Medium Term and Undated Notes and Warrants (the “Programme”) and issued an offering 
circular on that date describing the Programme. The limit of the Programme was increased to U.S.$2,000,000,000 on 8 November, 1996, to 
U.S.$5,000,000,000 on 16 December, 1997, to U.S.$8,000,000,000 on 21 February, 2005 and to Euro 10,000,000,000 on 3 October, 2005.

Any Notes or Warrants (as defined below) issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Prospectus are issued subject to the provisions 
described herein save that any Notes or Warrants issued which are to be consolidated and form a single series with a previous issue of Notes or Warrants 
shall be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to that previous issue of Notes or Warrants as set out in the prospectus applicable thereto.

Under the Programme, Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme  (the “Bank” or “Dexia BIL”),  subject to compliance with all 
relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue medium term notes that rank as senior obligations of Dexia BIL (the “Senior Notes”), 
medium term notes that rank as subordinated obligations of Dexia BIL (the “Subordinated Notes” and, together with the Senior Notes, the “Notes”) and 
warrants or other similar instruments (the “Warrants”). The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed Euro 10,000,000,000 
(or the equivalent in other currencies).

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent authority under the 
Luxembourg Act dated 10 July, 2005 relating to prospectuses for securities to approve this document as a base Prospectus. Application has also been made 
to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes and Warrants issued under the Programme for the period of 12 months from the date of publication of this 
Prospectus to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Official List”) and to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Regulated Market”). References in this Prospectus to Notes and Warrants being “listed” (and all related references) shall 
mean that such Notes and Warrants have been listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated 
Market. The Regulated Market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on Markets 
in financial instruments. However, unlisted Notes and Warrants may be issued pursuant to the Programme. The relevant Final Terms (as defined on page 6) 
in respect of the issue of any Notes and the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants (as defined on page 13) in respect of the issue of any Warrants will specify 
whether or not such Notes or Warrants will be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (or any other stock exchange(s)).

Each Tranche (as defined on page 6) of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each, a 
“temporary Global Note”) or a permanent global note in bearer form (each, a “permanent Global Note” and together with the temporary Global Notes, the 
“Global Notes”). Each Tranche of Warrants in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global warrant in bearer form (each, a “temporary 
Global Warrant”). Each Tranche of Warrants in book-entry form will be represented by a global warrant (each, a “Global Warrant”, which expression does not 
include temporary Global Warrants). If the Global Notes are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form, they will be 
delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. 
(“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”). Notes in registered form (“Registered Notes”) will be represented by 
registered certificates (each, a “Registered Note Certificate”), one Registered Note Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of 
Registered Notes of one Series (as defined on page 6) of Notes. Registered Notes issued in global form will be represented by registered global certificates 
(“Registered Note Global Certificates”). If a Registered Note Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure (“NSS”) the Registered Note 
Global Certificate will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg.

Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form (“CGNs”), Registered Note Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS, temporary Global 
Warrants and Global Warrants will be deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”).

The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Summary of 
Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form”. Each temporary Global Warrant will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for definitive Warrants 
in bearer form 40 days after its issue date upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. The purchase, transfer and exercise of Warrants in book-
entry form may only be effected through an account at Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Definitive Warrants in book-entry form will not be issued.

Tranches of Notes may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, it will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Such rating will not 
necessarily be the same as ratings assigned to the Programme. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to 
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus.
This Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC (the “Prospectus Directive”).
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Responsibility Statement
The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information given in the Prospectus. Having taken all 

reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the 
best of the knowledge of the Issuer, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to 
affect its import.

General
This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) 

below may apply, any offer of Notes or Warrants in any Member State of the European Economic 
Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be 
made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant 
Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes or Warrants. 
Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes 
or Warrants which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Prospectus as completed by final 
terms in relation to the offer of those Notes or Warrants may only do so (i) in circumstances in which 
no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the 
Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in 
each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the 
competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another 
Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in 
either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such 
prospectus has subsequently been completed by relevant final terms which specify that offers may be 
made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State 
and such offer is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in 
such prospectus or relevant final terms, as applicable. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above 
may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of 
any offer of Notes or Warrants in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any 
Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein 
by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”).

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other 
than those contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes or Warrants 
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been 
authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in “Summary of the 
Programme”). Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, 
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the 
Issuer or the Issuer’s consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole (the “Dexia BIL Group”) since the 
date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that 
there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Dexia BIL Group since 
the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that 
any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent 
to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the 
same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes and Warrants in certain 
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are 
required by the Issuer, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any 
such restriction. The Notes and Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the United 
States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Notes include Notes in bearer 
form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be 
offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. The Warrants may not at any 
time be offered, sold or delivered directly or indirectly in the United States or to, or for the account or 
benefit of, any U.S. person. Furthermore, neither the sale of nor trading in Warrants which relate to 
currencies, commodity prices or indices has been approved by the United States Commodity Futures 
Trading Commission under the United States Commodity Exchange Act, and no U.S. person may at 
any time purchase, trade or maintain a position in such Warrants unless otherwise specified in the 
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relevant Final Terms for the Warrants. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of 
Notes and Warrants and on the distribution of this Prospectus, see “Plan of Distribution”.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or 
the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes or Warrants.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers (other than the Issuer in its capacity 
as Dealer) or the Arranger accept any responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus or for any other 
statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or a Dealer (other than the Issuer in its 
capacity as Dealer) or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes 
or the Warrants. The Arranger and each Dealer (other than the Issuer in its capacity as Dealer) 
accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as 
referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement. 
Neither this Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any 
credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the 
Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Prospectus or any other financial statements should 
purchase the Notes or Warrants, as the case may be. Each potential purchaser of Notes or Warrants 
should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its 
purchase of Notes or Warrants, as the case may be, should be based upon such investigation as it 
deems necessary. None of the Dealers (other than the Issuer in its capacity as Dealer) or the Arranger 
undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Dexia BIL Group during the 
life of the arrangements contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential 
investor in the Notes or Warrants of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or 
the Arranger.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named 
as the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the 
applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes, or effect transactions with a view to supporting 
the market price of the Notes, at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. 
However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of 
a Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin 
on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the 
relevant Tranche of Notes, is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no 
later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes, and 60 
days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or 
over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on 
behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Stabilising activities are not permitted in respect of the Warrants.

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to 
“EUR” and “euro” are to the currency introduced pursuant to Article 109I(4) of the Treaty establishing 
the European Community as amended by the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty of 
Amsterdam and as further amended from time to time, to “GBP”, “Pounds Sterling” and “Sterling” are 
to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom and to “U.S.$”, “USD” and “U.S. dollars” are to the lawful 
currency of the United States. 
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SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

This summary must be read as an introduction to this Prospectus. Any decision to invest in any Notes 
or Warrants should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole, including the 
documents incorporated by reference, by any investor. Following the implementation of the relevant 
provisions of the Prospectus Directive in each Member State of the European Economic Area (an 
“EEA State”), the responsible persons may have civil liability in respect of this summary, if it is 
misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Prospectus. 
Where a claim relating to information contained in this Prospectus is brought before a court in an EEA 
State, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the EEA State where the claim is brought, be 
required to bear the costs of translating the Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its 
entirety by the remainder of, this Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any 
particular Tranche of Notes or Warrants, the applicable Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants. 
Words and expressions defined or used in “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”, “Terms and 
Conditions of the Subordinated Notes”, “General Conditions of the Book-Entry Warrants” and “General 
Conditions of the Bearer Warrants” shall have the same meaning in this summary.

Information relating to the Issuer:
Dexia BIL, together with Dexia Banque Belgium S.A. in Belgium and Dexia Crédit Local in France, is a 
member of the European banking group Dexia (“Dexia Group” or “the Group”) which is one of the 
twenty largest financial institutions listed on the stock market in the euro-zone according to Fininfo. 
Dexia BIL’s main business activities cover the fields of commercial banking, private banking, financial 
banking, asset management and investment fund administration services.

Dexia BIL was incorporated in Luxembourg on 8 March, 1856 in the form of a société anonyme
(limited liability company), governed by Luxembourg law. Its registered office is located at 69, route 
d’Esch, Luxembourg, L-1470 Luxembourg, telephone number +352 45901. Dexia BIL is registered in 
the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under number B-6307.

Dexia BIL’s duration is unlimited.

The objects of Dexia BIL are to undertake all banking and financial operations of whatsoever kind, 
and, inter alia, to accept deposits from the public or any other person or institutions and to grant credit 
for its own account. It may also undertake all activities reserved for investment firms and to other 
professionals in the financial sector and all financial, administrative, management and advisory 
operations directly or indirectly related to its activities. It may establish subsidiaries, branches and 
agencies in or outside Luxembourg and participate in all financial, commercial and industrial 
operations.

Information relating to the Programme:
Issuer: Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme. 

Description: Programme for the issue of Euro Medium Term Notes and 
Warrants.

Size: Up to €10,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the 
date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at 
any one time.

Arranger: Goldman Sachs International

Dealers: BNP Paribas
Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank
Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited
Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme
  (Dexia Capital Markets)
Goldman Sachs International
J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd.
Merrill Lynch International
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Mitsubishi UFJ Securities International plc
Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
Nomura International plc
UBS Limited

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any 
dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in 
respect of one or more Tranches of Notes or Warrants or in 
respect of the whole Programme.

Information Relating to the Notes:
Fiscal Agent: Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme.

Method of Issue: The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. 
The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”) having one or 
more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical 
other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of 
each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other 
Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each 
a “Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific 
terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where 
necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in 
respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and 
nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of 
other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in the relevant 
Final Terms (the “Final Terms”).

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or 
premium to their nominal amount. Partly-Paid Notes may be issued, 
the issue price of which will be payable in two or more instalments.
The issue price of each Tranche will be set out in the relevant Final 
Terms.

Form of Notes: The Notes may be issued in bearer form only (“Bearer Notes”), in 
bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes (“Exchangeable 
Bearer Notes”) or in registered form only (“Registered Notes”). 
Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes 
will initially be represented by a temporary Global Note if (i) 
definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders following 
the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such Notes have 
an initial maturity of more than one year and are being issued in 
compliance with the D Rules (as defined in “Selling Restrictions”), 
otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a permanent Global 
Note. Registered Notes will be represented by Registered Note 
Certificates, one Registered Note Certificate being issued in 
respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes of 
one Series. Registered Note Certificates that are registered in the 
name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems are referred 
to as “Registered Note Global Certificates”.

Clearing Systems: Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any 
Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between 
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Initial Delivery of Senior Notes: On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global 
Note is a NGN or the relevant Registered Note Global Certificate is 
held under the NSS, the Global Note or the Registered Note Global 
Certificate will be delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear 
and Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for 
each Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the relevant 
Registered Note Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, (i) 
the Global Note representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable 

SNA5-4.3
SNA12-4.1.4
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Bearer Notes or (ii) the Registered Note Global Certificate 
representing Registered Notes may (or, in the case of Notes listed 
on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, shall) be 
deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Registered Note Global 
Certificates relating to Notes may also be deposited with any other 
clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system 
provided that, save in the case of delivery to Euroclear France, the 
method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer 
and the relevant Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited 
to one or more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the 
name of nominees or a common nominee for such clearing 
systems.

Initial Delivery of On or before the issue date for each Tranche, the Global
Subordinated Notes: Note representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes or 

the Registered Note Certificate representing Registered Notes may 
be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Registered Note 
Certificates may also be deposited with any other clearing system 
or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that, 
save in the case of delivery to Euroclear France, the method of 
such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer and the 
relevant Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or 
more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the name of 
nominees or a common nominee for such clearing systems.

Currencies: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 
directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between 
the Issuer and the relevant Dealers.

Maturities: Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and 
directives, Senior Notes may have any maturity that is one month 
or greater and Subordinated Notes will have either (i) a maturity 
that is one month or greater (“Dated Notes”) or (ii) no scheduled 
maturity date (“Undated Notes”).

Under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July, 2005 relating to 
prospectuses for securities which implements the Prospectus 
Directive, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having 
a maturity at issue of less than 12 months and complying also with 
the definition of securities are not subject to the approval provisions 
of Part II of such law.

Redenomination: The relevant Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be 
redenominated in Euro. If so, the wording of the redenomination 
clause will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Denomination: Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified 
in the relevant Final Terms, save that the minimum denomination 
of each Note admitted to trading on a regulated market within the 
European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member 
State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which 
require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus 
Directive will be EUR 1,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a 
currency other than Euro, the equivalent amount in such currency 
at the time of issue).

Fixed Rate Notes: Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each 
year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes: Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for 
each Series as follows:
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(i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional 
interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified 
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 
ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association, Inc. or

(ii) by reference to EURIBOR or LIBOR (or such other 
benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) 
as adjusted for any applicable margin. Interest periods will 
be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a 
discount to it and will not bear interest.

Dual Currency Notes: Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether 
at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be 
made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as 
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Index-Linked Notes: Payments of principal in respect of Index-Linked Redemption 
Notes or of interest in respect of Index-Linked Interest Notes will be 
calculated by reference to such index and/or formula as may be 
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Interest Periods and The length of the interest periods for the Notes the
Interest Rates: applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from 

time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a 
maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use 
of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at 
different rates in the same interest period. All such information will 
be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Redemption: The relevant Final Terms will specify the basis for calculating the 
redemption amounts payable, which may be by reference to a 
stock index or formula or as otherwise provided in the relevant 
Final Terms.

Redemption by Instalments: The relevant Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes 
that are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the 
dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be 
redeemed.

Other Notes: Terms applicable to high interest Notes, low interest Notes, step-up 
Notes, step-down Notes, dual currency Notes, reverse dual 
currency Notes, optional dual currency Notes, Partly-Paid Notes 
and any other type of Note that the Issuer and any Dealer or 
Dealers may agree to issue under the Programme will be set out in 
the relevant Final Terms or in a supplement to the Prospectus.

Optional Redemption: The relevant Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes  
will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their 
stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) 
and, in the case of Senior Notes only, at the option of the holders, 
and if so the terms applicable to such redemption. Such 
redemption will be subject to the prior approval of the CSSF for 
Subordinated Notes.

Status of Notes: Senior Notes may be issued by the Issuer. Senior Notes will 
constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated 
obligations of the Issuer as described in “Terms and Conditions of 
the Senior Notes—Status”. Subordinated Notes will constitute 
direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer  as 
described in  “Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes—
Status”.  Subordinated Notes may be issued as Upper Tier II or 



- 9 -

Lower Tier II Capital of the Issuer. Notes that are intended to 
constitute Lower Tier II Capital of the Issuer will have a minimum 
maturity of five years. Notes that are intended to constitute Upper 
Tier II Capital of the Issuer will either be Undated Notes or will be 
Dated Notes with a minimum maturity of five years in respect of 
which the maturity date may be postponed until the CSSF shall 
have agreed to their redemption.

Negative Pledge: Applicable to Senior Notes only. See “Terms and Conditions of the 
Senior Notes—Negative Pledge”.

Cross Default: Applicable to Senior Notes only. See “Terms and Conditions of the 
Senior Notes—Events of Default”.

Early Redemption: Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes will be 
redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for tax 
reasons. Such redemption will be subject to the prior approval of 
the CSSF for Subordinated Notes. See “Terms and Conditions of 
the Senior Notes—Redemption, Purchase and Options” or “Terms 
and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes—Redemption, Purchase 
and Options”, as the case may be.

Withholding Tax: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be 
made free and clear of withholding taxes of Luxembourg, unless 
the withholding is required by law. In such event, the Issuer shall, 
subject to customary exceptions, pay such additional amounts as 
shall result in receipt by the Noteholder of such amounts as would 
have been received by it had no such withholding been required, 
all as described in “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes—
Taxation” or “Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes—
Taxation”, as the case may be.

Governing Law: Senior Notes denominated in EUR may be governed by 
Luxembourg law or English law, as specified in the relevant Final 
Terms. Subordinated Notes will be governed by Luxembourg law. 

Listing: The official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or as 
otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. As specified in the 
relevant Final Terms a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

Selling Restrictions: United States, EEA, United Kingdom, France, Germany, Japan, 
Singapore, The Netherlands. See “Plan of Distribution”.

The Issuer is Category 2 for the purposes of Regulation S under 
the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. 
§1.163- 5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “D Rules”) unless (i) the relevant Final 
Terms state that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. 
Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the “C Rules”) or (ii) the Notes are 
issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules 
but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute 
“registration required obligations” under the United States Tax 
Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”), which 
circumstances will be referred to in the relevant Final Terms as a 
transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

Ratings: Tranches of Notes may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of 
Notes is rated, the ratings will be specified in the relevant Final 
Terms as the case may be. Such rating will not necessarily be the 
same as ratings assigned to the Programme. Whether or not a 
rating in relation to any Tranche will be treated as having been 
issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union 
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and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 on credit 
rating agencies will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.

Risk Factors: There are risk factors that fully affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its 
obligations under the Notes. These include Credit Risk, Market Risk, 
Operational Risk, Liquidity Risk, Risk Management, Regulatory Risk, 
uncertain economic conditions and competition. There are risk factors 
which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks 
associated with the Notes. These include the risk that the Notes may 
not be a suitable investment for all investors. There are also risk 
factors that relate to the structure of a particular issue of Notes. 
These include specific risk factors for: Notes subject to optional 
redemption by the Issuer, Index Linked Notes, Dual Currency Notes, 
Partly-Paid Notes, Variable Notes with a multiplier or other coverage 
factor, Fixed/Floating Rate Notes, Investors will not be able to 
calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes or 
Zero Coupon Notes which are subject to higher price fluctuations 
than not discounted notes, Notes issued at a substantial discount or 
premium, Foreign Currency Notes expose investors to foreign 
exchange risk as well as to Issuer risk, the Issuer’s obligations under 
Subordinated Notes, Noteholders’ actual yield on the Notes may be 
reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs and Noteholders’ 
effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax impact on 
that holder of its investment in the Notes. There are risks relating to 
the Notes generally. These include modifications, waivers and 
substitution, Basel Capital Requirements Directive, the trading market 
for debt securities may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by 
many events, the European Monetary Union, the EU Savings 
Directive and change of law. There are risks related to the market 
generally. These include the secondary market generally, exchange 
rate risks and exchange controls, interest rate risks and credit ratings 
may not reflect all risks. Legal investment considerations may restrict 
certain investments.

Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds of the sale of the Notes will be used for the 
general funding purposes of the Issuer. If, in respect of any 
particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this 
will be stated in the relevant Final Terms.

Information Relating to the Warrants:

Method of Issue: The Warrants will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated 
basis. The Warrants will be issued in Series having one or more 
issue dates and on terms otherwise identical, the Warrants of each 
Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other 
Warrants of that Series. Each Series may be issued in Tranches 
on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms (the 
“Terms”) of each Tranche (which, save in respect of the issue date, 
issue price and number of Warrants comprising the Tranche, will 
be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will 
be set out in a supplement to this Prospectus (the “Final Terms for 
the Warrants”). 

Issue Price: The Warrants may be issued at any issue price. The issue price 
will be specified in the Final Terms for the Warrants.

Form of Warrants: The Warrants may be issued in bearer form only (“Bearer 
Warrants”) or in book-entry form only, being capable of being 
purchased, transferred and exercised only through an account at 
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (“Book-entry Warrants”). 
Each Tranche of Bearer Warrants will be represented on issue by 
a temporary Global Warrant exchangeable for definitive Bearer 
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Warrants 40 days after its issue date. Each Tranche of Book entry 
Warrants will be represented by a Global Warrant at all times. 
Book-entry Warrants will not be issued in definitive form.

Initial Delivery of Warrants: Temporary Global Warrants may, and Global Warrants will, be 
deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg immediately prior to their issue date.

Clearing Systems: Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and, in relation to any 
Tranche of Bearer Warrants, such other clearing system as may be 
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Terms of the Warrants: As set out in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants, each 
Series of Warrants will entitle the Warrantholder (as defined in the 
general conditions of the Warrants (the “General Conditions”)) to 
receive a cash amount from the Issuer calculated in accordance 
with the relevant Terms, all as set out in the General Conditions 
and in the relevant Terms. Each Final Terms for the Warrants will 
set forth certain information with respect to Warrants of the 
relevant Series (distinguishing between separate Tranches of 
Warrants, if applicable) including the designation, the maximum 
aggregate number and type of Warrants, the date of issue, the 
issue price, the strike price, the settlement amount, the exercise
period or the exercise date or dates, the final exercise date and the 
settlement date.

Important Notice Investors should note that the Warrants create options 
for Investors: exercisable by the relevant Warrantholder. There is no obligation 

upon any Warrantholder to exercise his Warrant nor, in the 
absence of such exercise, any obligation upon the Issuer to pay or 
cause to be paid any amount in respect of the Warrants. Upon 
exercise of any Warrants, Warrantholders will be required to make 
a certification in respect of certain laws of the United States of 
America (see “General Conditions of the Book-entry Warrants—
Exercise Procedure” or “General Conditions of the Bearer 
Warrants—Exercise Procedure”, as the case may be).

Status of Warrants: The Warrants will constitute unsubordinated and unsecured 
obligations of the Issuer.

Events of Default and The Warrants will not contain any negative pledge or events of 
Negative Pledge: default.

Termination for Illegality: The Issuer has the right to terminate any Warrants prior to exercise 
only if its performance under such Warrants has become unlawful. 
In such circumstances the Issuer will (to the extent permitted by 
applicable law) cause an amount to be paid to each Warrantholder 
in respect of each relevant Warrant which is the fair market value 
of such Warrant immediately prior to such termination. (See 
“General Conditions of the Book-entry Warrants—Illegality” or 
“General Conditions of the Bearer Warrants—Illegality”, as the 
case may be.) 

Taxation: Warrantholders will be liable for any taxes, including withholding 
tax, arising in connection with the Warrants.

Governing Law: Book-entry Warrants shall be governed by English law. Bearer 
Warrants shall be governed by Luxembourg law.

Listing: The official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or as otherwise 
specified in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants. As specified 
in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants, a Series of Warrants 
may be unlisted.
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Selling Restrictions: United States, EEA, United Kingdom, France, Germany, Japan, 
The Netherlands, Singapore. See “Plan of Distribution”. The 
Warrants may not at any time be offered, sold or delivered directly 
or indirectly in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit 
of, any U.S. person. Furthermore, neither the sale of nor trading in 
Warrants which relate to currencies, commodity prices or indices 
has been approved by the United States Commodity Futures 
Trading Commission under the United States Commodity 
Exchange Act, and no U.S. person may at any time purchase, 
trade or maintain a position in such Warrants unless otherwise 
specified in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants.

Risk Factors: There are risk factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its 
obligations under the Warrants. These include Credit Risk, Market 
Risk, Operational Risk, Liquidity Risk, Risk Management, 
Regulatory Risk, uncertain economic conditions and competition. 
There are risk factors which are material for the purpose of 
assessing the market risks associated with the Warrants. These 
include the risk that the Warrants may not be a suitable investment 
for all investors. There are risk factors that relate to the structure of 
a potential issue of Warrants. Investment in warrants involves a 
high degree of risk, certain factors affecting the value and trading 
price of warrants, Limitations on Exercise, Minimum Exercise 
Amount, Certain Considerations regarding Hedging and Time Lag 
after Exercise and Certain Additional Risk Factors Associated with 
Currency Warrants. There are risks relating to the Warrants 
generally. These include modifications, waivers and substitution, 
Basel Capital Requirements Directive, the trading market for debt 
securities may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many 
events, the European Monetary Union, the EU Savings Directive 
and change of law. There are risks relating to the market generally. 
These include the secondary market generally, exchange rate risks 
and exchange controls, interest rate risks and credit ratings may 
not reflect all risks. Legal investment considerations may restrict 
certain investments.

Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds of the sale of the Warrants will be used for the 
general funding purposes of the Issuer. If, in respect of any 
particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this 
will be stated in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants.
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RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the 
Notes and/or the Warrants. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the 
Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of all or any of such contingencies occurring.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks 
associated with the Notes and the Warrants issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in 
investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal 
or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does 
not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this 
Prospectus (including any documents deemed to be incorporated in it by reference) and reach their 
own views prior to making any investment decision.

Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes and the War-
rants. 

Like other banks, the Issuer faces financial risk in the conduct of its business, such as credit 
risk, operational risk and market risk (including liquidity risk).

Credit risk
As a credit institution, the Issuer is exposed to the creditworthiness of its customers and 

counterparties. The Issuer may suffer losses related to the inability of its customers or other 
counterparties to meet their financial obligations. Most of the commitment decisions concern 
customers in the local government sector, which is low risk and also subject to specific controls 
relating to its public nature. The Issuer cannot assume that its level of provisions will be adequate or 
that it will not have to make significant additional provisions for possible bad and doubtful debts in 
future periods. Group Risk Management oversees the Dexia Group’s risk policy and is responsible for, 
inter alia, setting and managing the risk surveillance function and decision processes and 
implementing Group-wide risk assessment methods for each of the bank’s activities and operational 
entities.

Market risk
Market risks are all the risks linked to the fluctuations of market prices, including, principally, 

exposure to loss arising from adverse movements in interest rates, and, to a lesser extent, foreign 
exchange rates and equity prices, stemming from Dexia Group’s capital market activities. Due to the 
nature of its activity, the Dexia Group is prevented from assuming significant exposure to market risk. 
It does not act as a market maker and therefore has exposure mainly on its short-term cash 
management and a portfolio of derivative products with customers that is managed on a market value 
basis. Market risks generated by the commercial businesses are generally hedged and residual risks 
are handled by the Asset and Liability Management function. 

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of financial or non-financial impact resulting from inadequate or failed 

internal processes or systems, from people’s failings or from external events. The definition includes 
IT, legal and compliance risk but excludes strategic risk. The operational risk management (“ORM”) 
framework relies on several key components, which include the systematic collection of operational 
risk events, the yearly self-assessment of risks and controls in all activities, the management of 
information security and business continuity, as well as the management of group common insurance 
policies. All of these activities regularly lead to the definition of improvement actions, which are 
monitored on a regular basis. Moreover the framework relies on strong governance with clearly 
defined roles and responsibilities for the ORM function, the Management Board, the line management 
and their operational risk correspondents. As with most other banks, the Issuer relies heavily on 
communications and information systems to conduct its business. Any failure or interruption or breach 
in security of these systems could result in failures or interruptions in the Issuer’s customer 
relationship management, general ledger, deposit, servicing and/or loan organisation systems. The 
Issuer cannot provide assurances that such failures or interruptions will not occur or, if they do occur, 
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that they will be adequately addressed. The occurrence of any failures or interruptions could have a 
material adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations.

Liquidity risk
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that, at all times, the Issuer holds sufficient 

funds to meet its contracted and contingent commitments to customers and counterparties, at an 
economic price. All the main issues regarding liquidity risk are directly managed by the Dexia Group’s 
Asset and Liability Management function, which carefully manages the Dexia Group’s resources and 
their use, in particular, the adequacy of expected new lending production with the available resources 
and the Dexia Group’s liquidity needs.

Risk Management
Monitoring of the risks relating to the Issuer and its operations and the banking industry is 

performed jointly by the appropriate committees and the Risk Management department, with the help 
of tools that it develops, in compliance with the guidelines established by the Dexia Group and all legal 
constraints and rules of prudence. As regards the supervision of risks in the subsidiaries and 
branches, each entity has its own local risk management structure. These structures are strictly 
independent of the front-offices and reporting to the Issuer’s Local Risk Management department 
either directly (branches) or functionally (subsidiaries).

Regulatory risk
The Issuer’s business activities are subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in 

the jurisdictions in which it operates. Current, together with future regulatory developments, including 
changes to accounting standards and the amount of regulatory capital required to support the risk, 
could have an adverse effect impacting on how the Issuer conducts its business and on the results of 
its operations. The Issuer’s business and earnings are also affected by fiscal and other policies that 
are adopted by the various regulatory authorities of the European Union, foreign governments and 
international agencies. The nature and impact of future changes in such policies are not predictable 
and are beyond the Issuer’s control.

Uncertain economic conditions
The Issuer’s business activities are dependant on the level of banking, finance and financial 

services required by its customers. In particular, levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on 
customer confidence, market interest rates and other factors that affect the economy. Although in 
recent years there have been significant adverse developments in world markets, the current outlook 
for the world economy is improving. The profitability of the Issuer’s businesses could, therefore, be 
adversely affected by a worsening of general economic conditions in its markets, as well as by foreign 
and domestic trading market conditions and/or related factors, including governmental policies and 
initiatives. An economic downturn or significantly higher interest rates could increase the risk that a 
greater number of the Issuer’s customers would default on their loans or other obligations to the 
Issuer, or would refrain from seeking additional borrowing. 

Increased Regulation 
Recent developments in the global markets have led to an increase in the involvement of 

various governmental and regulatory authorities in the financial sector and in the operations of 
financial institutions. In particular, governmental and regulatory authorities in France, the UK, the 
United States, Belgium, Luxembourg and elsewhere have provided additional capital and funding and 
already or may in the future be introducing a significantly more restrictive regulatory environment 
including new accounting and capital adequacy rules, restriction on termination payments for key 
personnel in addition to new regulation of derivative instruments. It is uncertain how the more rigorous 
regulatory climate will impact financial institutions including the Issuer and Dexia Group but an adverse 
impact on their respective businesses cannot be excluded, which could in turn affect the Issuer’s 
ability to meet its payments under the Notes and Warrants.

Competition
The Issuer faces strong competition across all its markets from local and international financial 

institutions including banks, building societies, life insurance companies and mutual insurance 
organisations. While the Issuer believes it is positioned to compete effectively with these competitors, 
there can be no assurance that increased competition will not adversely affect the Issuer in one or 
more of the markets in which it operates.
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Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the 
Notes and the Warrants. 
Current Market Volatility and Recent Market Developments

Significant declines in the housing market in the United States and in various other countries in 
the past two years have contributed to significant write-downs of asset values by financial institutions, 
including government-sponsored entities and major commercial and investment banks. These write-
downs have caused many financial institutions to seek additional capital, to merge with larger and 
stronger institutions and, in some cases, to fail. Amid concerns about the stability of the financial 
markets generally and the strength of counterparties, many lenders and institutional investors have 
substantially reduced, and in some cases, halted their funding to borrowers, including other financial 
institutions. 

While the capital and credit markets have been experiencing volatility and disruption for more 
than 12 months, the volatility and disruption has reached unprecedented levels in recent months. 
In some cases, this has resulted in downward pressure on stock prices and significantly reduced the 
capacity of certain issuers to raise debt. The resulting lack of credit availability, lack of confidence in 
the financial sector, increased volatility in the financial markets and reduced business activity could 
materially and adversely affect the Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations, 
which could in turn affect the Issuer’s ability to meet its payments under the Notes.

Notes and Warrants may not be a suitable investment for all investors
Each potential investor in any Notes and/or Warrants must determine the suitability of that 

investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the 
relevant Notes and/or Warrants, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes 
and/or Warrants and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this 
Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context 
of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and/or Warrants 
and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in 
the relevant Notes and/or Warrants, including where principal or interest is payable in one 
or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different 
from the potential investor’s currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and/or Warrants and be familiar 
with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios 
for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability 
to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes and/or Warrants are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be 
purchased as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate 
addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes and/or 
Warrants which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the 
help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes and/or Warrants will perform under changing 
conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and/or Warrants and the impact this 
investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes
A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may 

have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of 
certain such features:

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer
An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period 

when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise 
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any 
redemption period.
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The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the 
interest rate on the Notes. As a consequence, part of the capital invested by the Noteholder may be, 
may be lost, so that the Noteholder in such case would not receive the total amount of the capital 
invested. In addition, investors that choose to reinvest monies they receive through an early 
redemption may be able to do so only in securities with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes. 
Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that 
time.

Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes
The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or 

formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange 
rates or other factors (each, a “Relevant Factor”). An investment in Index Linked Notes entails 
significant risks that are not associated with similar investments in a conventional fixed or floating rate 
debt security. The Issuer believes that Index Linked Notes should only be purchased by investors who 
are, or who are purchasing under the guidance of, financial institutions or other professional investors 
that are in a position to understand the special risks that an investment in these instruments involves. 
Potential investors should be aware that:

(i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;

(ii) such index or indices may be subject to significant changes, whether due to the 
composition of the index itself, or because of fluctuations in value of the indexed assets;

(iii) the resulting interest rate will be less (or may be more) than that payable on a 
conventional debt security issued by the Issuer at the same time;

(iv) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency 
than expected;

(v) the holder of an Index Linked Note could lose all or a substantial portion of the principal of 
such Note (whether payable at maturity or upon redemption or repayment), and, if the 
principal is lost, interest may cease to be payable on the Index Linked Note;

(vi) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with 
changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vii) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or 
contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on 
principal or interest payable will likely be magnified; 

(viii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if 
the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change 
in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield;

(ix) the risks of investing in an Index Linked Note encompass both risks relating to the 
underlying indexed securities and risks that are unique to the Note itself;

(x) any Index Linked Note that is indexed to more than one type of underlying asset, or on 
formulas that encompass the risks associated with more than one type of asset, may 
carry levels of risk that are greater than Notes that are indexed to one type of asset only;

(xi) it may not be possible for investors to hedge their exposure to these various risks relating 
to Index Linked Notes; and

(xii) a significant market disruption could mean that the index on which the Index Linked 
Notes are based ceases to exist.

In addition, the value of Index Linked Notes on the secondary market is subject to greater 
levels of risk than is the value of other Notes. The secondary market, if any, for Index Linked Notes 
will be affected by a number of factors, independent of the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the 
value of the applicable currency, stock, interest rate or other index, including the volatility of the 
applicable currency, stock, interest rate or other index, the time remaining to the maturity of such 
Notes, the amount outstanding of such Notes and market interest rates. The value of the applicable 
currency, stock, interest rate or other index depends on a number of interrelated factors, including 
economic, financial and political events, over which the Issuer has no control. Additionally, if the 
formula used to determine the amount of principal, premium and/or interest payable with respect to 
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Index Linked Notes contains a multiplier or leverage factor, the effect of any change in the applicable 
currency, stock, interest rate or other index will be increased. The historical experience of the 
relevant currencies, commodities, stocks, interest rates or other indices should not be taken as an 
indication of future performance of such currencies, stocks, interest rates or other indices during the 
term of any Index Linked Note. Additionally, there may be regulatory and other ramifications 
associated with the ownership by certain investors of certain Index Linked Notes.

Various transactions by the Issuer could impact the performance of any Index Linked Notes, 
which could lead to conflicts of interest between the Issuer and holders of its Index Linked Notes.

The Issuer is active in the international securities and currency markets on a daily basis. It may 
thus, for its own account or for the account of customers, engage in transactions directly or indirectly 
involving assets that are “reference assets” under Index Linked Notes and may make decisions 
regarding these transactions in the same manner as it would if the Index Linked Notes  had not been 
issued. The Issuer and its affiliates may on the issue date of the Index Linked Notes  or at any time 
thereafter be in possession of information in relation to any reference assets that may be material to 
holders of any Index Linked Notes and that may not be publicly available or known to the Noteholders. 
There is no obligation on the part of the Issuer to disclose any such business or information to the 
Noteholders.

Partly-Paid Notes
The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. 

Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing some or all of its 
investment.

Variable Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor
Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include 

multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other 
similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do 
not include such features.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes
Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a 

fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the 
interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes, since the Issuer may 
be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the 
Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may 
be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same 
reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other 
Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then 
prevailing rates on its Notes.

Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes
A key difference between (i) Floating Rate Notes and (ii) Fixed Rate Notes is that interest income 

on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to 
determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their return on 
investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. If the 
terms and conditions of the Notes provide for frequent interest payment dates, investors are exposed to 
the reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income 
paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing.

Zero Coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-discounted notes
Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero 

Coupon Notes than on the prices of ordinary notes because the discounted issue prices are 
substantially below par. If market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher price 
losses than other notes having the same maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero 
Coupon Notes are a type of investment associated with a particularly high price risk.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium
The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount 

tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional 
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interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the 
price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Foreign Currency Notes expose investors to foreign-exchange risk as well as to issuer risk
As purchasers of Foreign Currency Notes, investors are exposed to the risk of changing foreign 

exchange rates. This risk is in addition to any performance risk that relates to the issuer or the type of 
note being issued.

The Issuer’s obligations under Subordinated Notes 
Dexia BIL’s obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will 

rank junior to the claims of creditors in respect of unsubordinated obligations (as described in “Terms 
and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes”). 

If no dividend has been declared paid or made on any class of share capital of Dexia BIL in the 
twelve months ending on the day immediately preceding the relevant Interest Payment Date, then 
Dexia BIL may defer the payment of interest on the Junior Subordinated Notes. Such deferral may last 
until the earliest of (A) the Interest Payment Date immediately following the date upon which a dividend 
is next declared on any class of share capital of Dexia BIL, (B) the date set for redemption in respect of 
any Junior Subordinated Note or, where all the Junior Subordinated Notes are purchased by the Issuer 
(other than in the ordinary course of the business of dealing in securities on behalf of third parties), and 
(C) the date that an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the dissolution (dissolution) or 
liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer.

After Dexia BIL has fully paid all deferred interest on the issue of Subordinated Notes and if that 
issue of Junior Subordinated Notes remains outstanding, future interest payments on that issue of 
Junior Subordinated Notes will be subject to further deferral as described above.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Junior Subordinated Notes will be 
conditional on the Issuer being solvent at the time of payment by the Issuer and no principal or interest 
shall be due and payable in respect of the Junior Subordinated Notes except to the extent that the 
Issuer could make such payment in whole or in part, rateably with payments in respect of Junior 
Subordinated Notes, and still be solvent immediately thereafter.

Any deferral of interest payments will likely have an adverse effect on the market price of the 
Junior Subordinated Notes. In addition, as a result of the interest deferral provision of the Junior 
Subordinated Notes, the market price of the Junior Subordinated Notes may be more volatile than the 
market prices of other debt securities on which original issue discount or interest accrues that are not 
subject to such deferrals and may be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in Dexia BIL’s 
financial condition.

A Noteholder’s actual yield on the Notes may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs.
When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees 

and commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs 
may significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Notes.

For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions which are 
either fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. To the 
extent that additional – domestic or foreign – parties are involved in the execution of an order, 
including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Noteholders must take into 
account that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and 
expenses of such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders 
must also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Investors should inform 
themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody or sale of the 
Notes before investing in the Notes.

A Noteholder’s effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax impact on that Noteholder, 
as the case may be, of its investment in the Notes

Payments of interest on the Notes, or profits realised by the Noteholder, as the case may be, 
upon the sale or repayment of the Notes, may be subject to taxation in its home jurisdiction or in other 
jurisdictions in which it is required to pay taxes. The tax impact on Noteholders generally is described 
under “Taxation” below; however, the tax impact on an individual Noteholder may differ from the 
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situation described for Noteholders generally. The Issuer advises all investors to contact their own tax 
advisers for advice on the tax impact of an investment in the Notes. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Warrants
Investment in Warrants involves a high degree of risk

Investment in Warrants involves a high degree of risk, which may include, among others, 
interest rate, foreign exchange, time value and political risks. Prospective purchasers of Warrants 
should recognise that their Warrants, other than any Warrants having a minimum expiration value, 
may expire worthless. Purchasers should be prepared to sustain a total loss of the purchase price of 
their Warrants except, if so indicated in the Final Terms for the Warrants, to the extent of any minimum 
expiration value attributable to such Warrants. This risk reflects the nature of a Warrant as an asset 
which, other factors held constant, tends to decline in value over time and which may become 
worthless when it expires (except to the extent of any minimum expiration value). See “Certain Factors 
Affecting the Value and Trading Price of Warrants” below. Prospective purchasers of Warrants should 
be experienced with respect to options and option transactions, should understand the risks of 
transactions involving the relevant Warrants and should reach an investment decision only after 
careful consideration, with their advisers, of the suitability of such Warrants in light of their particular 
financial circumstances, the information set forth herein and the information regarding the relevant 
Warrants and the particular reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket of indices), 
currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis of reference 
to which the value of the relevant Warrants may relate, as specified in the applicable Final Terms for 
the Warrants.

The risk of the loss of some or all of the purchase price of a Warrant upon expiration means 
that, in order to recover and realise a return upon his or her investment, a purchaser of a Warrant 
must generally be correct about the direction, timing and magnitude of an anticipated change in the 
value of the relevant reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket of indices), currency 
(or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis which may be specified 
in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants. Assuming all other factors are held constant, the more 
a Warrant is “out-of-the-money” and the shorter its remaining term to expiration, the greater the risk 
that purchasers of such Warrants will lose all or part of their investment. With respect to European-
style Warrants, the only means through which a holder can realise value from the Warrant prior to the 
Exercise Date in relation to such Warrant is to sell it at its then market price in an available secondary 
market. 

Fluctuations in the value of the relevant index or basket of indices will affect the value of Index 
Warrants. Fluctuations in the price of the relevant share or value of the basket of shares will affect the 
value of Share Warrants. Fluctuations in the price or yield of the relevant debt instrument or value of 
the basket of debt instruments will affect the value of Debt Warrants. Fluctuations in the rates of 
exchange between the relevant currencies will affect the value of Currency Warrants. Also, due to the 
character of the particular market on which a debt instrument is traded, the absence of last sale 
information and the limited availability of quotations for such debt instrument may make it difficult for 
many investors to obtain timely, accurate data for the price or yield of such debt instrument. 
Fluctuations in the value of the relevant commodity or basket of commodities will affect the value of 
Commodity Warrants. Purchasers of Warrants risk losing their entire investment if the value of the 
relevant underlying basis of reference does not move in the anticipated direction.

Certain Factors Affecting the Value and Trading Price of Warrants
The Settlement Amount at any time prior to expiration is typically expected to be less than the 

trading price of such Warrants at that time. The difference between the trading price and the 
Settlement Amount will reflect, among other things, the “time value” of the Warrants. The “time value” 
of the Warrants will depend partly upon the length of the period remaining to expiration and 
expectations concerning the value of the reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket 
of indices), currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis of 
reference as specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants. Warrants offer hedging and 
investment diversification opportunities but also pose some additional risks with regard to interim 
value. The interim value of the Warrants varies with the price level of the reference security (or basket 
of securities), index (or basket of indices), currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of 
commodities) or other basis of reference as specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants, 
as well as a result of a number of other interrelated factors, including those specified herein.
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Before exercising or selling Warrants, Warrantholders should carefully consider, among other 
things, (i) the trading price of the Warrants, (ii) the value and volatility of the reference security (or 
basket of securities), index (or basket of indices), currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or 
basket of commodities) or other basis of reference as specified in the applicable Final Terms for the 
Warrants, (iii) the time remaining to expiration, (iv) the probable range of Settlement Amounts, (v) any 
change(s) in interim interest rates and dividend yields if applicable, (vi) any change(s) in currency 
exchange rates, (vii) the depth of the market or liquidity of the reference security (or basket of 
securities), index (or basket of indices), currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of 
commodities) or other basis of reference as specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants 
and (viii) any related transaction costs.

Limitations on Exercise
If so indicated in the Final Terms for the Warrants, the Issuer will have the option to limit the 

number of Warrants exercisable on any date (other than the final exercise date) to the maximum 
number specified in the Final Terms for the Warrants and, in conjunction with such limitation, to limit 
the number of Warrants exercisable by any person or group of persons (whether or not acting in 
concert) on such date. In the event that the total number of Warrants being exercised on any date 
(other than the final exercise date) exceeds such maximum number and the Issuer elects to limit the 
number of Warrants exercisable on such date, a Warrantholder may not be able to exercise on such 
date all Warrants that such holder desires to exercise. In any such case, the number of Warrants to be 
exercised on such date will be reduced until the total number of Warrants exercised on such date no 
longer exceeds such maximum, such Warrants being selected at the discretion of the Issuer or in any 
other manner specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants. Unless otherwise specified in 
the Final Terms for the Warrants, the Warrants tendered for exercise but not exercised on such date 
will be automatically exercised on the next date on which Warrants may be exercised, subject to the 
same daily maximum limitation and delayed exercise provisions.

Minimum Exercise Amount
If so indicated in the Final Terms for the Warrants, a Warrantholder must tender a specified 

number of Warrants at any one time in order to exercise. Thus, Warrantholders with fewer than the 
specified minimum number of Warrants will either have to sell their Warrants or purchase additional 
Warrants, incurring transaction costs in each case, in order to realise their investment. Furthermore, 
holders of such Warrants incur the risk that there may be differences between the trading price of such 
Warrants and the Settlement Amount of such Warrants.

Certain Considerations Regarding Hedging
Prospective purchasers intending to purchase Warrants to hedge against the market risk 

associated with investing in a reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket of indices), 
currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis of reference 
which may be specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants, should recognise the 
complexities of utilising Warrants in this manner. For example, the value of the Warrants may not 
exactly correlate with the value of the reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket of 
indices), currency (or basket of currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis 
which may be specified in the applicable Final Terms for the Warrants. Due to fluctuating supply and 
demand for the Warrants, there is no assurance that their value will correlate with movements of the 
reference security (or basket of securities), index (or basket of indices), currency (or basket of 
currencies), commodity (or basket of commodities) or other basis which may be specified in the 
applicable Final Terms for the Warrants.

Time Lag after Exercise
In the case of any exercise of Warrants, there may be a time lag between the time a 

Warrantholder gives instructions to exercise and the time the applicable Settlement Amount relating to 
such exercise is determined. Such delay could be significantly longer than expected, particularly in the 
case of a delay in exercise of Warrants arising from any daily maximum exercise limitation, the 
occurrence of a market disruption event (if applicable) or following the imposition of any exchange 
controls or other similar regulations affecting the ability to obtain or exchange any relevant currency 
(or basket of currencies) in the case of Currency Warrants. The applicable Settlement Amount may 
change significantly during any such period, and such movement or movements could decrease the 
Settlement Amount of the Warrants being exercised and may result in such Settlement Amount being 
zero.
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Certain Additional Risk Factors Associated with Currency Warrants
Fluctuations in exchange rates of the relevant currency (or basket of currencies) will affect the 

value of Currency Warrants. Furthermore, investors who intend to convert gains or losses from the 
exercise or sale of Currency Warrants into their home currency may be affected by fluctuations in 
exchange rates between their home currency and the relevant currency (or basket of currencies). 
Currency values may be affected by complex political and economic factors, including governmental 
action to fix or support the value of a currency (or basket of currencies), regardless of other market 
forces. Purchasers of Currency Warrants risk losing their entire investment if exchange rates of the 
relevant currency (or basket of currencies) do not move in the anticipated direction.

If additional warrants or options relating to particular currencies or currency indices are 
subsequently issued, the supply of warrants and options relating to such currencies or currency 
indices, as applicable, in the market will increase, which could cause the price at which the Warrants 
and such other warrants and options trade in the secondary market to decline significantly.

Risks related to Notes and Warrants generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes and Warrants generally:

Modification, waivers and substitution
The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders 

to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to 
bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and 
Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

Basel Capital Requirements Directive
On 17 December 2009, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the “Basel Committee”) 

proposed a number of fundamental reforms to the regulatory capital framework in its consultative 
document entitled "Strengthening the resilience of the banking sector". If the proposals made by the 
Basel Committee are implemented, this could result in the Dexia Group being subject to significantly 
higher capital requirements. The proposals include: (a) the build-up of a counter-cyclical capital buffer 
in excess of the regulatory minimum capital requirement, which is large enough to enable the Group to 
remain above the minimum capital requirement in the face of losses expected to be incurred in a 
feasibly severe downturn; (b) an increase in the capital requirements for counterparty risk exposures 
arising from derivatives, repo-style transactions and securities financing transactions; (c) the 
imposition of a leverage ratio as a supplementary measure to the existing Basel II risk-based 
measure; (d) the phasing out of hybrid capital instruments as Tier 1 capital and the requirement that 
the predominant form of Tier 1 capital must be common shares and retained earnings; and (e) the 
imposition of  global minimum liquidity standards that include a requirement to hold a stock of 
unencumbered high quality liquid assets sufficient to cover cumulative net cash outflows over a 30-day 
period under a prescribed stress scenario. The proposed reforms are subject to a consultative process 
and an impact assessment and are not likely to be implemented before the end of 2012. The Basel 
Committee will also consider appropriate transition and grandfathering arrangements. 

Since 1 January 2008, the Dexia Group has used the Advanced Internal Rating Based 
Approach (“AIRBA”) for calculating its capital requirements and its solvency ratios. New models have 
been developed and will progressively be used for calculating regulatory capital from 31 December 
2011. Dexia is heavily involved and very closely monitors national and international consultations by 
participating, in particular, in the study of the impact of the Bank for International Settlements on Basel 
III reform regarding the definition of capital, leverage ratio, liquidity ratios and so on. In this context, 
Dexia worked actively on application of Directives 2009/111/EC and 2010/76/EU of the European 
Parliament on Capital Requirements.

The trading market for debt securities may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many events
The market for debt securities issued by banks is influenced by economic and market conditions 

and, to varying degrees, market conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates 
in other European and other industrialised countries. There can be no assurance that events in 
Europe or elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the 
price of Notes and/or Warrants or that economic and market conditions will not have any other 
adverse effect. 
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European Monetary Union
If the United Kingdom joins the European Monetary Union prior to the maturity of the Notes 

and/or Warrants, there is no assurance that this would not adversely affect investors in the Notes 
and/or Warrants. It is possible that prior to the maturity of the Notes and/or Warrants the United 
Kingdom may become a participating Member State and that the Euro may become the lawful 
currency of the United Kingdom. In that event (i) all amounts payable in respect of any Notes  and/or 
Warrants denominated in Sterling may become payable in Euro (ii) the law may allow or require such 
Notes and/or Warrants to be re-denominated into Euro and additional measures to be taken in respect 
of such Notes and/or Warrants; and (iii) there may no longer be available published or displayed rates 
for deposits in Sterling used to determine the rates of interest on such Notes and/or Warrants or 
changes in the way those rates are calculated, quoted and published or displayed. The introduction of 
the Euro could also be accompanied by a volatile interest rate environment, which could adversely 
affect investors in the Notes and/or Warrants.

EU Savings Directive
Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on taxation of savings income (the “EU Savings 

Directive”), Member States are required, to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State 
details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an 
individual resident or to certain other persons established in that other Member State.  However, for a 
transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria may instead (unless during that period they elect 
otherwise) operate a withholding system in relation to such payments subject to a procedure whereby 
on meeting certain conditions, the beneficial owner of the interest or other income may request that no 
tax be withheld (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain 
other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU 
countries and territories, including Switzerland, have adopted similar measures (a withholding system 
in the case of Switzerland).

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a 
withholding system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, 
neither the Issuer, any Paying Agent, nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional 
amounts with respect to any Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer will 
be required, save as provided in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, to maintain a Paying Agent in 
a Member State that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the EU Savings Directive. 

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the EU Savings Directive
which may, if implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above.

Change of law
The General Conditions of the Book-Entry Warrants are, and the Terms and Conditions of the 

Senior Notes may be, based on English law, and the Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes
and the General Conditions of the Bearer Warrants are, and the Terms and Conditions of the Senior 
Notes may be, based on Luxembourg law, in each case in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant 
Notes and/or Warrants. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision 
or change to English law or Luxembourg law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the 
relevant Notes and/or Warrants.

Risks related to the market generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate 

risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally
Notes and/or Warrants may have no established trading market when issued, and one may 

never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to 
sell their Notes and/or Warrants easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to 
similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes 
and/or Warrants that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for 
specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment 
requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes and/or Warrants generally would 
have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. 
Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes and/or Warrants.
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Exchange rate risks and exchange controls
The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents 

certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated 
principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. 
These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to 
devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that 
authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An 
appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease 
(1) the equivalent yield on the Notes in the Investor’s Currency, (2) the equivalent value of the 
principal payable on the Notes in the Investor’s Currency and (3) the equivalent market value of the 
Notes in the Investor’s Currency.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange 
controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive 
less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks
Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest 

rates may adversely affect the value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks
One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes. 

The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional 
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not 
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating 
agency at any time.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments
The investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or 

review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to 
determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes and/or Warrants are legal investments for it, (2) Notes 
and/or Warrants can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions 
apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes and/or Warrants. Financial institutions should consult 
their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes 
and/or Warrants under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The Programme is a EUR 10,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note and Warrant Programme 
under which the Issuer may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes and Warrants in 
accordance with and subject to all applicable laws and regulations and denominated in Euro or such 
other currencies or currency units as may be set forth in the relevant Final Terms, or Final Terms for the 
Warrants. The applicable terms of any Notes or Warrants will be agreed between the Issuer and the 
relevant Dealer prior to the issue of the Notes or Warrants and will be set out in the relevant terms and 
conditions of the Notes or Warrants endorsed on, or attached to, or incorporated by reference into, the 
Notes or Warrants, as modified and supplemented by the applicable Final Terms or Final Terms for the 
Warrants attached to, or endorsed on, such Notes or Warrants.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the audited consolidated 
annual accounts of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December, 2009 (English version), and 
31 December, 2010 (French version), including the reports of the statutory auditors in respect thereof 
and which have been filed with the CSSF and are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. 
Physical copies of all documents incorporated by reference will be available free of charge from the 
offices of the Issuer. All documents that have been incorporated by reference will be available to view 
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Website (www.bourse.lu).

The balance sheet, income statements, cash flow statements, accounting policies, notes and 
auditors’ reports of the Issuer are set out on the following pages of the annual reports of the Issuer:

Annual Report 2009 Annual Report 2010
Non-consolidated Balance Sheet 141 138
Non-consolidated Profit and Loss Account 143 140
Consolidated Balance Sheet 28 32
Consolidated Statement of Income 30 34
Consolidated Cash Flow Statements 34 39
Notes to the Non-consolidated Accounts 148 145
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts 35 40
Auditors’ Reports for the Non-consolidated Accounts 140 137
Auditors’ Report for the Consolidated Accounts 26 31

Information contained in the documents incorporated by reference other than information listed 
in the table above is for information purposes only.

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a supplement to the Prospectus pursuant 
to Article 13 of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July, 2005 relating to the prospectuses for securities, the 
Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Prospectus or a further 
Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes or Warrants to be listed on the Official 
List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market, shall 
constitute a prospectus supplement as required by Article 13 of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July, 
2005 relating to prospectuses for securities.

The Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the 
Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information 
contained in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes or Warrants 
and whose inclusion in or removal from this Prospectus is necessary for the purpose of allowing an 
investor to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and 
losses and prospects of the Issuer, and the rights attaching to the Notes or Warrants, the Issuer shall 
prepare a supplement to this Prospectus or publish a replacement Prospectus for use in connection 
with any subsequent offering of the Notes or the Warrants and shall supply to each Dealer such 
number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SENIOR NOTES
The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion and amendment and 

as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be 
applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) representing 
each Tranche. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with Part A of the relevant 
provisions of the Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented 
or varied (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non- applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on 
such Bearer Notes or on the Registered Note Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised 
terms that are not defined in these conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final 
Terms. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Registered Note Certificates, as the 
case may be. References in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Senior Notes of one Series only, not to 
all Senior Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

An Agency Agreement (as further amended or supplemented as at the date of issue of the 
Notes (the “Issue Date”) (the “Agency Agreement”) dated 9 November, 1995 as amended and 
restated on 31 March, 2011 between the Issuer and the other agents named in it, has been entered 
into in relation to the Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the registrars, the transfer agents and 
the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal 
Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the “Registrars”, the 
“Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of 
the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where 
applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the “Talons”) (the “Couponholders”) 
and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of principal (the “Receipts”) relating to 
Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in instalments are deemed to have notice of all 
of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection free of charge at the specified 
offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

1. Form, Denomination and Title
The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”, which expression includes Notes that are 

specified to be Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form (“Registered Notes”) or in bearer form 
exchangeable for Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer Notes”) in each case in the Specified 
Denomination(s) shown hereon, provided that the minimum Specified Denomination shall be EUR 
1,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes).

All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Where Exchangeable 
Bearer Notes are issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same 
Specified Denomination as the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked 
Interest Note, an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note or a 
Partly Paid Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note depending upon the 
Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a 
Talon) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other 
than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are 
not applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered note certificates (“Registered Note Certificates”) 
and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Registered Note Certificate shall represent the entire 
holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to 
the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept 
by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except 
as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of 
any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner 
for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an 
interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Registered Note Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss 
(or that of the related Registered Note Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the 
holder. 
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In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts 
relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), 
“holder” (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, 
Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case 
may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such 
meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

2. Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes
(a) Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes:
Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the 

same nominal amount of Registered Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and 
upon surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured 
Receipts, Coupons and Talons relating to it, at the specified office of any Transfer Agent; provided, 
however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date 
(as defined in Condition 7(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that payment of 
interest need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. 
Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another 
Specified Denomination.

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes:
One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of 

the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Registered Note Certificate representing such Registered 
Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Registered Note 
Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same 
representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer) duly completed and 
executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the 
case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Registered Note 
Certificate, a new Registered Note Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part 
transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall 
be issued to the transferor. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a 
holder of Registered Notes, a new Registered Note Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall 
only be issued against surrender of the Registered Note Certificate representing the existing holding.

(c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes:
In the case of an exercise of an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of, or a partial 

redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Registered Note Certificate, a 
new Registered Note Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or 
in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an option 
resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Registered Note 
Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New 
Registered Note Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Registered Note 
Certificates to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent.

(d) Delivery of New Registered Note Certificates:
Each new Registered Note Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2(a), (b) or (c) shall 

be available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of 
transfer or Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 6(e)) and in each case surrender of the Registered 
Note Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Registered Note Certificate(s) shall be made at the 
specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or 
surrender of such request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or Registered Note 
Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as 
aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or 
otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new 
Registered Note Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests 
otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs 
of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), 
“business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business 
in Luxembourg and in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar 
(as the case may be). 
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(e) Exchange Free of Charge:
Exchange and transfer of Notes and Registered Note Certificates on registration, transfer, 

partial redemption or exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the 
Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental 
charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the 
relevant Transfer Agent may require).

(f) Closed Periods:
No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an 

Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period 
of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of, or payment of any Instalment Amount in respect 
of, that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days before any date on which Notes may be called for 
redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such Note has been 
called for redemption or (iv) during the period of 7 days ending on (and including) any Record Date. 
An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for one or more 
Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Registered Note Certificate is simultaneously surrendered 
not later than the relevant Record Date.

3. Status
The Notes, Receipts and Coupons constitute (subject to Condition 4) direct, unconditional, 

unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and 
without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, 
Receipts and Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation 
and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured and 
unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer present and future (including 
deposits).

4. Negative Pledge
(a) Restriction:
The Issuer undertakes that, so long as any of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons remain 

outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), it shall not create or have outstanding any 
mortgage, charge, pledge, lien (other than a lien arising solely by operation of law in the ordinary 
course of business) or other encumbrance upon, or with respect to, the whole or any part of its present 
or future property, assets or revenues to secure repayment of, or to secure any guarantee of or 
indemnity in respect of, any external indebtedness unless the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (A) are, 
at the same time, secured equally and rateably therewith, or (B) have the benefit of such other security 
or other arrangement as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency 
Agreement) of the Noteholders. However, this undertaking shall not include any liabilities, 
indebtedness, guarantee or depreciation of the Issuer’s assets in relation with any issues made by the 
Issuer’s subsidiary, Dexia LdG Banque S.A., in the form of covered bonds or similar instruments.

(b) External indebtedness:
In this Condition 4, “external indebtedness” means any obligation for the repayment of borrowed 

money in the form of, or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities (i) that on issue 
were offered through an international group of banks or financial institutions as to more than 50 per 
cent. in issue amount outside Luxembourg and (ii) that are, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or 
ordinarily traded on any stock exchange, automated trading system, over-the-counter or other 
securities market.

5. Interest and Other Calculations
(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes:
Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest 

Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of 
Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest 
payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h).

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes:
(i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears 

interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the 
rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest 



- 28 -

being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable 
shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h). The Interest Payment Date(s) 
is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified 
Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean each 
date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the Specified 
Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest 
Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

(ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to 
be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise 
fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is 
(A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next 
day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in 
which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding 
Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the 
month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the 
Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is 
a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be 
postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next 
calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately 
preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall 
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate 
Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified 
hereon and the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate 
Determination shall apply depending upon which is specified hereon:

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes
Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of 
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period 
shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA 
Rate. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest 
Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined 
by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an 
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon;

(y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon; and

(z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless 
otherwise specified hereon.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “Calculation 
Agent”, “Floating Rate Option”, “Designated Maturity”, “Reset Date” and 
“Swap Transaction” have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA 
Definitions.

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the 
Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual 
Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(x) (1) the offered quotation; or

(2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which 
appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 
11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time in the case 
of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined 
by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are 
available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than 
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one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, 
if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) 
shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining 
the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is 
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or 
EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined 
as provided in the applicable Final Terms;

(y) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if sub-paragraph (x)(1) above 
applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page 
or if sub-paragraph (x)(2) above applies and fewer than three such offered 
quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time 
specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall 
request, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each 
of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is  EURIBOR, the principal 
Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation 
Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) 
for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 
11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at 
approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Interest Determination Date 
in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation 
Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest 
Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as 
determined by the Calculation Agent; and

(z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that 
fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as 
provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates 
per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the 
request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or 
more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is 
LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate 
is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant 
Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period 
equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading 
banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if 
the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the 
case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the 
Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the 
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used 
for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for 
deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would 
have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is 
LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate 
is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), on the relevant 
Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is 
or are in the opinion of the Trustee and the Issuer suitable for such purpose) 
informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the 
Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference 
Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be, 
provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance 
with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be 
determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though 
substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of 
Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that 
which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or 
Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest 
Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of 
Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).
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(iv) Rate of Interest for Index Linked Interest Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Index 
Linked Interest Notes for each interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner 
specified hereon and interest will accrue by reference to an index or formula as specified 
hereon.

(c) Zero Coupon Notes:
Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to 

the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date 
shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest 
for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal 
to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)).

(d) Dual Currency Notes:
In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest is to be determined by 

reference to a Rate of Exchange or a method of calculating Rate of Exchange, the rate or amount of 
interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified hereon.

(e) Partly-Paid Notes:
In the case of Partly-Paid Notes (other than Partly-Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), 

interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as 
specified hereon.

(f) Accrual of Interest:
Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due 

presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to 
accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this 
Condition 5 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

(g) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption 
Amounts and Rounding:

(i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more 
Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the 
case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case 
of (y), calculated in accordance with (b) above by adding (if a positive number) or 
subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin, subject always to 
the next paragraph.

(ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount 
is specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount 
shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.

(iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless 
otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be 
rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 
halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures 
(with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable 
shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), 
save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these 
purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal 
tender in the country(ies) of such currency.

(h) Calculations:

The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest 
Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, Calculation Amount specified 
hereon, and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a 
formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of 
interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Amounts shall equal 
such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period 
comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 
Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable payable in 
respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is 
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required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be 
for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

(i) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption 
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment 
Amounts:

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may 
be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or 
calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual 
Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption 
Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as 
the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual 
Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption 
Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be 
notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other 
Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt 
of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so 
require, such exchange as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the 
commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of 
notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount or (ii) in all other cases, the 
fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period 
Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest 
Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest 
Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of 
Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in 
accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so 
calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation 
and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence 
of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. 

(j) Definitions:
In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall 

have the meanings set out below:

“Business Day” means:

(i) in the case of a currency other than EUR, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on 
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal 
financial centre for such currency; and/or

(ii) in the case of EUR a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET 
Business Day”); and/or

(iii) in the case of a currency and/or one or more Additional Business Centres, a day (other 
than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets 
settle payments in such currency in the Additional Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is 
indicated, generally in each of the Additional Business Centres.

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note 
for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) 
(whether or not constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”):

(i) if “Actual/365” or “Actual/Actual-ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in 
the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in 
a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation 
Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that 
portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

(ii) if “Actual/Actual (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation 
Period divided by 365;

(iii) if “Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 
divided by 360;
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(iv) if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows;

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater 
than 29, in which case D2 will be 30. 

(v) if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by 360 calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will 
be 30.

(vi) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period 
divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;
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“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) 
that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will 
be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not 
the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30

(vii) if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified hereon, (a) if the Calculation Period is equal to or 
shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination 
Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and (b) 
if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of: (x) the 
number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it 
begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and 
(2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and (y) the number 
of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the 
product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of 
Determination Periods normally ending in any year,

where:

“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any 
year to but excluding the next Determination Date; and

“Determination Date” means the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, 
the Interest Payment Date.

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that 
adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European 
Community as amended by the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty of Amsterdam.

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and 
each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending 
on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

“Interest Amount” means
(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per 

Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed 
Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon 
Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as being payable on the Interest 
Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period 
forms part; and

(ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 
Amount for that period

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be 
specified hereon.

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest 
Accrual Period, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first 
day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day 
falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of 
such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor EUR or (iii) 
the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual 
Period if the Specified Currency is EUR.

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and 
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each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and 
ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified 
hereon.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified hereon.

“Number of Actual Calculation Periods” means, in relation to Day Count Fraction above, 
the number of Actual Calculation Periods normally ending in any year.

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this 
Note and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon.

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London 
office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market and, in the case of a 
determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the 
Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent or as 
specified hereon.

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon.

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a 
particular information service as may be specified hereon.

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is 
specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement 
Express Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on 19 November 
2007 or any successor thereto.

(k) Calculation Agent:
The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if 

provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding. Where more than one 
Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the 
Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under 
the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent 
fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest 
Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional 
Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall 
appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, 
money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the 
calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London 
office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation 
Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid. 

6. Redemption, Purchase and Options
(a) Redemption by Instalments and Final Redemption:
(i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 6, 

each Note that provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts shall be partially 
redeemed on each Instalment Date at the related Instalment Amount specified hereon. 
The outstanding nominal amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the Instalment 
Amount (or, if such Instalment Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the 
nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from the 
related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withheld 
or refused on presentation of the related Receipt, in which case, such amount shall 
remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.

(ii) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note 
shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption 
Amount (which, unless otherwise provided, is its nominal amount) or, in the case of a 
Note falling within paragraph (i) above, its final Instalment Amount.
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(b) Early Redemption:
(i) Zero Coupon Notes:

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, the 
Early Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon 
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c) or upon it becoming due and 
payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Face Amount 
(calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified hereon.

(B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount 
of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note 
on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) 
equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate 
as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes 
if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded 
annually.

(C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its 
redemption pursuant to Condition 6(c) or upon it becoming due and payable as 
provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due 
and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such 
Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall 
have effect as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were 
the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance 
with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (both before and after judgment) 
until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity 
Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final 
Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest 
that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be 
made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

(ii) Other Notes:
The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes 
described in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c) or upon 
it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final Redemption 
Amount together (if applicable) with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for 
redemption unless otherwise specified hereon.

(c) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:
The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest 

Payment Date (if this Note is either a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Note) or at any time (if 
this Note is neither a Floating Rate Note nor an Index Linked Note), on giving not less than 30 nor 
more than 45 days’ notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (which notice shall be 
irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above) (together with 
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay 
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 as a result of any change in the laws or 
regulations of Luxembourg  (or in the official application of such laws or regulations) or any political 
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application of 
such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, 
and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, 
provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date 
on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the 
Notes then due. Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the 
Issuer shall make available at the specified offices of the Fiscal Agent and the Paying Agent a 
certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such 
redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of 
the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised 
standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a 
result of such change or amendment.
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(d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer:
If Call Option is specified hereon (the details of which will be specified in the relevant Final 

Terms), the Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ irrevocable notice to the 
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (or such other notice period as may be specified 
hereon) redeem all or, if so provided, some of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date. Any 
such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount together with interest 
accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a 
nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified 
hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified 
in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate 
numbers of the Bearer Notes or, in the case of Registered Notes, shall specify the nominal amount of 
Registered Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes to be redeemed which shall have 
been drawn in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, 
taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and 
stock exchange requirements.

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders:
If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note 

upon the holder of such Note giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice to the Issuer (or 
such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption 
Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for 
redemption.

To exercise such option the holder must deposit such Note (together with all unmatured 
Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) 
or the Registered Note Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent 
(in the case of Registered Notes) at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise 
notice (“Exercise Notice”) in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer 
Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No Note or Registered Note Certificate so deposited 
and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the 
prior consent of the Issuer. 

(f) Partly-Paid Notes:
Partly-Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in 

accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the provisions specified hereon.

(g) Purchases:
In addition to Notes, Receipts or Coupons purchased in the ordinary course of dealing in 

securities on behalf of third parties, the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (as defined below) may at any 
time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons 
relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any 
price in accordance with applicable laws (if any). The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf 
of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the 
Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at 
meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 11 (a). “Subsidiary” means any company 
50 per cent. or more of the equity share capital of which is owned directly or indirectly by the Issuer. 
Such Notes may be reissued or resold by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries.

(h) Cancellation:
All Notes that are redeemed shall be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts 

and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith) and accordingly 
may not be reissued or resold.

7. Payments and Talons
(a) Bearer Notes:
Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, 

be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of 
Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is 
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presented for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of 
principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of 
interest, save as specified in Condition 7(f)(vi)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any 
Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at 
the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with a Bank. “Bank” 
means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of EUR, in a city in 
which banks have access to the TARGET System.

(b) Registered Notes:
(i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 7(b) shall include final 

Instalment Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes 
shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Registered Note 
Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in 
the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below.

(ii) Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 7(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts 
other than final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person 
shown on the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date 
for payment thereof (the “Record Date”). Payments of interest on each Registered Note 
shall be made in the relevant currency by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the 
holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the 
Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any 
Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made by 
transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank. 

(c) Payments in the United States:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments 

in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the 
same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices 
outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to 
make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in 
full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other 
similar restrictions and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in 
the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.

(d) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws:
All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and 

directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be 
charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(e) Appointment of Agents:
The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars, the Transfer Agents and any Calculation 

Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The 
Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent(s) act 
solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for 
or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate 
the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, any Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the 
Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that 
the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, 
(iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes in Luxembourg, (iv) one or more Calculation 
Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two 
major European cities, (vi) such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock 
exchange on which the Notes may be listed and (vii) to the extent not satisfied by (v) or (vi) above, a 
Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to 
withhold or deduct tax pursuant to any law implementing European Union Directive 2003/48/EC or any 
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 
2000. Notice of any such termination or appointment and of any change in the specified office through 
which any Paying Agent acts will be given in accordance with Condition 14.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any 
Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above.
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Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the 
Noteholders.

(f) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:
(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes 

(other than Dual Currency Notes or Index Linked Notes) should be surrendered for 
payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an 
amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of 
payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured 
Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be 
deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional 
Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted 
shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon 
within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal 
(whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9). 

(ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note, 
Dual Currency Interest Note or Index Linked Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such 
Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in 
respect of them.

(iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to 
such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered 
in respect of such Talon.

(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in instalments, 
all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due 
date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in 
respect of them.

(v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become 
void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without 
all unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without 
any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the 
provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, 
interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest 
Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation 
(and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Registered Note Certificate 
representing it, as the case may be.

Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on 
redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Registered Note Certificate 
representing it, as the case may be.

(g) Talons:
On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet 

issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be 
surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if 
necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have 
become void pursuant to Condition 9).

(h) Non-Business Days:
If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the 

holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other 
sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph (h), “business day” means a day (other 
than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in 
the relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as “Additional Financial 
Centres” hereon and:

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than EUR) where payment is to be made by 
transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign 
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exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial 
centre of the country of such currency; or

(ii) (in the case of a payment in EUR) which is a TARGET Business Day.

8. Taxation
All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons 

shall be made free and clear of, without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or 
future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, 
collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Luxembourg  or any authority therein or thereof 
having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer 
shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders 
of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been 
required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or 
Coupon:

(a) Other connection:
to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by 
reason of his having some connection with Luxembourg other than the mere holding of 
the Note, Receipt or Coupon;

(b) Lawful avoidance of withholding:
presented (or in respect of which the Registered Note Certificate representing it is 
presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) 
except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional 
amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth such day;

(c) Payment to individuals and residual entities:
where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is 
required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other 
Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 
November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying 
with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

(d) Payment by another Paying Agent:
(except in the case of Registered Notes) presented for payment by or on behalf of a 
holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting 
the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the 
European Union.

As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means 
the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is 
improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made 
or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon 
further presentation of the Note (or relative Registered Note Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being 
made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact 
made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) “principal” shall be deemed to 
include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption 
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and 
all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or 
supplement to it, (ii) “interest” shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts 
payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) “principal” and/or 
“interest” shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this 
Condition.

9. Prescription
Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which for 

this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten 
years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant 
Date in respect of them.
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10. Events of Default
If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs and is continuing, the holder of any 

Note may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such Note is immediately 
repayable, whereupon the Early Redemption Amount of such Note together (if applicable) with 
accrued interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable:

(a) Non-Payment: default is made for more than 14 days (in the case of interest) or 7 days (in 
the case of principal) in the payment on the due date of interest or principal in respect of 
any of the Notes; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer defaults in performance or observance of, or 
compliance with, any of its other obligations in the Notes which default is incapable of 
remedy or which, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 21 days after notice of such 
default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office by any Noteholder; 
or

(c) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is 
levied, enforced or sued out on or against all or a material part of the property, assets or 
revenues of the Issuer and is not stayed or discharged within 21 days; or

(d) Security Enforced: any present or future mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other 
encumbrance on or over all or a material part of the property, assets or revenues of the 
Issuer becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of 
possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager, administrator or other similar 
person) and such enforcement or step is not stayed or discharged within 21 days; or

(e) Insolvency: the Issuer becomes insolvent within the meaning of Luxembourg law or 
applies for or consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator (liquidateur) or receiver 
of the Issuer or of the whole or any substantial part of the undertaking, property, assets or 
revenues of the Issuer or initiates any proceedings under any law for a readjustment or 
deferment of its obligations or any substantial part thereof or makes or enters into a 
general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors 
or an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the dissolution (dissolution) or 
liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer or to admit the Issuer to a regime of suspension of 
payments (sursis de paiement); or

(f) Cessation of Business: the Issuer ceases to carry on business (except for the purpose of 
any amalgamation, merger or other reorganisation under which the continuing or 
successor corporation has assumed all of the assets and business undertakings of the 
Issuer pursuant to Condition 11(c) and has expressly and effectively assumed the 
obligations of the Issuer under the Notes); or

(g) Cross-Default: (i) any loan or other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer for or in 
respect of moneys borrowed or raised and not being money deposited with the Issuer or 
transferred pursuant to a fiduciary contract within the meaning of the law of 27 July, 2003, 
as amended from time to time, or otherwise borrowed in the ordinary course of business of 
the Issuer (“Relevant Indebtedness”) becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity 
otherwise than at the option of the Issuer, or (ii) the Issuer fails to make any payment in 
respect of Relevant Indebtedness on the due date for such payment as extended by any 
originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the security for any Relevant Indebtedness 
becomes enforceable, or (iv) default is made by the Issuer in making any payment due 
under any present or future guarantee and/or indemnity given by it of, or in respect of, 
Relevant Indebtedness provided that the aggregate amount of the Relevant Indebtedness 
in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (g) have 
occurred equals or exceeds U.S.$10,000,000 or its equivalent (on the basis of the middle 
spot rate for the relevant currency against the U.S. dollar as quoted by any leading bank 
on the day on which this paragraph operates).
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11. Meetings of Noteholders, Modifications and Substitution
The following applies in the case of all Senior Notes other than Senior Notes governed by 

Luxembourg law:

(a) Meetings of Noteholders:
The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider 

any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a 
modification of any of these Conditions. For so long as the Notes are listed on Euronext Paris, notice of 
the date, time, place and agenda of such meeting will be published as provided under Condition 14. 
Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount 
of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an 
Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in 
nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more 
persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or 
represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to 
amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment 
of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any 
Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or 
rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or 
amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if a 
Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is shown 
hereon, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, 
calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or the Optional Redemption 
Amount including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or 
currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes or (vii) to modify the provisions concerning the 
quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary 
Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing 
not less than 75 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25 per cent., in nominal amount of 
the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on 
Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) 
and on all Couponholders. 

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the 
terms of the relevant Final Terms in relation to such Series.

(b) Modification of Agency Agreement:
The Issuer shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or 

proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not 
reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

(c) Substitution:
The Issuer, or any previous substituted company, may at any time, without the consent of the 

Noteholders or the Couponholders, substitute for itself as principal debtor under the Notes, the 
Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the successor company of the 
Issuer or jointly and severally one or more companies to whom the Issuer has transferred all of its 
assets and business undertakings (in each case the “Substitute”) provided that no payment in respect 
of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons is at the relevant time overdue, no steps have been taken 
to admit the Issuer to a regime of suspension of payments (sursis de paiement) and (except in the 
case of a solvent reorganisation or amalgamation) no order has been made or resolution passed for 
the dissolution (dissolution) or liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer. Such substitution effected in 
accordance with this Condition will release the Issuer or any previous substituted company and the 
Noteholders and Couponholders expressly consent hereto. The substitution shall be made by a deed 
poll (the “Deed Poll”), to be substantially in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement as Schedule 
10A and may take place only if (i) the Substitute shall, by means of the Deed Poll, agree to indemnify 
each Noteholder and Couponholder against any tax, duty, assessment, withholding, deduction or 
governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any taxing authority in or of) the jurisdiction of 
the country of the Substitute’s residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its incorporation with 
respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon, Talon or the Deed of Covenant and which would not have been 
so imposed had the substitution not been made, as well as against any tax, duty, assessment or 
governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution; (ii) if the Substitute is a 
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Subsidiary of the Issuer, the obligations of the Substitute under the Deed Poll, the Notes and the 
Coupons shall be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer or its successor or each of 
the companies to whom together the Issuer has transferred all of its assets and business undertakings 
(each a “Guarantor”) by means of a guarantee substantially in the form contained in the Deed Poll (the 
“Guarantee”); (iii) all action, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done (including the 
obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Deed Poll, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons, 
Talons and Deed of Covenant represent valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the 
Substitute and in the case of the Deed Poll of the Guarantor have been taken, fulfilled and done and 
are in full force and effect; (iv) the Substitute shall have become party to the Agency Agreement, with 
any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an original party to it; (v) legal opinions 
addressed to the Noteholders shall have been delivered to them (care of the Fiscal Agent) from a 
lawyer or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in each jurisdiction referred to in (i) above 
as to the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of this Condition 11(c) and the other matters specified 
in the Deed Poll; (vi) the substitution does not affect adversely the rating of the Notes by Moody’s 
Investors Service Ltd. and Standard & Poor’s Rating Group or if any such rating agency does not exist 
at the relevant time any two existing internationally recognised rating agencies and (vii) the Issuer 
shall have given at least 30 days’ prior notice of such substitution to the Noteholders, to be published 
in accordance with Condition 14, stating that copies, or pending execution the agreed text, of all 
documents in relation to the substitution which are referred to above, or which might otherwise 
reasonably be regarded as material to Noteholders, will be available for inspection at the specified 
office of each of the Paying Agents. References in Condition 10 to obligations under the Notes shall 
be deemed to include obligations under the Deed Poll and, where the Deed Poll contains a 
Guarantee, the events listed in Condition 10 shall be deemed to include such Guarantee not being (or 
being claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect and the Guarantee shall contain (a) 
events of default in respect of the Notes in the same terms as Condition 10 of the Notes relating to the 
Guarantor (except that references in Condition 10(a) to failure to pay principal and interest on the 
Notes shall be a reference to failure to pay under the Guarantee), (b) clauses relating to the Guarantor 
in the form of Conditions 6(f) and (9) and (c) and a negative pledge in relation to the Guarantee in the 
form of Condition 4. References to “outstanding” in relation to the Notes of any Series shall, on a 
substitution of the Issuer where the Guarantor guarantees the Notes, not include Notes held by the 
Guarantor and its subsidiaries for the purposes of (i) ascertaining the right to attend and vote at any 
meeting of the Noteholders and (ii) the determination of how many Notes are outstanding for the 
purposes of Condition 11. 

The following applies in the case of all Senior Notes governed by Luxembourg law:

(a) Meetings of Noteholders:
Noteholders will belong to a masse (the “Masse”) created, among other things, for the 

representation of their common interests pursuant to the provisions of the law of 10 August, 1915 on 
commercial companies, as amended (loi du 10 aout 1915 concernant les sociétés commerciales, telle 
qu’elle a été modifiée) (the “Luxembourg Company Law”). The discussion below is based on the 
Luxembourg Company Law in effect on the Issue Date. Any subsequent amendments to the relevant 
provisions of the Luxembourg Company Law may amend or modify the discussion below. A general 
meeting of the Noteholders (the “Masse Meeting”) may appoint and determine the powers of one or 
more representatives (the “Representatives”). Where Representatives have been appointed, 
Noteholders may no longer individually exercise their rights against the Issuer. A Masse Meeting may 
be called at any time by the Representatives (if any) or the Board of Directors of the Issuer. The 
Representatives, provided an advance on expenses has been paid to them, or the Board of Directors 
must convene the Masse Meeting if called upon to do so by holders of Notes representing 5 per cent. 
or more of the Notes outstanding. All Masse Meetings shall be held at the place specified in the notice 
calling the meeting and such notice must be published as provided under Condition 14. All 
Noteholders have the right to attend and vote at the Masse Meeting either personally or by proxy. The 
voting rights attached to the Notes are equal to the proportion of the principal amount of the 
outstanding Notes represented by the principal amount of the Note or Notes held by the relevant 
holder. A Masse Meeting may be called in the event of a merger involving the Issuer, may approve 
certain changes in the rights of the Noteholders and may, generally, determine any measures 
designed to ensure the defence of interests or the exercise of the rights of the Noteholders in 
accordance ith the provisions of the Luxembourg Company Law. A Masse Meeting may deliberate 
validly without a quorum and by vote of a simple majority of Noteholders attending or represented at 
such Masse Meeting on the appointment and revocation of the Representatives, the revocation of 
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special representatives appointed by the Issuer and the approval of any measures of a conservatory 
nature in the general interests of the Noteholders. On all other matters (except in respect of certain 
matters, including a change in the nationality of the Issuer, where unanimous consent is required) the 
Masse Meeting may deliberate validly on first convocation only if Noteholders present or represented 
hold at least 50 per cent. of the Notes then outstanding. On second convocation no quorum is 
required. Decisions at such meetings shall be taken by a majority of 662/3 per cent. of the votes cast by 
Noteholders attending such meetings or represented thereat. 

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the 
terms of the relevant Final Terms in relation to such Series.

(b) Modification of Agency Agreement:
The Issuer shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or 

proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not 
reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

(c) Substitution:
Subject to the provisions of this Condition, the Noteholders and the Couponholders by 

subscribing to or purchasing any Notes or Coupons, expressly consent to the Issuer, or any previously 
substituted company, at any time, substituting for itself as principal debtor under the Notes, the 
Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the successor company of the 
Issuer or jointly and severally one or more companies to whom the Issuer has transferred all of its 
assets and business undertakings (in each case the “Substitute”) provided that no payment in respect 
of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons is at the relevant time overdue, no steps have been taken 
to admit the Issuer to a regime of suspension of payments (sursis de paiement) and (except in the 
case of a solvent reorganisation or amalgamation) no order has been made or resolution passed for 
the dissolution (dissolution) or liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer. Such substitution effected in 
accordance with this Condition will release the Issuer or any previous substituted company and the 
Noteholders and Couponholders expressly consent hereto. The substitution shall be made by written 
undertaking (the “Undertaking”), to be substantially in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement as 
Schedule 10B and may take place only if (i) the Substitute shall, by means of the Undertaking, agree 
to indemnify each Noteholder and Couponholder against any tax, duty, assessment, withholding, 
deduction or governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any taxing authority in or of) the 
jurisdiction of the country of the Substitute’s residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its 
incorporation with respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon, Talon or the Deed of Covenant and which 
would not have been so imposed had the substitution not been made, as well as against any tax, duty, 
assessment or governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution; (ii) if the 
Substitute is a Subsidiary of the Issuer, the obligations of the Substitute under the Undertaking, the 
Notes and the Coupons shall be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer or its 
successor or each of the companies to whom together the Issuer has transferred all of its assets and 
business undertakings (each a “Guarantor”) by means of a guarantee substantially in the form 
contained in the Undertaking (the “Guarantee”); (iii) all action, conditions and things required to be 
taken, fulfilled and done (including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the 
Undertaking, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons, Talons and Deed of Covenant represent valid, legally 
binding and enforceable obligations of the Substitute and in the case of the Undertaking of the 
Guarantor have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect; (iv) the Substitute shall 
have become party to the Agency Agreement, with any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it 
had been an original party to it; (v) legal opinions addressed to the Noteholders shall have been 
delivered to them (care of the Fiscal Agent) from a lawyer or firm of lawyers with a leading securities 
practice in each jurisdiction referred to in (i) above as to the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of 
this Condition 11(c) and the other matters specified in the Undertaking; (vi) the substitution does not 
affect adversely the rating of the Notes by Moody’s Investors Service Ltd. and Standard & Poor’s 
Rating Group or if any such rating agency does not exist at the relevant time any two existing 
internationally recognised rating agencies; and (vii) the Issuer shall have given at least 30 days’ prior 
notice of such substitution to the Noteholders, to be published in accordance with Condition 14, stating 
that copies, or pending execution the agreed text, of all documents in relation to the substitution which 
are referred to above, or which might otherwise reasonably be regarded as material to Noteholders, 
will be available for inspection at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. References in 
Condition 10 to obligations under the Notes shall be deemed to include obligations under the 
Undertaking and, where the Undertaking contains a Guarantee, the events listed in Condition 10 shall 
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be deemed to include such Guarantee not being (or being claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full 
force and effect and the Guarantee shall contain (a) events of default in respect of the Notes in the 
same terms as Condition 10 of the Notes relating to the Guarantor (except that references in Condition 
10(a) to failure to pay principal and interest on the Notes shall be a reference to failure to pay under 
the Guarantee), (b) clauses relating to the Guarantor in the form of Conditions 6(f) and (9) and (c) and 
a negative pledge in relation to the Guarantee in the form of Condition 4. 

12. Replacement of Notes, Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons
If a Note, Registered Note Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, 

defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange 
regulations, at the specified office of a Fiscal Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons 
or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Registered Note Certificates) or such other Paying 
Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer 
for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by 
the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, 
security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed 
Note, Registered Note Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment 
or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand 
the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, 
Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, 
Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements 
will be issued.

13. Further Issues
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders 

create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes (so that, for the 
avoidance of doubt, references in these Conditions to “Issue Date” shall be to the first issue date of 
the Notes) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and 
references in these Conditions to “Notes” shall be construed accordingly.

14. Notices
Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses 

in the Register and shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other 
than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing and, for so long as the Registered Notes are 
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so 
require, such notices shall in addition be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in 
Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in 
a daily newspaper of general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger 
Wort) except that for so long as the Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, such notices shall be published in a daily 
newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or 
on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). If any such publication is not 
practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language 
newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on 
the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates on the date of the first 
publication as provided above. Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the 
contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition. 

15. Currency Indemnity
Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment 

under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt is due (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a 
judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction, in the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or 
otherwise) by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from 
the Issuer shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the amount in the currency of 
payment under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt that the recipient is able to purchase with the 
amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it 
is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do 
so). If the amount received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be due to the recipient 
under any Note, Coupon or Receipt, the Issuer shall indemnify it against any loss sustained by it as a 
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result. In any event, the Issuer shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such 
purchase. For the purposes of this Condition, it shall be sufficient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, 
as the case may be, to demonstrate that it would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been 
made. These indemnities constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer’s other 
obligations, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of 
any indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full force and effect 
despite any other judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due 
under any Note, Coupon or Receipt or any other judgment or order.

16. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
The following applies in the case of all Senior Notes other than Senior Notes governed by 

Luxembourg law:

(a) Governing Law:
The Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons, and any non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection with them, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
English law. Application of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg law of 10 August, 1915 on 
commercial companies is specifically excluded.

(b) Jurisdiction:
The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in 

connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or 
proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons 
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the 
courts of England and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or 
on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is 
made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons and shall not 
affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall 
the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other 
jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) to the extent permitted by applicable law.

(c) Service of Process:
The Issuer irrevocably appoints Dexia Management Services Limited, at Shackleton House, 

Hay’s Galleria, 4 Battle Bridge Lane, London SE1 2RB as its agent in England to receive, for it and on 
its behalf, service of process in any Proceedings in England. Such service shall be deemed completed 
on delivery to such process agent (whether or not it is forwarded to and received by the Issuer). If for 
any reason such process agent ceases to be able to act as such or no longer has an address in 
London, the Issuer irrevocably agrees to appoint a substitute process agent and shall immediately 
notify Noteholders of such appointment in accordance with Condition 14. Nothing shall affect the right 
to serve process in any manner permitted by law. 

The following applies in the case of all Senior Notes governed by Luxembourg law:

(a) Governing Law:
The Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons, and any non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection with them, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
Luxembourg law.

(b) Jurisdiction:
The courts of Luxembourg are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or 

in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or 
proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons 
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the 
courts of Luxembourg and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue 
or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is 
made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons and shall not 
affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall 
the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other 
jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) to the extent permitted by applicable law.

The following applies in the case of all Senior Notes other than Senior Notes governed by 
Luxembourg law:



- 46 -

17. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the 

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SUBORDINATED NOTES

The following (apart from the text in italics) is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to 
completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of Part A 
of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Subordinated Notes in definitive form (if any) 
issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) representing each Tranche. Either (i) the full text of these 
terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of Part A of the Final Terms or (ii) these 
terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and subject to simplification 
by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the 
Registered Note Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not 
defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms. Those 
definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Registered Note Certificates, as the case may be. 
References in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Subordinated Notes of one Series only, not to all 
Subordinated Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

An Agency Agreement (as further amended or supplemented as at the date of issue of the 
Notes (the “Issue Date”)) (the “Agency Agreement”) dated 9 November, 1995 as amended and 
restated on 31 March, 2011 between the Issuer and the other agents named in it has been entered 
into in relation to the Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the registrars, the transfer agents 
and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the 
“Fiscal Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the 
“Registrars”, the “Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined 
below), the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating to interest bearing Notes in 
bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the 
“Talons”) (the “Couponholders”) and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of 
principal (the “Receipts”) relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in 
instalments are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable 
to them.

Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection free of charge at the specified 
offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

1. Form, Denomination and Title
The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”, which expression includes Notes that are 

specified to be Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form (“Registered Notes”) or in bearer form 
exchangeable for Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer Notes”) in each case in the Specified 
Denomination(s) shown hereon.

All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Where Exchangeable 
Bearer Notes are issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same 
Specified Denomination as the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked 
Interest Note, an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note or a 
Partly-Paid Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the 
Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a 
Talon) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other 
than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are 
not applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered note certificates (“Registered Note Certificates”) 
and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Registered Note Certificate shall represent the entire 
holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to 
the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept 
by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except 
as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of 
any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner 
for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an 
interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Registered Note Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss 
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(or that of the related Registered Note Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the 
holder.

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts (if 
any) relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), 
“holder” (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, 
Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case 
may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such 
meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

2. Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes
(a) Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes:
Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the 

same nominal amount of Registered Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and 
upon surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured 
Receipts, Coupons and Talons relating to it, at the specified office of any Transfer Agent; provided, 
however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date 
(as defined in Condition 6(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that payment of 
interest need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. 
Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another 
Specified Denomination.

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes:
One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of 

the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Registered Note Certificate representing such Registered 
Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Registered Note 
Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same 
representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer) duly completed and 
executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the 
case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Registered Note 
Certificate, a new Registered Note Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part 
transferred and a further new Registered Note Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not 
transferred shall be issued to the transferor. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person 
who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Registered Note Certificate representing the 
enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Registered Note Certificate 
representing the existing holding.

(c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes:
In the case of an exercise of an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of, or a partial

redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Registered Note Certificate, a 
new Registered Note Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or 
in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an option 
resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Registered Note 
Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New 
Registered Note Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Registered Note 
Certificates to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent.

(d) Delivery of New Registered Note Certificates:
Each new Registered Note Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2(a), (b) or (c) shall 

be available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of 
transfer and in each case surrender of the Registered Note Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the 
new Registered Note Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the 
Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such request for exchange, form of 
transfer or Registered Note Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making 
such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of 
transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new 
Registered Note Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests 
otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs 
of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), 
“business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business 
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in Luxembourg and in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar 
(as the case may be). 

(e) Exchange Free of Charge:
Exchange and transfer of Notes and Registered Note Certificates on registration, transfer, 

partial redemption or exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the 
Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental 
charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the 
relevant Transfer Agent may require).

(f) Closed Periods:
No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an 

Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period 
of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of, or payment of any Instalment Amount in respect 
of, that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days before any date on which Notes may be called for 
redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 5(e), (iii) after any such Note has been 
called for redemption or (iv) during the period of 7 days ending on (and including) any Record Date. 
An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for one or more 
Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Registered Note Certificate is simultaneously surrendered 
not later than the relevant Record Date.

3. Status and Subordination
(a) Status of Senior Subordinated Notes:
Notes in respect of which the status is specified hereon as “Senior Subordinated” (“Senior 

Subordinated Notes”) and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them constitute direct, unsecured and 
subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any 
preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Senior Subordinated 
Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them shall at all times rank equally with all other 
Senior Subordinated Obligations (as defined below).

Senior Subordinated Notes that constitute Lower Tier II Capital will have a minimum maturity of 
five years.

(b) Subordination of Senior Subordinated Notes:
In the event of the winding up of the Issuer, the rights of the holders of Senior Subordinated 

Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them shall rank ahead of:

(i) those persons whose claims are in respect of any class of equity (including preference 
shares) of the Issuer; and

(ii) creditors whose claims are in respect of any obligations of the Issuer that rank or are 
expressed to rank (whether only in the winding up of the Issuer or otherwise) junior to 
Senior Subordinated Obligations,

but shall be subordinated to the claims of:

(iii) all Senior Creditors.

(c) Status of Junior Subordinated Notes:

Notes in respect of which the status is specified hereon as “Junior Subordinated” (“Junior 
Subordinated Notes”) and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them constitute direct, unsecured and 
subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any 
preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Junior Subordinated 
Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them shall at all times rank equally with all other 
Junior Subordinated Obligations (as defined below). 

Junior Subordinated Notes that have a scheduled maturity date and constitute Upper Tier II 
Capital will have a minimum maturity of five years or may be undated.

(d) Subordination of Junior Subordinated Notes:
The rights of the holders of Junior Subordinated Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating 

to them shall rank ahead of:
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(i) those persons whose claims are in respect of any class of equity (including preference 
shares) of the Issuer; and

(ii) creditors whose claims are in respect of any obligations that rank or are expressed to 
rank junior to any Junior Subordinated Obligations or the claims of holders of such Notes, 
Receipts and Coupons,

but shall be subordinated to the claims of:

(iii) all other creditors of the Issuer whose claims do not rank or are not expressed to rank 
pari passu with the claims of the holders of Junior Subordinated Notes and are not 
referred to in paragraph (d) (including creditors whose claims are in respect of Senior 
Subordinated Obligations);

and payments of principal and interest in respect of the Junior Subordinated Notes will be conditional 
on the Issuer being solvent at the time of payment by the Issuer and no principal or interest shall be 
due and payable in respect of the Junior Subordinated Notes except to the extent that the Issuer could 
make such payment in whole or in part, rateably with payments in respect of Junior Subordinated 
Notes, and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For the purpose of this paragraph the Issuer shall 
be solvent if (i) it is able to pay its debts as they fall due, (ii) its Assets exceed its Liabilities, other than 
its Liabilities to persons who are not Prior Ranking Creditors (in each case as defined below), (iii) the 
Issuer’s Eligible Own Funds are at least equal to the amount of the Issuer’s Overall Capital 
Requirements (in each case as defined below) and (iv) the Issuer’s Eligible Own Funds are at least 
equal to the minimum amount set out in Article 8 of the Law of 5 April, 1993 on the financial sector, as 
amended. A report as to the solvency of the Issuer by two directors of the Issuer or (if the Issuer is in 
winding- up) its liquidator shall in the absence of proven error be treated and accepted by the Issuer 
and the holders of Junior Subordinated Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them as 
correct and sufficient evidence thereof.

(e) Defined Terms:
In this Condition:

“Assets” means the total assets of the Issuer and “Liabilities” means the total liabilities of the 
Issuer (excluding for the avoidance of doubt, any capital, reserves, profits for the relevant 
financial year, profits brought forward or funds for general banking risks) each as shown by the 
latest published non-consolidated audited balance sheet of the Issuer, but adjusted for 
contingencies and for subsequent events, valued in such manner as such directors or liquidator 
(as the case may be) referred to above may determine consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles;

“Circular” means Circular No. 06/273 entitled “The definition of capital adequacy ratios pursuant 
to Article 56 of the Law of 5 April, 1993 on the financial sector (application to credit institutions)” 
issued by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”);

“Eligible Own Funds” shall have the meaning given thereto in, and be calculated in accordance 
with, the Circular;

“Junior Subordinated Obligations” means claims of creditors of the Issuer which are 
subordinated so as to rank or are expressed to rank pari passu with the claims of the holders of 
Junior Subordinated Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them;

“Overall Capital Requirements” shall have the meaning given thereto in, and be calculated in
accordance with, the Circular;

“Prior Ranking Creditors” means all creditors of the Issuer other than the creditors whose claims 
are referred to in paragraph (d)(2) above and creditors whose claims rank or are expressed to 
rank pari passu with the claims of holders of the Junior Subordinated Notes and the Receipts 
and Coupons relating to them and for the avoidance of doubt, other than all persons whose 
claims are referred to in paragraph (d)(1) above;

“Senior Creditors” means all creditors of the Issuer who are depositors or other general, 
unsubordinated creditors; and

“Senior Subordinated Obligations” means all indebtedness and monetary obligations of the 
Issuer present and future that rank or are expressed to rank junior in right of payment (whether 
only in the event of the winding up of the Issuer or otherwise) to the claims of Senior Creditors 
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but that are not subordinated so as to rank in point of subordination junior to any other 
obligations of the Issuer.

If the Issuer would not otherwise be solvent for the purposes of this paragraph, the amount of 
the principal and sums which would otherwise be payable as interest on the Junior 
Subordinated Notes will be available to meet any losses of the Issuer.

4. Interest and Other Calculations
(a) Rate of Interest and Accrual on Senior Subordinated Notes and Optional and Compulsory 

Payment of Interest on Junior Subordinated Notes:

(i) Each Senior Subordinated Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from 
the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) 
equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest 
Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be calculated in accordance with 
Condition 4(h).

(ii) Each Junior Subordinated Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from 
the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) 
equal to the Rate of Interest. Interest on Junior Subordinated Notes shall (subject to 
Condition 3(d)) be payable on each Compulsory Interest Payment Date in respect of the 
interest accrued in the Interest Period ending on the day immediately preceding such 
date. On any Optional Interest Payment Date there may be paid (if the Issuer so elects 
but subject to Condition 3(d)) the interest accrued in the Interest Period ending on the day 
immediately preceding such date but the Issuer shall not have any obligation to make 
such payment and any failure to pay shall not constitute a default by the Issuer for any 
purpose. The Issuer shall notify the Noteholders five business days prior to each Interest 
Payment Date of the result of such election.

(iii) Without prejudice to Condition 9(b), any interest not paid on an Interest Payment Date 
relating to a Junior Subordinated Note shall, so long as the same remains unpaid, 
constitute “Arrears of Interest”. Arrears of Interest may at the option of the Issuer be paid in 
whole or in part at any time after the expiry of and after not less than seven days’ notice to 
such effect given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 below 
provided that all accrued Additional Interest as defined below on such Arrears of Interest is 
paid. All Arrears of Interest on all Junior Subordinated Notes outstanding shall (subject to 
Condition 3(d)) become due in full on whichever is the earliest of (A) the Interest Payment 
Date immediately following the date upon which a dividend is next declared on any class of 
share capital of the relevant Issuer, (B) the date set for redemption in respect of any Junior 
Subordinated Note pursuant to Condition 5 or, where all the Junior Subordinated Notes are 
purchased by the Issuer (other than in the ordinary course of the business of dealing in 
securities on behalf of third parties) pursuant to Condition 5(g), and (C) the date that an 
order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the dissolution (dissolution) or 
liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer.

if notice is given by the Issuer of its intention to pay the whole or part of Arrears of 
Interest, the Issuer shall be obliged (subject to Condition 3(d)) to do so on the expiry of 
such notice.

Where Arrears of Interest are paid in part, each such payment shall be applied in or 
towards satisfaction of the full amount of the Arrears of Interest accrued in respect of the 
earliest Interest Period in respect of which Arrears of Interest have accrued and have not 
been paid in full.

In these Conditions:

“Compulsory Interest Payment Date” means if, in the twelve months ending on the day 
immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date, any dividend has been declared on any 
class of share capital of the Issuer, that Interest Payment Date; and

“Optional Interest Payment Date” means any Interest Payment Date other than a 
Compulsory Interest Payment Date.

(iv) Arrears of Interest shall bear interest (“Additional Interest”) at the Rate of Interest plus an 
additional rate of 1.5 per cent. per annum which shall be calculated in accordance with 
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paragraph (f) below and accrue on a daily basis, for each successive period of twelve 
calendar months (“Additional Interest Period”) from and including the first Interest 
Payment Date on which such Arrears of Interest may or should have been paid and 
ending on the day immediately preceding the last date of the Additional Interest Period. 
The Issuer can elect to pay any Additional Interest on the date that any Arrears of Interest 
are to be paid by the Issuer pursuant to these Conditions but the Issuer shall not have 
any obligation to make such payment and any failure to pay shall not constitute a default 
by the Issuer for any purpose. All Additional Interest which is not paid on any Interest 
Payment Date at the end of each Additional Interest Period, shall become Arrears of 
Interest and bear interest accordingly.

(v) Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon 
due presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event 
interest shall continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest 
in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 
7).

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes:
(i) Interest Payment Dates:

Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears interest on its outstanding 
nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum 
(expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in 
arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be
determined in accordance with Condition 4(h). The Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either 
shown hereon, as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment 
Date(s) is/are shown hereon Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the 
number of months or other period shown hereon as the Specified Period after the 
preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after 
the Interest Commencement Date.

(ii) Business Day Convention:
If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in 
accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a 
Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate 
Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a 
Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) 
such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) 
each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such 
date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business 
Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) 
the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the 
next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, 
in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business 
Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward 
to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes:
The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes, for each Interest Accrual Period 
shall be determined in the manner specified herein and the provisions below relating to 
either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply depending upon 
which is specified hereon: 

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes
Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of 
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period 
shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA 
Rate. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest 
Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined 
by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an 
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:
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(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon;

(y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon; and

(z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless 
otherwise specified hereon.

for the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “Calculation 
Agent”, “Floating Rate Option”, “Designated Maturity”, “Reset Date” and 
“Swap Transaction” have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA 
Definitions.

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the 
Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual 
Period:

(x) (1) the offered quotation; or

(2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which 
appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 
11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time in the case 
of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined 
by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are 
available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than 
one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, 
if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) 
shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining 
the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is 
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or 
EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined 
as provided in the applicable Final Terms;

(y) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if sub-paragraph (x)(1) above 
applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page 
or if sub-paragraph (x)(2) above applies and fewer than three such offered 
quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time 
specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall 
request, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each 
of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is  EURIBOR, the principal 
Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation 
Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) 
for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 
11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at 
approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Interest Determination Date 
in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation 
Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest 
Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as 
determined by the Calculation Agent; and

(z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer 
than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as 
provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates 
per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the 
request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of 
them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at 
approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, 
at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant Interest 
Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that 
which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the 
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Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference 
Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if 
fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such 
offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period 
equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the 
arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a 
period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at 
which, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London 
time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. 
(Brussels time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more 
banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Trustee and the Issuer 
suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading 
banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the 
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may 
be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with 
the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be 
determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though 
substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is 
to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the 
last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate 
of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin 
or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest 
Accrual Period).

(iv) Rate of Interest for Index Linked Interest Notes:
The Rate of Interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes for each Interest Accrual 
Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and interest will accrue by 
reference to an Index or Formula as specified hereon.

(c) Zero Coupon Senior Subordinated Notes:
Where a Senior Subordinated Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is 

repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to 
the Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Senior Subordinated Note. As from 
the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Senior Subordinated Note 
shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described 
in Condition 5(c)).

(d) Dual Currency Notes:
In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest is to be determined by 

reference to a Rate of Exchange or a method of calculating Rate of Exchange, the rate or amount of 
interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified hereon.

(e) Partly-Paid Notes:
In the case of Partly-Paid Notes (other than Partly-Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), 

interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as 
specified hereon.

(f) Accrual of Interest:
Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due 

presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to 
accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this 
Condition 4 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7).

(g) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption 
Amounts and Rounding:

(i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more 
Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the 
case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case 
of (y), calculated in accordance with (b) above by adding (if a positive number) or 
subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin, subject always to 
the next paragraph.
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(ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is 
specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount 
shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.

(iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless 
otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be 
rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 
halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures 
(with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable 
shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), 
save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these 
purposes “unit” means, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal 
tender in the country(ies) of such currency.

(h) Calculations:
The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount (subject to Condition 3(b) and (d)) in 

respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, 
the Calculation Amount specified hereon, and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, 
unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in 
which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such 
Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such 
formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of 
interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest 
Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for 
which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count 
Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

(i) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts and, in the case of 
Senior Subordinated Notes, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, 
Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts:

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may 
be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or 
calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual 
Period, (in the case of Senior Subordinated Notes) calculate the Final Redemption Amounts, Early 
Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain such quote or 
make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the 
Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if 
required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional 
Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of 
the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes 
that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a 
stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange as soon as possible after 
their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if 
determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest, 
Interest Amount, Interest Period Date and Interest Payment Date, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth 
Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is 
subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 4(b), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date 
so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of 
adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the 
Notes become due and payable under Condition 9, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest 
payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in 
accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so 
calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation 
and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence 
of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(j) Definitions:
In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall 

have the meanings set out below:

“Business Day” means:
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(i) in the case of a currency other than EUR, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on 
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal 
financial centre for such currency; and/or

(ii) in the case of EUR, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET 
Business Day”); and/or

(iii) In the case of a currency and/or one or more Additional Business Centres, a day (other 
than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets 
settle payments in such currency in the Additional Business Centres or, if no currency is 
indicated, generally in each of the Additional Business Centres.

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note 
for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) 
(whether or not constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation 
Period”):

(i) if “Actual/365” or “Actual/Actual-ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in 
the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in 
a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation 
Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that 
portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); 

(ii) if “Actual/Actual (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation 
Period divided by 365;

(iii) if “Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 
divided by 360;

(iv) if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater 
than 29, in which case D2 will be 30.

(v) if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by 360 calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;
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“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will 
be 30

(vi) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period 
divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  [360 x (Y2 – Y1)] + [30 x (M2 – M1)] + (D2 – D1)
_____________________________________

360

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will 
be 30

(vii) if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified hereon, (a) if the Calculation Period is equal to or 
shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the 
Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination 
Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and (b) 
if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of: (x) the 
number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it 
begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and 
(2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and (y) the number 
of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the 
product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of 
Determination Periods normally ending in any year where:

“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any 
year to but excluding the next Determination Date; and

“Determination Date” means the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, 
the Interest Payment Date.

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that 
adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European 
Community as amended.

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and 
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each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending 
on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

“Interest Amount” means:

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable, per 
Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed 
Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon 
Amount or Broken Amount, specified hereon as being payable on the Interest 
Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period 
forms part; and

(ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation 
Amount for that period

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be 
specified hereon.

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest 
Accrual Period, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first 
day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day 
falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of 
such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor EUR or 
(iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interested 
Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is EUR. 

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and 
each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and 
ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified 
hereon.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association, Inc., unless otherwise specified hereon.

“Number of Actual Calculation Periods” means, in relation to Day Count Fraction above, 
the number of Actual Calculation Periods normally ending in any year.

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this 
Note and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon.

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London 
office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market and, in the case of a 
determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the 
Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent or as 
specified hereon.

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon.

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a 
particular information service as may be specified hereon.

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is 
specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement 
Express Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on 19 November 
2007 or any successor thereto.

(k) Calculation Agent:
The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if 

provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding. Where more than one 
Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the 
Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under 
the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent 
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fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest 
Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount, as the case 
may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or financial 
institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index 
options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the 
Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in 
such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a 
successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

5. Redemption, Purchase and Options
(a) Redemption of Senior Subordinated Notes:
(i) Unless previously redeemed (with the consent of the CSSF), purchased and cancelled as 

provided in this Condition 5 or the relevant Instalment Date (being one of the dates so 
specified hereon) is extended pursuant to any Issuer’s option in accordance with 
Condition 5(e) or (g), each Senior Subordinated Note that provides for Instalment Dates 
and Instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the 
related Instalment Amount specified hereon. The outstanding nominal amount of each 
such Senior Subordinated Note shall be reduced by the Instalment Amount (or, if such 
Instalment Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of 
such Senior Subordinated Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from the 
related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withheld 
or refused on presentation of the related Receipt, in which case, such amount shall 
remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.

(ii) Unless previously redeemed (with the consent of the CSSF), purchased and cancelled as 
provided in this Condition 5 or its maturity is extended pursuant to any Issuer’s option in 
accordance with Condition 5(e) or (g), each Senior Subordinated Note shall be finally 
redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which, 
unless otherwise provided, is its nominal amount) or, in the case of a Senior 
Subordinated Note falling within paragraph (i) above, its final Instalment Amount.

(b) Redemption of Junior Subordinated Notes:
Subject to Condition 3(d), the Issuer will redeem all of the Junior Subordinated Notes that have 

a Maturity Date specified hereon (“Dated Junior Subordinated Notes”) at their Final Redemption 
Amount (together with all Arrears of Interest and all accrued Additional Interest, if any and interest if 
any accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption) on such Maturity Date provided that the 
CSSF has consented to such redemption on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ 
irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. The Issuer undertakes to seek 
the consent of the CSSF to redeem all of the Junior Subordinated Notes (or as many of the Junior 
Subordinated Notes as the CSSF will consent to) not less than 40 days prior to the Maturity Date. If 
the CSSF consents to the redemption of some (but not all) of the Junior Subordinated Notes on the 
Maturity Date, the Issuer will redeem the Junior Subordinated Notes to the extent permitted by the 
CSSF at their Final Redemption Amount (together with all Arrears of Interest and all accrued 
Additional Interest, if any). The Junior Subordinated Notes to be redeemed will be drawn by lot in 
accordance with Condition 5(e). 

If the CSSF does not consent to the redemption of all of the Junior Subordinated Notes on the 
Maturity Date (or any following Interest Payment Date) the Junior Subordinated Notes not so 
redeemed shall be redeemed, subject as set out below, at their Final Redemption Amount (together 
with all Arrears of Interest and all accrued Additional Interest, if any and interest if any accrued to, but 
excluding, the date fixed for redemption) on the next following Interest Payment Date (each such 
Interest Payment Date being a “New Maturity Date”). If the CSSF does not consent to the redemption 
of any of the Junior Subordinated Notes on the Maturity Date or any following Interest Payment Date, 
the Issuer shall give notice to the Noteholders to be published in accordance with Condition 13 and for 
so long as the Junior Subordinated Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange, the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, at least 30 days before the Maturity Date or the New 
Maturity Date, as the case may be, that redemption will not take place on that date in respect of the 
Junior Subordinated Notes not permitted to be redeemed.

Until such time as the Issuer has obtained the consent of the CSSF to redeem all Junior 
Subordinated Notes, the Issuer undertakes not less than 40 days prior to each New Maturity Date to 
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seek the consent of the CSSF to redeem all Junior Subordinated Notes in respect of which consent for
redemption from the CSSF has not been obtained. The Issuer will, subject to Condition 3(d), redeem 
all the Junior Subordinated Notes permitted to be redeemed by the CSSF on the next New Maturity 
Date after such consent has been received at their Final Redemption Amount together with all Arrears 
of Interest and all accrued Additional Interest, if any). If some only of the Junior Subordinated Notes 
are permitted to be redeemed on a New Maturity Date, the Junior Subordinated Notes to be redeemed 
will be drawn by lot in accordance with Condition 5(e).

Junior Subordinated Notes that do not have a Maturity Date specified hereon are undated and 
accordingly have no final maturity date and are only redeemable or repayable in accordance with the 
following provisions of this Condition 5 or Condition 9 and, in the case of Condition 5 only, with the 
prior approval of the CSSF:

(c) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Senior Subordinated Notes:
(i) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Senior 

Subordinated Note, the Early Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index 
and/or a formula, upon redemption of such Senior Subordinated Note pursuant to 
Condition 5(d) with the prior consent of the CSSF or upon it becoming due and payable 
as provided in Condition 9 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided 
below) of such Senior Subordinated Note unless otherwise specified hereon.

(ii) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any 
such Senior Subordinated Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such 
Senior Subordinated Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum 
(expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown 
hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the 
issue price of the Senior Subordinated Notes if they were discounted back to their issue 
price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.

(iii) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Senior Subordinated 
Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 5(c) or upon it becoming due and 
payable as provided in Condition 9 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount 
due and payable in respect of such Senior Subordinated Note shall be the Amortised 
Face Amount of such Senior Subordinated Note as defined in sub�paragraph (B) above, 
except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the date on which the Senior 
Subordinated Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of 
the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be 
made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date 
falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the 
scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any 
interest that may accrue in accordance with Conditions 4(a) and (c). 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the 
basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

(d) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:
The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, (but subject to 

consent thereto having been obtained from the CSSF), on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is 
either a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Note) or at any time (if this Note is neither a Floating 
Rate Note nor an Index Linked Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the 
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early 
Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 5(c) above) (together with all Arrears of Interest, 
Accrued Additional Interest and interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer has 
or would become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 as a 
result of any change in the laws or regulations of Luxembourg (or in the official application of such 
laws or regulations) or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, 
or any change in the application of such laws or regulations which change or amendment becomes 
effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking 
reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier 
than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional 
amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Before the publication of any notice of 
redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed 
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by two Directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting 
forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem 
have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that 
the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or 
amendment.

(e) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer:
If Call Option is specified hereon (the details of which will be specified in the relevant Final 

Terms), the Issuer may with the consent of the CSSF, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 
30 days’ irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (or such other notice 
period as may be specified hereon) redeem all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional 
Redemption Date. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount 
together with all Arrears of Interest, accrued Additional Interest and interest accrued to the date fixed 
for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least 
equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the 
Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified 
in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate 
numbers of the Bearer Notes or, in the case of Registered Notes, shall specify the nominal amount of 
Registered Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes to be redeemed which shall have 
been drawn in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, 
taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and 
stock exchange requirements.

(f) Partly-Paid Notes:
Partly-Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in 

accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the provisions specified hereon.

(g) Purchases:
In addition to Notes, Receipts or Coupons purchased in the ordinary course of dealing in 

securities on behalf of third parties, the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may with the consent of the 
CSSF at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and 
unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open 
market or otherwise at any price in accordance with applicable law, if any. The Notes so purchased, 
while held by or on behalf of the Issuer shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the 
Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at 
meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 10(a). The Issuer undertakes to procure 
that any Subsidiary which holds any Notes as principal, will not exercise its right to vote in any meeting 
of the Noteholders in respect of such Notes provided that the Issuer and such Subsidiary may vote in 
favour of a resolution requiring the unanimous consent of a Masse Meeting (as defined in Condition 
10) when all other Noteholders have voted or will vote in favour of that resolution. “Subsidiary” means 
any company 50 per cent. or more of the equity share capital of which is owned directly or indirectly by 
the Issuer. Such Notes may be reissued or resold by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries.

(h) Cancellation:
All Notes that are redeemed shall be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts 

and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith) and accordingly 
may not be reissued or resold.

6. Payments and Talons
(a) Bearer Notes:
Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, 

be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of 
Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is 
presented for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of 
principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 6(f)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of 
interest, save as specified in Condition 6(f)(vi)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any 
Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at 
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the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with a Bank. “Bank” 
means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of EUR, in a city in 
which banks have access to the TARGET System.

(b) Registered Notes:
(i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 6(b) shall include final 

Instalment Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes 
shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Registered Note 
Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in 
the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below.

(ii) Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 6(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts 
other than final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the persons 
shown on the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date 
for payment thereof (the “Record Date”). Payments of interest on each Registered Note 
shall be made in the relevant currency in which such payments are due by cheque drawn 
on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Note at 
its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified 
office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of 
interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by 
the payee with a Bank.

(c) Payments in the United States:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments 

in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the 
same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices 
outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to 
make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in 
full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other 
similar restrictions and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in 
the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.

(d) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws:
All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and 

directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7. No commission or expenses shall be 
charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(e) Appointment of Agents:
The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars, the Transfer Agents and any Calculation 

Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The 
Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent act 
solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for 
or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate 
the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, any Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the
Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that 
the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, 
(iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes in Luxembourg, (iv) one or more Calculation 
Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two 
major European cities, (vi) such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock 
exchange on which the Notes may be listed and (vii) to the extent not satisfied by (v) or (vi) above, a 
Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to 
withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Union Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive 
implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November, 2000. Notice of 
any such termination or appointment and of any change in the specified office through which any 
Paying Agent acts will be given in accordance with Condition 13.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any 
Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the 
Noteholders.
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(f) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:

(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes 
(other than Dual Currency Notes or Index Linked Notes) should be surrendered for 
payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an 
amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of 
payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured 
Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be 
deducted from the Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount, as the case 
may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner 
mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of ten years 
from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon 
has become void pursuant to Condition 8).

(ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note, 
Dual Currency Interest Note or Index Linked Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such 
Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in 
respect of them.

(iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to 
such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered 
in respect of such Talon.

(iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in instalments, 
all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due 
date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in 
respect of them.

(v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become 
void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without 
all unmatured Coupons and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without 
any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the 
provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.

(vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, 
interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest 
Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation 
(and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Registered Note Certificate 
representing it, as the case may be.

Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on 
redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Registered Note Certificate 
representing it, as the case may be.

(g) Talons:
On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet 

issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be 
surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if 
necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have 
become void pursuant to Condition 8).

(h) Non-Business Days:
If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the 

holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other 
sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, “business day” means a day (other than 
a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the 
relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as “Additional Financial 
Centres” hereon and:

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than EUR) where payment is to be made by 
transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign 
exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial 
centre of the country of such currency; or
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(ii) (in the case of a payment in EUR) which is a TARGET Business Day.

7. Taxation
All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons 

shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any 
present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, 
levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Luxembourg or any political sub-division or 
any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required 
by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the 
Noteholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no 
such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable 
with respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon:

(a) Other Connection:
to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by 
reason of his having some connection with Luxembourg other than the mere holding of 
the Note, Receipt or Coupon;

(b) Lawful avoidance of withholding:
presented (or in respect of which the Registered Note Certificate representing it is 
presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent 
that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it 
for payment on the thirtieth such day;

(c) Payment to individuals and residual entities:
where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is 
required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other 
Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 
November, 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying 
with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

(d) Payment by another Paying Agent:

(except in the case of Registered Notes) presented for payment by or on behalf of a 
holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting 
the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the 
European Union.

As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means 
the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is 
improperly withheld or refused the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or 
(if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon 
further presentation of the Note (or relative Registered Note Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being 
made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact 
made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) “principal” shall be deemed to 
include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption 
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of 
principal payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) “interest” shall be 
deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 or any 
amendment or supplement to it and (iii) “principal” and/or “interest” shall be deemed to include any 
additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition.

8. Prescription
Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which for 

this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten 
years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant 
Date in respect of them.

9. Enforcement
(a) Winding Up:
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The holder of any Note may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that 
such Note is due and payable, whereupon the Final Redemption Amount of such Note together with 
accrued interest (and Arrears of Interest and Additional Interest in the case of Junior Subordinated 
Notes) to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable if an order is made or an 
effective resolution is passed for the dissolution (dissolution) or liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer.

(b) Non-Payment:
If the Issuer does not make payment for a period of 7 days or more after the due date for the 

payment of principal or for a period of 14 days or more after a Compulsory Interest Payment Date in 
the case of Junior Subordinated Notes, or after an Interest Payment Date in the case of Senior 
Subordinated Notes, for the payment of interest due in respect of any of the Notes on such 
Compulsory Interest Payment Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, any Noteholder 
may ask the relevant authorities to institute proceedings in Luxembourg (but not elsewhere) in 
accordance with Part IV of the law of 5 April, 1993 concerning the financial sector (loi du 5 avril 1993 
relative au secteur financier) for the dissolution (dissolution) or liquidation (liquidation) of the Issuer. 

Although the relevant authorities may take into account a request from a Noteholder to institute 
proceedings in Luxembourg for the dissolution or liquidation of the Issuer, they are not in any way 
bound to do so following the receipt of such a request or on any other basis. In determining whether to 
institute any such proceeding against the Issuer, the relevant authorities act solely on the basis of their 
own discretion and in accordance with Luxembourg law. Subject to such request from a Noteholder as 
described in this Condition 9(b), a Noteholder shall not be able to take proceedings for the dissolution 
or liquidation of the Issuer.

(c) Breach of Obligations:
To the extent permitted by applicable law and by these Conditions, a Noteholder may at its 

discretion institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, 
condition, undertaking or provision binding on the Issuer under the Notes or the Coupons but the 
institution of such proceedings shall not have the effect that the Issuer shall be obliged to pay any sum 
or sums sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

(d) Other Remedies:
No remedy against the Issuer other than the institution of the proceedings referred to in 

Conditions 9(b) or (c) and the proving or claiming in any dissolution or liquidation of the Issuer, shall 
be available to the Noteholders or the Couponholders whether for the recovery of amounts owing in 
respect of the Notes or the Coupons or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any other obligation, 
condition or provision binding on it under the Notes or the Coupons.

10. Meeting of Noteholders, Modifications and Substitution
(a) Meetings of Noteholders and Representation:
Noteholders will belong to a masse (the “Masse”) created, among other things, for the 

representation of their common interests pursuant to the provisions of the law of 10 August, 1915 on 
commercial companies, as amended (loi de 10 août 1915 concernant les sociétés commerciales, telle 
qu’elle à été modifiée) (the “Luxembourg Company Law”). The discussion below is based on the 
Luxembourg Company Law in effect on the Issue Date. Any subsequent amendments to the relevant 
provisions of the Luxembourg Company Law may amend or modify the discussion below. A general 
meeting of the Noteholders (the “Masse Meeting”) may appoint and determine the powers of one or 
more representatives (the “Representatives”). Where Representatives have been appointed, 
Noteholders may no longer individually exercise their rights against the Issuer. A Masse Meeting may 
be called at any time by the Representatives (if any) or the Board of Directors of the Issuer. The 
Representatives, provided an advance on expenses has been paid to them, or the Board of Directors 
must convene the Masse Meeting if called upon to do so by holders of Notes representing 5 per cent. 
or more of the Notes outstanding. All Masse Meetings shall be held at the place specified in the notice 
calling the meeting and such notice must be published as provided in Condition 13. All Noteholders 
have the right to attend and vote at the Masse Meeting either personally or by proxy. The voting rights 
attached to the Notes are equal to the proportion of the amount of the outstanding Notes represented 
by the amount of the Note or Notes held by the relevant holder. A Masse Meeting may be called in the 
event of a merger involving the Issuer, may approve certain changes in the rights of the Noteholders 
and may, generally, determine any measures designed to ensure the defence of interests or the 
exercise of the rights of the Noteholders in accordance with the provisions of the Luxembourg 
Company Law. A Masse Meeting may deliberate validly without a quorum and by vote of a simple 
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majority of Noteholders attending or represented at such Masse Meeting on the appointment and 
revocation of the Representatives, the revocation of special representatives appointed by the Issuer 
and the approval of any measures of a conservatory nature in the general interests of the Noteholders. 
On all other matters (except in respect of certain matters, including a change in the nationality of the 
Issuer, where unanimous consent is required) the Masse Meeting may deliberate validly on first 
convocation only if Noteholders present or represented hold at least 50 per cent. of the Notes then 
outstanding. On second convocation no quorum is required. Decisions at such meetings shall be 
taken by a majority of 662/3 per cent. of the votes cast by Noteholders attending such meetings or 
represented thereat. 

These Conditions may be amended, modified, or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the 
terms of the relevant Final Terms in relation to such Series.

(b) Modification of Agency Agreement:
The Issuer shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or 

proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not 
reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

(c) Substitution:
Subject to the provisions of this Condition the Noteholders and the Couponholders by 

subscribing to or purchasing any Notes or Coupons, expressly consent to the Issuer, or any previous 
substituted company, at any time provided the prior approval of the CSSF is obtained, substituting for 
itself as principal debtor under the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons any Subsidiary 
of the Issuer or the successor company of the Issuer or jointly and severally one or more companies 
to whom the Issuer has transferred all of its assets and business undertakings (in each case the 
“Substitute”) provided that no payment in respect of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons is at the 
relevant time overdue, no steps have been taken to admit the Issuer to a regime of suspension of 
payments (sursis de paiement) and (except in the case of a solvent reorganisation or amalgamation) 
no order has been made or resolution passed for the dissolution (dissolution) or liquidation 
(liquidation) of the Issuer. Such substitution effected in accordance with this Condition will release the 
Issuer or any previous substituted company and the Noteholders and Couponholders expressly 
consent hereto. The substitution shall be made by a written undertaking (the “Undertaking”) to be 
substantially in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement as Schedule 8 and may take place only 
if (i) the Substitute shall, by means of the Undertaking, agree to indemnify each Noteholder and 
Couponholder against any tax, duty, assessment, withholding, deduction or governmental charge 
which is imposed on it by (or by any taxing authority in or of) the jurisdiction of the country of the 
Substitute’s residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its incorporation with respect to any Note, 
Receipt, Coupon, Talon or the Deed of Covenant and which would not have been so imposed had 
the substitution not been made, as well as against any tax duty, assessment or governmental charge, 
and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution; (ii) if the Substitute is a Subsidiary of the Issuer, 
the obligations of the Substitute under the Undertaking, the Notes and the Coupons shall be 
unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Issuer or its successor or 
each of the companies to whom together the Issuer has transferred all of its assets and business 
undertakings (each a “Guarantor”) (which shall be the same basis in respect of which Notes originally 
issued by the Issuer were subordinated) by means of a guarantee substantially in the form contained 
in the Undertaking (the “Guarantee”); (iii) all action, conditions and things required to be taken, 
fulfilled and done (including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Undertaking, 
the Notes, Coupons, Receipts, Talons and Deed of Covenant, represent valid, legally binding and 
enforceable obligations of the Substitute and in the case of the Guarantee of the Guarantor have 
been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect; (iv) the Substitute shall have become 
party to the Agency Agreement, with any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an 
original party to it; (v) legal opinions addressed to the Noteholders shall have been delivered to them 
(care of the Fiscal Agent) from a lawyer or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in each 
jurisdiction referred to in (i) above as to the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of this Condition 
10(c) and the other matters specified in the Undertaking; (vi) the substitution does not affect 
adversely the rating of the Notes by Moody’s Investors Service Ltd. and Standard & Poor’s Rating 
Group or if any such rating agency does not exist at the relevant time any two existing internationally 
recognised rating agencies and (vii) the Issuer shall have given at least 30 days’ prior notice of such 
substitution to the Noteholders, to be published in accordance with Condition 13 stating that copies, 
or pending execution the agreed text, of all documents in relation to the substitution which are 
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referred to above, or which might otherwise reasonably be regarded as material to Noteholders, will 
be available for inspection at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. References in 
Condition 9 to obligations under the Notes shall be deemed to include obligations under the 
Undertaking, and, where the Undertaking contains a Guarantee, the events listed in Condition 9 shall 
be deemed to include such Guarantee not being (or being claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full 
force and effect and the Guarantee shall contain rights of enforcement and clauses relating to the 
Guarantor in the form of Conditions 5(f) and (g). 

11. Replacement of Notes, Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons
If a Note, Registered Note Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, 

defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange 
regulations, at the specified office of a Fiscal Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons 
or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Registered Note Certificates) or such other Paying 
Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer 
for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by 
the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, 
security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed 
Note, Registered Note Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment 
or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the issuer on demand 
the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, 
Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, 
Registered Note Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements 
will be issued.

12. Further Issues
Subject to the prior consent of the CSSF, the Issuer may from time to time without the consent 

of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further notes having the same terms and 
conditions as the Notes (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, references in these Conditions to “Issue 
Date” shall be to the first issue date of the Notes) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form 
a single series with such Notes, and references in these Conditions to “Notes” shall be construed 
accordingly.

13. Notices
Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses 

in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a 
Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing and for so long as the Registered Notes are listed on 
the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, such 
notices shall in addition be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg 
(which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
(www.bourse.lu). Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily 
newspaper of general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) 
except that for so long as the Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
and the rules of that exchange so require, such notices shall be published in a daily newspaper with 
general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website 
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). If any such publication is not practicable, notice 
shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general 
circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such 
publication or, if published more than once or on different dates on the date of the first publication as 
provided above.

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice 
given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.

14. Currency Indemnity
Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment 

under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt is due (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a 
judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction, in the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or 
otherwise) by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from 
the Issuer shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the amount in the currency of 
payment under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt that the recipient is able to purchase with the 
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amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it 
is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do 
so). If the amount received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be due to the recipient 
under any Note, Coupon or Receipt, the Issuer shall indemnify it against any loss sustained by it as a 
result. In any event, the Issuer shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such 
purchase. For the purposes of this Condition, it shall be sufficient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, 
as the case may be, to demonstrate that it would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been 
made. These indemnities constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer’s other 
obligations, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of 
any indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full force and effect
despite any other judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due 
under any Note, Coupon or Receipt or any other judgment or order.

15. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(a) Governing Law:
The Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons, and any non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection with them, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
the laws of Luxembourg.

(b) Jurisdiction:
The courts of Luxembourg are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in 

connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings 
arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons (“Proceedings”) may be 
brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of Luxembourg and 
waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the 
Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each 
of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons.
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GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE BOOK-ENTRY WARRANTS

The following is the text of the General Conditions of the Book-entry Warrants that, subject to 
completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the Terms set out in 
the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants, shall be applicable to the Book-entry Warrants. All 
capitalised terms that are not defined in these General Conditions will have the meanings given to 
them in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants. Those definitions will be included in the Terms, 
which shall be endorsed on the Global Warrant. References in these Conditions to “Warrants” are to 
the Book-entry Warrants of one Series only, not to all Book-entry Warrants that may be issued under 
the Programme.

The Warrants are subject to these General Conditions, as modified and/or supplemented by the 
terms of the Warrants (the “Terms”) set out in the Global Warrant or Global Warrants (each a “Global 
Warrant”) by which they are represented. The form of the Global Warrant is set out in Schedule 3 Part 
A to the Agency Agreement relating to the Programme of the Issuer for the issue of Euro Medium 
Term Notes and Warrants (as further amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date) (the “Agency 
Agreement”) dated 9 November, 1995 as amended and restated on 31 March, 2011 between the 
Issuer and the other agents named in it. Copies of the form of Global Warrant and the Agency 
Agreement will be available for inspection at the specified office of the Issuer. The Warrantholders (as 
defined below) are bound by and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Agency 
Agreement and the relevant Global Warrant. Expressions used herein and not defined shall have the 
meaning given to them in the Terms. References in these General Conditions to “Calculation Agent” 
are to the Calculation Agent (if any) appointed in relation to the Warrants and specified in the Terms.

1. Form and Transfer
(a) Form
The Warrants will at all times be represented by a single Global Warrant (save in the case of an 

issue of further Warrants pursuant to Condition 10, which further Warrants shall be represented by a 
further Global Warrant), which will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear Bank 
S.A./N.V., (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) 
Warrants in definitive form will not be issued.

(b) Title
The persons for the time being appearing in the books of Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg as holding Warrants shall be treated as holders of the Warrants (the “Warrantholders”) 
and no person shall be liable for so treating such holders.

(c) Transactions
Transfers and exercise of Warrants may only be effected through Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. Title will pass upon registration of the transfer in the books of Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, as the case may be.

2. Status
The Warrants represent unsubordinated and unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer. 

The Warrants rank equally among themselves and, save for such exceptions as may be provided by 
applicable legislation, pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the 
Issuer.

3. Exercise Rights
(a) Exercise Period—American Style Warrants
Warrants designated in the relevant Terms as “American Style” are exercisable on any 

Business Day during the period from, but excluding, the Issue Date to and including the Final Exercise 
Date (such period, the “Exercise Period”) subject to prior termination of the Warrants as provided in 
Condition 5.

(b) Exercise Period—European Style Warrants
Warrants designated in the relevant Terms as “European Style” are exercisable on the Exercise 

Date or Exercise Dates (or, if such a day is not a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg are open for business (an “Exercisable Business Day”), the next following such day) 
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(each, an “Exercise Date”, the latest such Exercise Date being the “Final Exercise Date”) subject to 
prior termination of the Warrants as provided in Condition 5. 

(c) Entitlement
The rights attaching to each Warrant on exercise (including any provisions relating to 

adjustments, market disruption and certain other matters) will be as set out in the relevant Terms.

(d) Failure to Exercise
Any Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered to Euroclear or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and copied to the Issuer, in the manner set out in 
Condition 4, at or prior to 10.00 a.m. (Brussels or Luxembourg time, as the case may be) on the 
relevant Final Exercise Date shall become void.

4. Exercise Procedure
(a) Exercise Notice
Warrants may be exercised by delivery of a duly completed exercise notice in writing, or by 

tested telex confirmed in writing, in the form (with such amendments as the Issuer may specify) set out 
in the Agency Agreement (copies of which may be obtained from Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg 
or the Issuer) (an “Exercise Notice”) to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, 
with, as a further precondition to exercise, a copy to the Issuer at its specified office, in each case (1) 
(in the case of American Style Warrants) not later than 10.00 a.m. (Brussels or Luxembourg time, 
respectively) on any Business Day (the “Exercise Date”) during the Exercise Period or (2) (in the case 
of European Style Warrants) at any time after 10.00 a.m. (Brussels or Luxembourg time, respectively) 
on the Exercisable Business Day immediately preceding the relevant Exercise Date but not later than 
10.00 a.m. (Brussels or Luxembourg time, respectively) on the relevant Exercise Date:

(i) specifying the number of Warrants being exercised;

(ii) specifying the number of the Warrantholder’s account at Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, as the case may be, to be debited with the Warrants being exercised;

(iii) irrevocably instructing Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, to 
debit on or before the Settlement Date the account of the relevant holder with the 
Warrants being exercised and to credit the account of the Issuer;

(iv) including an irrevocable undertaking to pay any applicable stamp duty, stamp duty 
reserve tax and/or other similar taxes or duties due by reason of the exercise of Warrants 
by such Warrantholder and an authorisation to the Issuer to deduct any such taxes or 
duties from the Settlement Amount or any other amount payable by the Issuer to the 
Warrantholder in connection with the exercise of such Warrants;

(v) specifying the name and the number of the Warrantholder’s account with Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, to be credited with the Settlement 
Amount or any other amount payable by the Issuer to the Warrantholder in connection 
with the exercise of such Warrants;

(vi) certifying that such Warrants are not being exercised by or on behalf of any U.S. persons, 
that payment or delivery with respect to duly exercised Warrants will not be made to, or 
for the account of, a U.S. person and that none of such Warrants was purchased by the 
holder in the United States; and

(vii) authorising the production of such certification in applicable administrative or legal 
proceedings.

(b) Verification of the Warrantholder
Upon receipt of an Exercise Notice, the Issuer shall request Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg, as the case may be, to verify that the person exercising the Warrants specified therein 
was, as at 10.00 a.m. (Brussels or Luxembourg time, as the case may be) on the Exercise Date, the 
holder thereof according to the books of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be. 
If Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, is unable so to verify, such Exercise 
Notice shall be deemed not to have been given. Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case 
may be, will on or before the Settlement Date debit the Warrants being exercised from the account of 
the Warrantholder specified in the Exercise Notice (but without prejudice to the accrued rights of the 
relevant Warrantholder). 
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(c) Settlement
The issuer shall, for each Warrant being exercised, on the Settlement Date transfer or procure 

the transfer of the Settlement Amount, or any other cash payment due in respect of each Warrant in 
accordance with the relevant Terms, less any taxes or duties which the Issuer is authorised to deduct 
under the Exercise Notice, to the Warrantholder’s account as specified in the relevant Exercise Notice, 
for value on the Settlement Date.

(d) Determination
Any determination as to whether an Exercise Notice is duly completed and in proper form shall 

be made by the Issuer and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Calculation Agent (if 
any) and the Warrantholder. Any Exercise Notice so determined to be incomplete or not in proper 
form, or which is not copied to the Issuer immediately after being sent to Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, as the case may be, shall be void. If such Exercise Notice is subsequently corrected to 
the satisfaction of the Issuer, it shall be deemed to be a new Exercise Notice submitted at the time the 
correction is delivered.

(e) Effect of Exercise Notice
Delivery of an Exercise Notice shall constitute an irrevocable election and undertaking by the 

relevant Warrantholder to exercise the Warrants specified therein in the manner specified therein. 
After delivery of such Exercise Notice, such exercising Warrantholder may not otherwise transfer such 
Warrants. Notwithstanding this, if any Warrantholder does so transfer or attempts so to transfer such 
Warrants, the Warrantholder will be liable to the Issuer for any loss, costs and expenses suffered or 
incurred by the Issuer or any of its affiliates through whom it has hedged its position, including those 
suffered or incurred as a consequence of the Issuer or any of its affiliates through whom it has hedged 
its position having terminated or commenced any related hedging operations in reliance on the 
relevant Exercise Notice and subsequently (i) entering into replacement hedging operations in respect 
of such Warrants or (ii) paying any amount on the subsequent exercise of such Warrants without 
having entered into any replacement hedging operations.

5. Illegality
The Issuer shall have the right to terminate the Warrants, by giving notice to the Warrantholders 

and any Calculation Agent appointed in relation to the Warrants, if it determines in good faith that its 
performance thereunder has become unlawful in whole or in part as a result of compliance in good 
faith by the Issuer with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order. or 
directive of any governmental, administrative or judicial authority or power (“Applicable Law”). In such 
circumstances, the Issuer will, however, if and to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, cause to be 
paid to each Warrantholder in respect of each such Warrant held by it an amount determined by the 
Issuer or, if a Calculation Agent has been appointed for the Warrants, the Calculation Agent as 
representing the fair market value of such Warrant immediately prior to such termination (ignoring any 
such illegality). Payment will be made to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, 
in such manner as shall be notified to the Warrantholders in accordance with the procedure set out in 
Condition 11.

6. Purchase by the Issuer
The Issuer may at any time purchase Warrants at any price in the open market or by tender or 

private treaty. Any Warrants so purchased will be surrendered for cancellation and may not be 
reissued or resold.

7. Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable
If a Minimum Exercise Number is specified in the relevant Terms, the Warrants may not be 

exercised in a number less than the Minimum Exercise Number or such multiples in which such 
Warrants may be exercised in accordance with the relevant Terms.

8. Maximum Exercise of Warrants
If Warrants are designated in the relevant Terms as “American Style” and a Maximum Exercise 

Number is specified in the relevant Terms, then if following any Exercise Date other than the Final 
Exercise Date the Issuer determines that more than the Maximum Exercise Number of Warrants (the 
“Quota”) were exercised on such Exercise Date by a single Warrantholder or a group of 
Warrantholders, then the Issuer may deem the Valuation Date for the first Quota of such Warrants 
exercised by such Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders to be the originally applicable Valuation 
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Date for Warrants exercised on such Exercise Date, and the Valuation Date for each additional Quota 
of Warrants (or part thereof, in the case of the last amount) exercised by such Warrantholder or group 
of Warrantholders to be the respective Valuation Dates applicable to each succeeding date following 
such Exercise Date on which such Warrants could have been exercised, until all such Warrants 
exercised on such Exercise Date by such Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders have been given 
a Valuation Date. In any case where more than the Quota of Warrants are so exercised on the same 
day by a Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders acting in concert, the order of settlement in 
respect of such Warrants shall be at the discretion of the Issuer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Issuer may, at any time, in its discretion, accept more than the Quota of Warrants for exercise on any 
Exercise Date.

9. Issuer’s Specified Office and the Calculation Agent
(a) Changes in Specified Office or Calculation Agent
The specified office of the Issuer is set out at the foot of these General Conditions. The Issuer 

reserves the right at any time to change its specified office or to vary or terminate the appointment of any 
Calculation Agent appointed for the Warrants and to appoint other or additional Calculation Agents, 
provided that there will always be a Calculation Agent where so required by the Terms. Notice of any 
variation or termination of appointment and of any changes in the specified office of the Issuer or 
Calculation Agent will be given to the Warrantholders in accordance with the procedures set out in 
Condition 11. The Calculation Agents are acting solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any 
obligations or duty to, or any relationship of agency or trust for or with, the Warrantholders.

(b) Amendments to Agency Agreement
The Agency Agreement may be amended by the parties thereto without the consent of the 

Warrantholders if, in the opinion of such parties, the amendment will not materially and adversely 
affect the interests of the Warrantholders.

(c) Calculation Agent
All calculation functions required of the Calculation Agent under these Conditions and any 

Global Warrant may be delegated to any such person as the Calculation Agent, in its absolute 
discretion, may decide.

(d) Calculations
The Calculation Agent shall have no responsibility for errors or omissions in any calculations 

and determinations made hereunder and all such calculations and determinations shall (save in the 
case of manifest error) be final and binding on the Issuer and the Warrantholders.

10. Further Issues
The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Warrantholders to 

create and issue further Warrants so as to form a single series with the Warrants.

11. Notices
All notices to Warrantholders will be valid if delivered to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

for communication by them to entitled account holders and, so long as the Warrants are listed on the 
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, if published 
in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger 
Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). Any such notice shall be 
deemed to have been given on the date of such delivery and publication or, if so delivered and 
published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first such delivery and publication.

12. Taxation
The Issuer will not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay any tax, duty, withholding or other 

payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer or exercise of any Warrants.

13. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(a) Governing Law:
The Global Warrants and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

them shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of England.

(b) Jurisdiction:
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The Courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in 
connection with any Warrants and accordingly any legal action or proceedings (“Proceedings”) arising 
out of or in connection with any Warrants may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably 
submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and waives any objection to Proceedings in such 
courts whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an 
inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each of the Warrantholders and shall 
not limit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the 
taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other 
jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) to the extent permitted by applicable law.

The Issuer has appointed Dexia Management Services Limited, at Shackleton House, Hay’s 
Galleria, 4 Battle Bridge Lane, London SE1 2RB as its agent in England to receive service of process 
in any Proceedings in England based on any of the Warrants. If for any reason such process agent 
ceases to act as such or no longer has an address in England, the Issuer agrees to appoint a 
substitute process agent and to notify Warrantholders of such appointment.

14. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Warrants under the 

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
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GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE BEARER WARRANTS

The following is the text of the General Conditions of the Bearer Warrants that, subject to 
completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the Terms set out in 
the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants, shall be applicable to the Bearer Warrants. Either (i) the full 
text of these General Conditions together with the relevant provisions of the Final Terms for the 
Warrants or (ii) these General Conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and 
subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such 
Definitive Warrants. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these General Conditions will have the 
meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants. Those definitions will be included 
in the Terms, which shall be endorsed on the Bearer Warrants. References in these Conditions to 
“Warrants” are to the Bearer Warrants of one Series only, not to all Bearer Warrants that may be 
issued under the Programme.

The Warrants are subject to these General Conditions, as modified and/or supplemented by the 
terms of the Warrants (the “Terms”) endorsed hereon. The Warrants are issued under the Programme 
of the Issuer for the issue of Euro Medium Term Notes and Warrants. Expressions used herein and 
not defined shall have the meaning given to them in the Terms. References in these General 
Conditions to “Calculation Agent” are to the Calculation Agent (if any) appointed in relation to the 
Warrants and specified in the Terms.

1. Form and Title
(a) Form
The Warrants are issued in bearer form.

(b) Title
Title to the Warrants shall pass by delivery. Except as ordered by a court of competent 

jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder of any Warrant shall be deemed to be and may be treated 
as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of 
ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it or its theft or loss and no person shall be liable for 
so treating such holders.

In these General Conditions, “Warrantholder” and “holder” mean the bearer of any Warrant.

2. Status
The Warrants represent unsubordinated and unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer. 

The Warrants rank equally among themselves and, save for such exceptions as may be provided by 
applicable legislation, pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the 
Issuer.

3. Exercise Rights
(a) Exercise Period—American Style Warrants
Warrants designated in the relevant Terms as “American Style” are exercisable on any 

Business Day during the period from, but excluding, the Issue Date to and including the Final Exercise 
Date (such period, the “Exercise Period”) subject to prior termination of the Warrants as provided in 
Condition 5.

(b) Exercise Period—European Style Warrants
Warrants designated in the relevant Terms as “European Style” are exercisable on the Exercise 

Date or Exercise Dates (or, if such a day is not a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg are open for business (an “Exercisable Business Day”), the next following such day) 
(each an “Exercise Date”, the latest such Exercise Date being the “Final Exercise Date”) subject to 
prior termination of the Warrants as provided in Condition 5.

(c) Entitlement
The rights attaching to each Warrant on exercise (including any provisions relating to 

adjustments, market disruption and certain other matters) will be as set out in the relevant Terms.
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(d) Failure to Exercise
Any Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered to the Issuer in the 

manner set out in Condition 4, at or prior to 10.00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Final 
Exercise Date shall become void.

4. Exercise Procedure
(a) Exercise Notice
Each Warrant may be exercised by presentation and surrender of such Warrant together with a 

duly completed exercise notice in writing (copies of which may be obtained from the specified office 
of the Issuer) (an “Exercise Notice”) to the Issuer at its specified office (1) (in the case of American 
Style Warrants) not later than 10.00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on any Business Day (the “Exercise 
Date”) during the Exercise Period or (2) (in the case of European Style Warrants) at any time after 
10.00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on the Exercisable Business Day immediately preceding the relevant 
Exercise Date but not later than 10.00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Exercise Date: (i) 
specifying the number of Warrants being exercised; (ii) including an irrevocable undertaking to pay 
any applicable stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other similar taxes or duties due by reason 
of the exercise of Warrants by such Warrantholder and an authorisation to the Issuer to deduct any 
such taxes or duties from the Settlement Amount or any other amount payable by the Issuer to the 
Warrantholder in connection with the exercise of such Warrants; (iii) certifying that such Warrants are 
not being exercised by or on behalf of any U.S. persons, that payment or delivery with respect to duly 
exercised Warrants will not be made to, or for the account of, a U.S. person and that none of such 
Warrants was purchased by the holder in the United States; and (iv) authorising the production of 
such certification in applicable administrative or legal proceedings.

(b) Settlement
The Issuer shall, for each Warrant being exercised, pay the Settlement Amount, or any other 

cash payment due in respect of each Warrant in accordance with the relevant Terms, less any taxes 
or duties which the Issuer is authorised to deduct under the Exercise Notice, in accordance with 
Condition 9 on the Settlement Date. 

(c) Determination
Any determination as to whether an Exercise Notice is duly completed and in proper form and 

accompanied by the correct Warrants shall be made by the Issuer and shall be conclusive and binding 
on the Issuer, the Calculation Agent (if any) and the Warrantholder. Any Exercise Notice so 
determined to be incomplete or not in proper form shall be void. If such Exercise Notice is 
subsequently corrected to the satisfaction of the Issuer, it shall be deemed to be a new Exercise 
Notice submitted at the time the correction is delivered.

(d) Effect of Exercise Notice
Delivery of an Exercise Notice together with the surrender of one or more Warrants shall 

constitute an irrevocable election and undertaking by the relevant Warrantholder to exercise the 
Warrants so delivered and surrendered and specified in the Exercise Notice in the manner specified in 
the Exercise Notice.

5. Illegality
The Issuer shall have the right to terminate the Warrants, by giving notice to the Warrantholders 

and any Calculation Agent appointed in relation to the Warrants, if it determines in good faith that its 
performance thereunder has become unlawful in whole or in part as a result of compliance in good 
faith by the Issuer with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or 
directive of any governmental, administrative or judicial authority or power (“Applicable Law”). In such 
circumstances, the Issuer will, however, if and to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, cause to be 
paid to each Warrantholder in respect of each such Warrant held by it an amount determined by the 
Issuer or, if a Calculation Agent has been appointed for the Warrants, the Calculation Agent as 
representing the fair market value of such Warrant immediately prior to such termination (ignoring any 
such illegality). The Issuer shall notify the Warrantholders of the termination in accordance with the 
procedure set out in Condition 13. Payment will be made to the Warrantholders in accordance with the 
procedures described in Condition 9 or in such other manner as shall be notified to the 
Warrantholders.
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6. Purchase by the Issuer
The Issuer may at any time purchase Warrants at any price in the open market or by tender or 

private treaty. Any Warrants so purchased will be surrendered for cancellation and may not be 
reissued or resold.

7. Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable
If a Minimum Exercise Number is specified in the relevant Terms, the Warrants may not be 

exercised in a number less than the Minimum Exercise Number or such multiples in which such 
Warrants may be exercised in accordance with the relevant Terms.

8. Maximum Exercise of Warrants
If Warrants are designated in the relevant Terms as “American Style” and a Maximum Exercise 

Number is specified in the relevant Terms, then if following any Exercise Date other than the Final 
Exercise Date the Issuer determines that more than the Maximum Exercise Number of Warrants (the 
“Quota”) were exercised on such Exercise Date by a single Warrantholder or a group of 
Warrantholders, then the Issuer may deem the Valuation Date for the first Quota of such Warrants 
exercised by such Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders to be the originally applicable Valuation 
Date for Warrants exercised on such Exercise Date, and the Valuation Date for each additional Quota 
of Warrants (or part thereof, in the case of the last amount) exercised by such Warrantholder or group 
of Warrantholders to be the respective Valuation Dates applicable to each succeeding date following 
such Exercise Date on which such Warrants could have been exercised, until all such Warrants 
exercised on such Exercise Date by such Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders have been given 
a Valuation Date. In any case where more than the Quota of Warrants are so exercised on the same 
day by a Warrantholder or group of Warrantholders acting in concert, the order of settlement in 
respect of such Warrants shall be at the discretion of the Issuer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Issuer may, at any time, in its discretion, accept more than the Quota of Warrants for exercise on any 
Exercise Date. 

9. Payments
Payments of the Settlement Amount and any other amounts due in respect of the Warrants 

shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Warrants at the specified office of 
the Issuer on the Settlement Date by a cheque payable in the currency in which such payment is due 
drawn on, or at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency with, a 
bank in the principal financial centre for that currency; provided that, in the case of payment in 
Japanese yen to a non- resident of Japan, the transfer shall be to a non-resident Japanese yen 
account with an authorised foreign exchange bank.

10. Replacement of Warrants
If a Warrant is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to 

applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the Issuer or 
specified office of such agent of the Issuer as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for 
the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Warrantholders, in each case on payment by 
the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence 
security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed 
Warrant is subsequently presented for exercise or payment, there shall be paid to the Issuer on 
demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Warrants) and otherwise as the Issuer 
may require. Mutilated or defaced Warrants must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

11. Issuer’s Specified Office and the Calculation Agent
(a) Changes in Specified Office or Calculation Agent
The specified office of the Issuer is set out at the foot of these General Conditions. The Issuer 

reserves the right at any time to change its specified office or to vary or terminate the appointment of 
any Calculation Agent appointed for the Warrants and to appoint other or additional Calculation 
Agents, provided that there will always be a Calculation Agent (which may be the Issuer) where so 
required by the Terms. Notice of any variation or termination of appointment and of any changes in the 
specified office of the Issuer or Calculation Agent will be given to the Warrantholders in accordance 
with the procedures set out in Condition 13. The Calculation Agents are acting solely as agents of the 
Issuer and do not assume any obligations or duty to, or any relationship of agency or trust for or with, 
the Warrantholders.
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(b) Calculation Agent
All calculation functions required of the Calculation Agent under these Conditions and any 

Warrant may be delegated to any such person as the Calculation Agent, in its absolute discretion, may 
decide.

(c) Calculations
The Calculation Agent shall have no responsibility for errors or omissions in any calculations 

and determinations made hereunder and all such calculations and determinations shall (save in the 
case of manifest error) be final and binding on the Issuer and the Warrantholders.

12. Further Issues
The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Warrantholders to 

create and issue further Warrants so as to form a single series with the Warrants.

13. Notices
All notices to Warrantholders will be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation 

in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) except that for so long as the 
Warrants are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that 
exchange so require, such notices shall be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in 
Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). If any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly 
given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in 
Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if 
published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first such publication. 

14. Taxation
The Issuer will not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay any tax, duty, withholding or other 

payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer or exercise of any Warrants.

15. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(a) Governing Law:
The Warrants, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them, 

shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of Luxembourg.

(b) Jurisdiction:
The Courts of Luxembourg are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or 

in connection with any Warrants and accordingly any legal action or proceedings (“Proceedings”) 
arising out of or in connection with any Warrants may be brought in such courts. The Issuer 
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of Luxembourg and waives any objection to 
Proceedings in such courts whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings 
have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each of the 
Warrantholders and shall not limit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any court of 
competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the 
taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) to the extent permitted by 
applicable law.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES 
WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Initial Issue of Notes
If the Global Notes or the Registered Note Global Certificates are stated in the applicable Final 

Terms to be issued in respect of Senior Notes and issued in NGN form or to be held under the NSS 
(as the case may be), the Global Notes or the Registered Note Global Certificates will be delivered on 
or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Global 
Notes or the Registered Note Global Certificates with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily 
mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-
day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such 
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.

Global Notes which are issued in CGN form and Registered Note Global Certificates which are 
not held under the NSS may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a 
Common Depositary.

If the Global Note is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with a common depositary 
for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”) or registration of Registered 
Notes in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the 
relative Registered Note Global Certificate to the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount 
thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. If the Global Note is a NGN, the nominal amount of the 
Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing system shall be conclusive evidence of the 
nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note and a statement issued by such clearing 
system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing system at that 
time.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the 
accounts of subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) other clearing systems through 
direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by such other clearing 
systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be 
credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing 
systems.

Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems
Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or any other 

permitted clearing system (an “Alternative Clearing System”) as the holder of a Note represented by a 
Registered Note Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such 
Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to 
the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, 
and in relation to all other rights arising under the Registered Note Global Notes, subject to and in 
accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such 
Alternative Clearing System. Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of 
payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Registered Note Global 
Note and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global 
Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount 
so paid. 

Exchange
1. Temporary Global Notes
Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its 

Exchange Date:

(i) if the relevant Final Terms indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with 
the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see 
“Summary of the Programme—Selling Restrictions”), in whole, but not in part, for the 
Definitive Notes defined and described below; and
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(ii) otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the 
form set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so 
provided in the relevant Final Terms, for Definitive Notes.

Each temporary Global Note that is also an Exchangeable Bearer Note will be exchangeable for 
Registered Notes in accordance with the Conditions in addition to any permanent Global Note or 
Definitive Notes for which it may be exchangeable and, before its Exchange Date, will also be 
exchangeable in whole or in part for Registered Notes only.

2. Permanent Global Notes
Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its 

Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided below, in part for Definitive Notes or, in the case 
of (iii) below, Registered Notes:

(i) unless principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, by the Issuer giving notice 
to the Noteholders and the Fiscal Agent of its intention to effect such exchange;

(ii) if the relevant Final Terms provides that such Global Note is exchangeable at the request 
of the holder, by the holder giving notice to the Fiscal Agent of its election for such 
exchange;

(iii) if the permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note, by the holder giving notice 
to the Fiscal Agent of its election to exchange the whole or a part of such Global Note for 
Registered Notes; and

(iv) otherwise, (1) if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed 
for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, 
statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in 
fact does so, (2) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due by the holder 
giving notice to the Fiscal Agent of its election for such exchange or (3) in such 
circumstances as are specified in the relevant Final Terms.

3. Registered Note Global Certificates
If the Final Terms state that the Notes are to be represented by a permanent Registered Note 

Global Certificate on issue, transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Registered 
Note Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b) (Transfers of Registered Notes) may only be made 
in part:

(i) if the Notes represented by the Registered Note Global Certificate are held on behalf of 
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such 
clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by 
reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to 
cease business or does in fact do so; or

(ii) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due; or

(iii) in such circumstances as are specified in the relevant Final Terms; or

(iv) with the consent of the Issuer,

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to (i) or (ii) above, the 
Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days’ notice at its specified office of the 
Registered Holder’s intention to effect such transfer.

4. Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes
For so long as a permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of 

that clearing system permit, such permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more 
occasions (1) for Registered Notes if the permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note and 
the part submitted for exchange is to be exchanged for Registered Notes, or (2) for Definitive Notes (i) 
if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due or (ii) if so provided in, and in accordance 
with, the Conditions (which will be set out in the relevant Final Terms) relating to Partly-Paid Notes.

5. Delivery of Notes
If the Global Note is a CGN, on or after any due date for exchange the holder of a Global Note 

may surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or 
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to the order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, 
the Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, 
deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to 
that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a 
subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect 
such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes or Registered 
Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and 
authenticated Definitive Notes and/or Registered Note Certificates, as the case may be, or if the 
Global Note is a NGN, the Issuer will procure that details of such exchange be entered pro rata in the 
records of the relevant clearing system. In this Prospectus, “Definitive Notes” means, in relation to any 
Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, 
having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or Instalment Amounts that 
have not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed 
and Registered Note Certificates will be printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock 
exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Agency 
Agreement. On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so 
requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive 
Notes.

6. Exchange Date
“Exchange Date” means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry 

of 40 days after its issue date and, in relation to a permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 
60 days, or in the case of an exchange for Registered Notes five days, or in the case of failure to pay 
principal in respect of any Notes when due 30 days after that on which the notice requiring exchange 
is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Fiscal 
Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

Amendment to Conditions
The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Registered Note Global Certificates 

contain provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the 
terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this Prospectus. The following is a summary of certain of 
those provisions:

1. Payments
No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless 

exchange for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes is 
improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in compliance with the 
D Rules before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-
U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of 
Notes represented by a Global Note in CGN form, will be made against presentation for endorsement 
and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or 
to the order of the Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the 
Noteholders for such purpose. If the Global Note is a CGN, a record of each payment so made will be 
endorsed on each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment 
has been made in respect of the Notes. Condition 7(e)(vii) and Condition 8(d) of the terms and 
conditions (in relation to Senior Notes) and Condition 6(e)(vii) and Condition 7(d) of the terms and 
conditions (in relation to Subordinated Notes) will apply to the Definitive Notes only. For so long as 
Notes are represented by a Global Certificate, notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 7(b)(ii) (in 
respect of Senior Notes) and Condition 6(b)(ii) (in respect of Subordinated Notes), each payment will 
be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered in the Register at the close of 
business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where 
“Clearing System Business Day” means Monday to Friday inclusive except 1 January and 
25 December. If the Global Note is a NGN or if the Registered Note Global Certificate is held under 
the NSS, the Issuer shall procure the details of each such payment shall be entered pro rata in the 
records of the relevant clearing system and in the case of payments of principal, the nominal amount 
of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant clearing system and represented by the Global 
Note or the Registered Note Global Certificate will be reduced accordingly. Payments under a NGN 
will be made to its holder. Each payment so made will discharge the Issuer’s obligations in respect 
thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the relevant clearing system shall not affect 
such discharge. For so long as Notes are represented by a Global Note, Condition 7(h) (in respect of 
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Senior Notes) and Condition 6(h) (in respect of Subordinated Notes) is modified with the effect that 
“business day” means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign 
exchange markets are open for business in the relevant Additional Financial Centre and:

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than EUR) where payment is to be made by 
transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign 
exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial 
centre of the country of such currency or

(ii) (in the case of a payment in EUR) on a day on which the TARGET system is operating.

2. Prescription
Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent Global Note 

will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of ten years (in the case of 
principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in 
Condition 9 in the case of the Senior Notes and in Condition 8 in the case of the Subordinated Notes).

3. Meetings
The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Registered Note 

Global Certificate shall (unless such permanent Global Note or Registered Note Global Certificate 
represents only one Note) be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any quorum 
requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, the holder of a permanent Global 
Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each minimum Specified Denomination of Notes 
for which such Global Note may be exchanged. (All holders of Registered Notes are entitled to one 
vote in respect of each Note comprising such Noteholder’s holding, whether or not represented by a 
Registered Note Global Certificate).

4. Cancellation
Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note that is required by the 

Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the 
nominal amount of the relevant permanent Global Note.

5. Purchase
Notes represented by a permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the Issuer or any of 

its subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest 
and Instalment Amounts (if any) thereon.

6. Issuer’s Option
Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are 

represented by a permanent Global Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the 
Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Conditions, 
except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn in the case of 
a partial exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event that 
any option of the Issuer is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the 
rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the 
standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear France (to be reflected in the 
records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear, France as either a pool factor or a 
reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion or any other Alternative Clearing System (as the case 
may be).

7. Noteholders’ Options
Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are 

represented by a permanent Global Note may be exercised by the holder of the permanent Global 
Note giving notice to the Fiscal Agent within the time limits relating to the deposit of Notes with a 
Paying Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form of the notice available from any Paying 
Agent, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of the Notes in 
respect of which the option has been exercised, and stating the nominal amount of Notes in respect of 
which the option is exercised and at the same time, where the permanent Global Note is a CGN, 
presenting the permanent Global Note to the Fiscal Agent, or to a Paying Agent acting on behalf of the 
Fiscal Agent, for notation. Where the Global Note is a NGN or where the Registered Note Global 
Certificate is held under the NSS, the Issuer shall procure that details of such exercise shall be 
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entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and the nominal amount of the Notes 
recorded in those records will be reduced accordingly. 

8 NGN nominal amount
Where the Global Note is a NGN, the Issuer shall procure that any exchange, payment, 

cancellation, exercise of any option or any right under the Notes, as the case may be, in addition to 
the circumstances set out above shall be entered in the records of the relevant clearing systems and 
upon any such entry being made, in respect of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes 
represented by such Global Note shall be adjusted accordingly.

9. Events of Default
Each Global Note provides that the holder may cause such Global Note, or a portion of it, to 

become due and repayable in the circumstances described in Condition 10 of the Senior Notes or 
Condition 9 of the Subordinated Notes by stating in the notice to the Fiscal Agent the nominal amount 
of such Global Note that is becoming due and repayable. If principal in respect of any Note is not paid 
when due, the holder of a Global Note or Registered Notes represented by a Registered Note Global 
Certificate may elect for direct enforcement rights against the Issuer to come into effect in relation to 
the whole or a part of such Global Note or one or more Registered Notes in favour of the persons 
entitled to such part of such Global Note or such Registered Notes, as the case may be, as 
accountholders with a clearing system under the terms of an amended and restated Deed of Covenant 
executed as a deed by the Issuer on 31 March, 2011 in relation to Senior Notes that are not 
denominated in Luxembourg francs or EUR, and under the terms of an amended and restated 
Undertaking governed by Luxembourg law executed by the Issuer on 31 March, 2011 in relation to 
Senior Notes that are denominated in Luxembourg francs or EUR and, in the case of Dexia BIL, 
Subordinated Notes. Following any such acquisition of direct rights, the Global Note or, as the case 
may be, the Registered Note Global Certificate and the corresponding entry in the register kept by the 
Registrar will become void as to the specified portion or Registered Notes, as the case may be. 
However, no such election may be made in respect of Notes represented by a Registered Note Global 
Certificate unless the transfer of the whole or a part of the holding of Notes represented by that 
Registered Note Global Certificate shall have been improperly withheld or refused. 

10. Notices
So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf 

of a clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the 
relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in 
substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the 
holder of the Global Note except that so long as the Notes are listed on the Official List of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, notices shall also be 
published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be 
the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

Partly-Paid Notes
The provisions relating to Partly-Paid Notes are not set out in this Prospectus, but will be 

contained in the relevant Final Terms and thereby in the Global Notes. For so long as any instalments 
of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly-Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a 
Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a permanent Global Note or 
for Definitive Notes (as the case may be). In the event that any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment 
due on any Partly-Paid Notes within the time specified, the Issuer may be entitled to forfeit such Notes 
and shall have no further obligation to their holder in respect of them.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes and Warrants will be used for the general financing 
purposes of the Issuer. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of 
proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants, as the case 
may be.
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DEXIA BANQUE INTERNATIONALE A LUXEMBOURG, SOCIETE ANONYME

Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme (the “Issuer”, “Dexia BIL” or the 
“Bank”), together with Dexia Belgium in Belgium and Dexia Crédit Local in France, is a member of the 
European banking group Dexia (“Dexia Group” or “the Group”). Dexia BIL’s main business activities 
cover the fields of commercial banking, private banking, financial banking, asset management and 
investment fund administration services.

Introduction
Dexia BIL was incorporated in Luxembourg on 8 March, 1856 in the form of a société anonyme

(limited liability company), governed by Luxembourg law. Its registered office is located at 69, route 
d’Esch, Luxembourg, L-1470 Luxembourg, telephone number +352 45901. Dexia BIL is registered in 
the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under number B-6307.

Dexia BIL’s duration is unlimited.

Objects
Dexia BIL’s statuts (articles of incorporation) were approved by the royal grand ducal decrees of 

8 March and 14 April, 1856 and have been amended from time to time. Amendments to the statuts are 
published in the Mémorial C, Recueil des Sociétés et Associations (the “Mémorial”). The most recent 
amendment was made on 16 November, 2010 and published in the Mémorial on 20 January, 2011.

The objects of Dexia BIL are to undertake all banking and financial operations of whatsoever 
kind, and, inter alia, to accept deposits from the public or any other person or institutions and to grant 
credit for its own account. It may also undertake all activities reserved for investment firms and to other 
professionals in the financial sector and all financial, administrative, management and advisory 
operations directly or indirectly related to its activities. It may establish subsidiaries, branches and 
agencies in or outside Luxembourg and participate in all financial, commercial and industrial 
operations.

History
Dexia BIL is a leading bank in the Luxembourg financial centre in terms of total assets and 

number of employees and is also the oldest bank in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Since it was 
founded, it has played an active role in shaping the development of Luxembourg’s economy.

In 1991 Crédit Communal de Belgique became the Bank’s principal shareholder, owning 51 per 
cent. of its capital. In 1996, the Dexia Group was created by a cross-border merger of Crédit 
Communal de Belgique and Crédit local de France. Currently the Dexia Group holds 99.94 per cent. of 
the shares in Dexia BIL.

To underline its importance within the Dexia Group, Banque Internationale à Luxembourg 
changed its trading name to Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme on 27 May, 
2000. The Dexia logo is now used by all the Group’s operating companies. Crédit Communal de 
Belgique has been Dexia Banque since 21 May, 2000 and Crédit Local de France is now Dexia Crédit 
Local. The signs on Dexia buildings are shared worldwide and strengthen the coherence of the 
Group’s brand image.

Commercial banking
Dexia BIL has approximately forty retail branches in Luxembourg offering a fast and efficient 

service and providing customers with a simple and comprehensive range of products at 
competitive rates.

Dexia BIL’s commitment to quality of service manifests itself in the modernisation of network 
facilities and the creation of automatic branches in the form of servibank terminals offering a range of 
banking activities at each branch, which allows Dexia BIL to position itself favourably in an evolving  
financial world.

Private banking
Dexia BIL provides Affluent and High Net Worth Individuals with a state-of-art and personalised 

International Private and Personal offering through our Private Banking network.
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Dexia BIL’s client advisers have considerable expertise in the financial, legal or tax aspects of 
wealth management and they work with internal experts to deliver a value added offering from 
Luxembourg and Switzerland to private and personal clients of Luxembourg, continental Europe and
other selected high growth geographies.

The services offered notably cover discretionary and advisory management but also 
international financial and non-financial products and services. The focus is put on relationships and 
services tailor-made and dedicated to the individual client.

The range of investment solutions opens opportunities for investments in financial products (i.e. 
Sicavs and other types of collective investment funds (including FCPs, UCITS and UCIs), alternative 
management products, life insurance products and guaranteed capital products) but also in non-
financial solutions (Soparfi, SPV, SPF, Securitisation vehicles, SIF, alternative investment fund 
structures and Sicar, for instance) 

Financial banking

Through its membership of the Dexia Group, Dexia BIL has built up its activities in the capital 
markets. It pursues an aggressive international lending strategy with creditworthy partners.

Dexia BIL has a key role to play in the Dexia Group’s capital market business. Under the name 
of Dexia Capital Markets, it aims to provide a complete range of financing services not only to 
members of the Dexia Group as well as providing funding and balance sheet-management solutions, 
but also to all other clients, by exploiting the opportunities offered by the markets.

Asset management
For several years the Dexia Group, primarily through Dexia BIL and its subsidiaries, has been 

developing asset management services for its private clients.

Created in Luxembourg in 1999, Dexia Asset Management brings together the various asset 
management teams within Dexia.

Today, Dexia Asset Management is one of the largest asset management companies in 
Europe. The company offers a broad range of equity, bond and speciality funds for private and 
institutional investors. In the Sustainable and Responsible Investment (SRI) segment, Dexia Asset 
Management is market leader in Europe.

Investment fund administration services
Dexia BIL is a market leader in Luxembourg in Undertakings for Collective Investment (UCIs) in 

terms of the number of UCIs handled according to Fitzrovia.

Today, Dexia BIL, through RBC Dexia Investor Services, is a key player in Europe and Asia in 
the fields of global custody, trustee and administration of investment funds, pension funds and 
managed accounts.

RBC Dexia Investor Services offers institutional investors worldwide an integrated suite of 
products. RBC Dexia Investor Services ranks among the 10 largest custodian banks worldwide 
(Fininfo).

RBC Dexia Investor Services is a joint venture equally owned by Royal Bank of Canada and 
Dexia.

Risk Management
Monitoring of the risks relating to the Issuer and its operations and the banking industry is 

performed jointly by the appropriate committees and the Risk Management department, with the help 
of tools that it develops, in compliance with the guidelines established by the Dexia Group and all legal 
constraints and rules of prudence. As regards the supervision of risks in the subsidiaries and 
branches, the Issuer has its own local risk management structure. The risk management structures 
are strictly independent of the front-offices and reporting to the Issuer’s Local Risk Management 
department either directly (branches) or functionally (subsidiaries). The Issuer’s control and 
management of credit risk is the responsibility of Credit Risks, which comes under the management of 
Finance and Risks. Credit Risks sets out the risk policy and credit procedures, monitors adherence to 
the regulations of the Manuel de Procédures et de Politique de Crédit (MPPC – Credit Policy and 
Procedures Manual) and oversees the Dexia group’s credit risk policies relating to counterparty risk. 
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Credit Risks plays an active part in taking decisions in various specialised risk committees at both 
local and group level.

Shareholders
Dexia BIL’s majority shareholder is Dexia S.A. which holds a direct participation in Dexia BIL’s 

capital (57.68 per cent.) and an indirect participation via Dexia Participation Luxembourg S.A. 
(42.23 per cent.).

Principal Subsidiaries
At 31 December, 2010, Dexia BIL held a direct interest of at least 20 per cent. in the capital of 

the following undertakings: 

Proportion of
Name of Company Registered Office Capital held directly

BIL Invest N.V. Curaçao, Netherlands Antilles 100.00%

BIL RE S.A. Luxembourg 100.00%

BILTRUST Limited St Peter Port, Guernsey 100.00%

Compagnie Financière BIL S.A. & Cie S.e.c.s. Luxembourg 99.99%

Dexia Asset Management Luxembourg S.A. Luxembourg 51.00%

Dexia Bank Denmark A/S Copenhagen, Denmark 100.00%

Dexia Banque Privée (Suisse) S.A. Zurich, Switzerland 100.00%

Dexia BIL Asia Singapore Limited Singapore 100.00%

Dexia LdG Banque S.A. Luxembourg 100.00%

Dexia Jersey Ltd, in liquidation St. Helier, Jersey 100.00%

Dexia Private Bank Monaco Monaco 99.996%

Dexia Securities France Holding S.A. Paris, France 100.00%

Europay Luxembourg S.C. Luxembourg 31.50%

Experta Corporate and Trust Services S.A. Luxembourg 100.00%

I.B. Finance S.A. Luxembourg 100.00%

Neracaise de Participations S.A. Paris, France 34.00%

Nexis S.A. Panama 100.00%

Popular Banca Privada S.A. Madrid, Spain 40.00%

RBC Dexia Investor Services Ltd London, UK 50.00%

Société de la Bourse de Luxembourg S.A. Luxembourg 21.41%

Société Luxembourgeoise de Leasing - BIL Lease S.A. Luxembourg 100.00%

Truswell S.I.T.C Taipei, Taiwan 20.00%

Dexia Auto Lease Luxembourg Luxembourg 51.00%
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Board of Directors and Management
Dexia BIL is managed by a Board of Directors.

Board of Directors
Frank Wagener, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dexia BIL, Brouch/Wecker
René Steichen, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Dexia BIL, Diekirch
Marc Croonen, Member of the Board of Dexia S.A., Brussels
Stefaan Decraene, Member of the Board of Dexia SA, Bruxelles 
Fernand Fischer, Member of the Staff Committee of Dexia BIL, Bertrange
Pierre Mariani, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Management Board of Dexia S.A., 
Paris
Claude Piret, Member of the Board of Dexia S.A., Brussels
Philippe Rucheton, Member of the Board of Dexia SA, Bruxelles
Jean-Louis Schiltz, Member of the Board of Directors of Dexia BIL, Luxembourg 
Serge Schimoff, Member of the Staff Committee of Dexia BIL, Olm
Olivier Van Herstraeten, Member of the Board of Dexia S.A., Brussels
Donny Wagner, Member of the Staff Committee of Dexia BIL, Mondorf
Fernand Welschbillig, Member of the Staff Committee of Dexia BIL, Wecker

Management Board
Frank Wagener, Chairman ad interim
Michael Buysschaert, Member 
Thierry Delroisse, Member
Benoît Holzem, Member
André Lecoq, Member
Pierre Malevez, Member
Bernard Mommens, Member
Claude Schon, Member
Dexia BIL is not aware of any potential conflict of interest between the duties to Dexia BIL of the 

Directors and their private interests or other duties.
The business address of each of the Directors is 69, route d’Esch, Luxembourg, L-1470 

Luxembourg.

Fiscal Year and Accounts
Dexia BIL’s fiscal year corresponds to the calendar year. For the financial years starting 

1 January 2008, 1 January 2009 and 1 January 2010, the consolidated financial statements of Dexia 
BIL have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the EU. 

Auditors
Since 1 January 2008, the auditors of the Issuer have been Deloitte SA, 560 rue de Neudorf, L-

2220 Luxembourg.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
These financial highlights have been extracted without material adjustment from the audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the years ended 31 December 2008,
2009 and 2010 prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Information

31 December, 31 December, 31 December,
2008 2009 2010

–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(in EUR) (in EUR) (in EUR)

Assets
Cash, balances with central banks & loans
due from banks………………………………. 23,349,245,283 18,144,688,043 14,234,779,385
Loans & advances to customers…………… 19,719,504,114 15,822,174,937 15,000,485,945
Securities …………………………………….. 19,526,167,024 14,765,974,486 11,744,116,243
Other assets………………………………….. 3,968,263,738 2,563,809,483 2,451,925,967

–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total assets…………………………………... 66,563,180,159 51,296,646,949 43,431,307,540

–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Liabilities
Due to banks………………………………… 29,758,417,983 13,489,214,172 8,536,239,923
Due to customers & debt securities………. 30,370,219,078 31,960,131,223 28,885,602,612
Provisions……………………………………. 199,076,985 210,346,586 215,116,222
Loan capital………………………………….. 910,512,221 898,805,333 942,425,225
Share capital & reserves…………………… 1,378,367,757 2,004,887,955 2,169,466,155
Result for the financial year………………... 52,789,256 244,802,264 240,281,500
Other liabilities………………………………. 3,893,796,879 2,488,459,416 2,442,175,903

–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total liabilities……………………………….. 66,563,180,159 51,296,646,949 43,431,307,540

–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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DEXIA GROUP

Dexia is a European banking group, with about 35,200 members of staff and core shareholders’ 
equity of EUR 19.2 billion as at 31 December 2010. The Group carries out its activities principally in 
Belgium, Luxembourg, France and Turkey.

The Dexia share is listed on Euronext Brussels and Paris and the Luxembourg Stock Ex-
change, and is included in the BEL20, reference index of the Brussels Stock Exchange, and the 
Dow Jones EuroStoxx Banks. 
DEXIA 2014: A RETAIL BANK SERVING 10 MILLION CUSTOMERS 

The Dexia Group has posted clear strategic ambitions for 2014 and fixed as objectives:

- to complete its financial restructuring, giving precedence to income from its commercial 
franchises;

- to consolidate and to develop its strong commercial franchises, rebalancing its business line 
portfolio around retail banking, and tapping growth opportunities offered by the market in Turkey;

- to adopt an optimised operational model, supported by the search for synergies and efficiency 
gains.

This return to the essence resulting from the Group’s strategic repositioning is reflected in Dexia’s 
values, whereby members of staff share three aims: respect, excellence and agility. 

BUSINESS LINES

Retail and Commercial Banking

Dexia offers a wide range of retail, commercial and private banking services to over 8 million 
customers.

Dexia ranks among the three largest banks in Belgium and Luxembourg. In Belgium, Dexia 
serves its 4 million customers through a network of approximately 850 branches. The Luxembourg 
operation is the international wealth management centre within the Group; it also covers the country 
with a nationwide network of branches. Dexia also holds a strong position in Turkey, through 
DenizBank, which currently stands in sixth position among privately-held banks and serves its 
customers through a nationwide network of some 500 branches. Besides the retail and commercial 
banking activities, DenizBank is a fully-fledged bank, with a significant corporate activity and offering its 
clients asset management services and insurance products.

The Group aims to continue developing its commercial franchises in Belgium and Luxembourg 
and to capture the significant growth potential of Turkey. The objective is to increase the pro-
portion of income from it retail and commercial banking activities (approximately 60 per cent. of 
the Group’s total income, including 29 per cent. from Turkey) and to achieve a client base of 10 
million (4 million in Belgium and Luxembourg, 6 million in Turkey) by 2014. 
Public and Wholesale Banking

Dexia plays a major role in the financing of local facilities and infrastructures, the health and 
social housing sectors and the social economy, principally in Belgium and France. 

Dexia is also active

- in the field of project finance, adopting a selective approach and in sectors such as 
infrastructures and renewable energies, both in Europe and North America;

- in the field of corporate banking in Belgium, where Dexia focuses on medium-sized 
corporates, whilst maintaining an opportunist presence with large corporates.

In addition, the Group is established in Germany, with an access to the Pfandbriefe market.

Close to its clients and fully in tune with their requirements, Dexia is constantly developing and 
widening its range of products and services. The aim is to go well beyond the role of specialist lender, 
offering clients of the business line integrated solutions (treasury management, budget optimisation, IT 
solutions and so on) most suited to their needs.
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Asset Management and Services
This business line consists of three activities (asset management, investor services and 

insurance), characterised by attractive growth outlook based on a diversified clientele and strong 
collaboration with the Group’s other commercial franchises. 

With EUR 86.4 billion of assets under management as at 31 December 2010, Dexia Asset 
Management is the Group’s asset management centre. Its four management centres (in Belgium, 
France, Luxembourg and Australia) serve a broad client base. 

The investor services business is conducted by RBC Dexia Investor Services, a joint venture 
with Royal Bank of Canada, which offers its expertise in global custody, fund and pension 
administration and shareholder services to institutions all around the world. Total assets under 
administration amounted to EUR 2,101 billion as at 31 December 2010. 

Dexia’s insurance activities are mainly concentrated on the Belgian and Luxembourg markets. 
The Group offers a complete range of life and non-life insurance products to retail, commercial 
and private banking clients as well as to Dexia’s public and semi-public clients, through a 
banking-insurance approach and through a network of tied agents.
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The following is the full text of a press release of Dexia SA dated 23 February 2011*1 (the “Press 
Release”)

Net income Group share of EUR 723 million in 2010 reflecting acceleration of the 
transformation plan

Healthy contribution of the commercial business lines

Tier 1 of 13.1% confirming financial strength
Highlights

Net income Group share of EUR 723 million in 2010 
• Confirmed sustained commercial dynamic: business development on track with road-map 
• Solid contribution of commercial business lines**: +18% pre-tax income yoy (excluding capital 

gains)
• Sharp decrease of the cost of risk despite cost of risk of the Financial Products portfolio up by 

EUR 196 million in 4Q 2010 against 3Q 2010

Acceleration of the transformation in 2010 
• Material improvement of the liquidity profile: short term gap reduced by EUR 141 billion since 

October 2008
• EUR 52.4 billion of asset disposal since 2008 at contained cost thanks to “best execution” 

strategy
• As expected, transformation leading to decreasing Treasury and Legacy revenues

Tier 1 of 13.1% and Core Tier 1 of 12.1% confirming financial strength
• 60 bps of organic Tier 1 generation over 2010
• Regulatory solvency ratio immune from any further provisioning and losses on the Financial 

Products portfolio

** Retail and Commercial Banking (RCB), Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB) and Asset Management and 
Services (AMS)

Jean-Luc Dehaene, Chairman of the Board of Directors, said: “Over the last two years, Dexia has 
undergone major changes leading to a reinforcement of its financial basis, expansion of its client 
franchises and reshape of its operating model. As regularly mentioned, 2010 and 2011 are transition 
years towards a financial and commercial refocus. In what remained a mixed environment, 2010 was 
a year of accelerated transformation and was marked by major achievements of the Group thanks to 
the remarkable mobilization of all members of staff and management. We crossed an important 
milestone by fully exiting from the State guarantee support on funding and the deployment of our 
commercial plan is on track. Therefore, I am fully confident in the Group’s ability to achieve the targets 
it has set for 2014, as communicated on 12 October 2010, leading to the best interests of all 
stakeholders.”

Pierre Mariani, CEO and Chairman of the Management Board, said: “Acceleration of the financial 
restructuring and strategic development of our commercial franchises were our top two priorities in
2010, as announced in our 2008 far-reaching transformation plan and confirmed during our last 
Investor day in October 2010. In that respect, 2010 net income of EUR 723 million meets our 
expectations with, on one side, a solid contribution in progression of 18% of our commercial business 
lines and, on the other hand, a decrease of the financial revenues associated to the Group’s 
commercial refocus and a sharp improvement of its liquidity profile, rebalanced towards long-term 
funding together with a fast pace of asset disposals. The Group financial strength is confirmed with a 
                                           
1 Dexia is a listed company. This press release contains information subject to the transparency regulatins for listed compa-

nies. 
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Tier 1 ratio at 13.1% which will enable Dexia to face the ongoing regulatory changes. As committed, 
the implementation of the transformation will still be on the agenda for 2011."

During its 23 February 2011 meeting, the Board of Directors approved the 4Q and FY 2010 financial 
statements of Dexia.

4Q and FY 2010 reported statement of income and update on the transformation plan

Consolidated statement of income*

In millions of EUR
4Q09** 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009** 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income*** 1,482 1,234 1,214 -18.1% -1.6% 6,184 5,310 -14.1%
Expenses -920 -973 -972 +5.7% -0.1% -3,607 -3,703 +2.7%

Gross operating income 562 261 242 -56.9% -7.3% 2,577 1,607 -37.6%
Cost of risk -275 -49 -201 -26.9% x4.1 -1,096 -641 -41.5%
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations** -37 3 107 n.s. n.s. -78 -42 -46.5%

Pre-tax income 250 215 148 -40.8% -31.2% 1,403 924 -34.1%
Tax expense -56 3 -70 n.s. n.s. -314 -127 -59.6%

Net income 194 218 78 -59.8% -64.2% 1,089 797 -26.8%
Non-controlling interests -8 15 22 n.s. 46.7% 79 74 -6.3%

Net income Group share 202 203 56 -72.3% -72.4% 1,010 723 -28.4%
Return on Equity**** 4.4% 4.2% 1.2% 5.6% 3.8%

Earnings per share (in EUR) 0.11 0.11 0.03 0.55 0.39

* FSA Insurance deconsolidated since 2Q 2009.
** The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income).
*** Income (also mentioned as revenues) = interests, fees, commissions, trading and other income.
**** The ratio between the net income Group share and the weighted average core shareholders’ equity.

Note: 2010 figures unaudited

2010 Dexia Group reported results: net profit of EUR 723 million

At EUR 5,310 million 2010 income was marked by the acceleration of the transformation of the Group 
and in particular by the strengthening of its financial structure. Indeed, the sharp decrease of the 
liquidity gap and the Group’s active deleveraging programme, in line with Dexia’s targets, were 
reflected by a EUR 528 million decrease in Treasury revenues against 2009 record results and a EUR 
283 million loss on margins on run-off assets. Although remaining contained, the cost of deleveraging 
also impacted revenues with a EUR 212 million loss for a total of EUR 27.2 billion of asset sales. The 
stronger contribution from the commercial business lines and the positive effects of the Legacy trading 
portfolio valuation (CDS linked to synthetic securitization and CVA on CDS intermediation) did not fully 
offset this impact. Consequently, income fell by 14% in 2010. Excluding FSA Insurance 
(deconsolidated as from 2Q 2009), the decrease was 9% compared to the FY 2009.

Costs totalled EUR 3,703 million (+2.7% on 2009). Within the context of its restructuring plan, Dexia 
booked EUR 145 million of provisions for restructuring costs in 2010 against EUR 89 million in the 
previous year. Excluding those restructuring costs and reversal of bonuses, costs remained flat. In 
2010, the cost base was also impacted by business-related costs in Turkey resulting from the network 
expansion (+50 branches yoy) and by EUR 52 million of currency impact on RBC Dexia and Deniz-
Bank. The cost-income ratio amounted to 69.7% for the full year 2010.

In 2010, gross operating income was EUR 1,607 million compared to EUR 2,577 million in 
2009.

The cost of risk was down sharply on 2009 (-41%) at EUR 641 million. Excluding FSA Insurance, the 
cost of risk fell by EUR 183 million, reflecting diverging trends. On the one hand, the Group benefited 
from a decrease of the cost of risk in Retail and Commercial Banking (EUR -104 million yoy) mainly 
due to a rapidly improving credit environment in Turkey, EUR 195 million reversals of impairments in 
Public and Wholesale Banking also reflecting an improvement of the environment and EUR 191 
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million reversals on collective impairments for ABS and subordinated debt booked in the bond portfolio 
in run-off following the disposal of assets. On the other hand, 2010 was marked by higher impairments
on the Financial Products portfolio (up EUR 328 million on FY 2009), particularly during the last 
quarter of the year in line with tougher assumptions on the US RMBS market. These provisions have 
not however impacted Dexia’s regulatory solvency ratios which have been immune from losses and 
provisioning on the FP portfolio following the Financial products State Guarantee mechanism (see 
page 11).

Other impairments and provisions for legal litigations amounted to EUR 42 million. 

Consequently, pre-tax income amounted to EUR 924 million against EUR 1,403 million in 2009.

Tax expenses were EUR 127 million and the effective tax rate 14%, principally explained by 
EUR 143 million of one-off positive items: USD 51 million (EUR 39 million) of tax refunds in the US 
(booked in 3Q 2010), EUR 78 million of reversals of Deferred Tax Assets (DTA) or tax provisions and 
tax impacts related to the closure of foreign entities. In 2010, EUR 21 million DTA on timing 
differences on the Financial Products portfolio were also recognized on provisions exceeding the 
economic loss assessment after deduction of the Own Credit Risk. 

After taking EUR 74 million of non-controlling interests into account, net income Group share
amounted to EUR 723 million in 2010 against EUR 1,010 million in 2009.

Earnings per share amounted to EUR 0.39 for 2010. 

As in 2010, the Board of Directors decided on 23 February 2011 to propose to the Extraordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting of 11 May 2011, to approve a capital increase by incorporation of reserves in 
an amount of approximately EUR 280 million by the issue of new shares to shareholders in the form of 
bonus shares. Bonus shares are new ordinary shares representing the capital of Dexia, issued in 
consideration of the capital increase by incorporation of reserves, and issued to shareholders pro rata
to their shareholding. They will have the same dividend right and the same rights as existing Dexia 
shares on their date of issue.

4Q 2010 Dexia Group reported results: net profit of EUR 56 million

In 4Q 2010, income amounted to 1,214 million, down 9% compared to 4Q 2009 excluding the 
EUR 153 million capital gain related to the sale of the Group’s stake in Crédit du Nord booked in 4Q 
2009. The main driver of the decrease in revenues was the ongoing reduction of the liquidity gap 
which, combined with less favourable market conditions, led to lower treasury revenues (EUR -105 
million) versus 4Q 2009.

Costs totalled EUR 972 million up 6% compared to the same quarter in 2009 due to EUR 48 million of 
provisions for restructuring costs in 4Q 2010 and to business-related expenses in Turkey. The cost 
base was also negatively impacted by EUR 38 million currency effect on both RBC Dexia and 
DenizBank.

Gross operating income amounted to EUR 242 million.

The cost of risk fell sharply (-27%) in 4Q 2010 compared to 4Q 2009 to EUR 201 million, driven by 
diverging trends. The cost of risk on Financial Products increased by EUR 92 million on 4Q 2009 to 
EUR 232 million in line with tougher modelling assumptions on the US RMBS market. In contrast, the 
cost of risk in Retail and Commercial Banking fell by 49% at 35 basis points on average customer 
loans and EUR 102 million reversals of provisions substantially reduced the cost of risk of Public and 
Wholesale Banking compared to 4Q 2009.

Other impairments and provisions for legal litigations were impacted by EUR 107 million reversals 
mainly linked to the Ritro litigation in Slovakia.

Consequently, pre-tax income amounted to EUR 148 million. Tax expenses were EUR 70 million 
leading to an effective tax rate of 47% due to the negative impact of deferred tax related to the 
Financial Products portfolio (EUR -101 million) and unused tax losses.

After taking EUR 22 million of non-controlling interests into account, net income Group share
amounted to EUR 56 million in 4Q 2010 against EUR 202 million in 4Q 2009.
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2010: acceleration of the transformation plan

Throughout the year 2010, the Group successfully accelerated its transformation plan leading to a
sharp reduction of its short-term funding requirement and a further consolidation of its financial 
structure despite a turbulent economic environment.

The Group continued to refocus on its main franchises and its historical markets and this was reflected 
by several disposals: sale of the common shares in Assured Guaranty in 1Q 2010, of SPE and Dexia 
Epargne Pension (DEP) in 2Q 2010 and of AdInfo in 3Q 2010. In 4Q 2010, Dexia also concluded an 
agreement with Penta Investments, a Central European investment group, on the sale of its 88.71% 
stake in Dexia banka Slovensko. Regulatory approval has been obtained and the sale is expected to 
be finalized in 1Q 2011, ahead of the target date (31 October 2012) provided for by the European 
Commission decision. Finally, the sale process of DenizEmeklilik, the insurance subsidiary of 
DenizBank in Turkey, has been launched in 4Q 2010. Non-bidding offers have already been received.

In line with the European Commission decision, Dexia also undertook to sell its 70% holding in Dexia 
Crediop (Italy) before 31 October 2012 as well as its 60% holding in Dexia Sabadell (Spain) before 
31 December 2013.

The deleveraging of the balance sheet remains a high priority and Dexia considerably accelerated the 
pace of disposals in 2010. In total, EUR 27.2 billion of bonds and loans were disposed in 2010 at a 
contained 0.78% average rate of loss (impact of EUR 213 million on the statement of income). Thanks 
to its centralized and dedicated teams, a total of EUR 52.4 billion of assets have been sold since 
October 2008 at 0.89% of average loss on nominal through a “best execution strategy”. 

On the bond side, since October 2008, EUR 45.9 billion of Core and Legacy bonds have been sold at 
an average loss of 0.82% of the nominal, of which EUR 22.4 billion in 2010. The sales were mainly 
focused on ABS, MBS and bank debt, the high granularity of the portfolio allowing for a good mix of 
sales opportunities. 55% of the bonds sold were denominated in non-Euro currencies thus strongly 
reducing the Group’s non-Euro liquidity gap. 

Dexia also sold EUR 6.5 billion of non-strategic loans booked in its segment “PWB run-off 
commitments” (of which EUR 4.8 billion in 2010). Those loans were mainly booked in Japan. The 
accelerated pace of sale will enable the group to bring forward the closure of some of its international 
entities in 2011.

The Group is actively pursuing its plan of deleveraging plan in 2011 with a total of EUR 4 billion of 
assets sold as at 22 February 2011 (impact of EUR 44 million on the statement of income or 1.1% of 
average loss on nominal). The total amount of sales targeted in 2011 is approximately EUR 15 billion.

Combined with the swift execution of the long-term funding programme, the reduction of PWB lending 
activity and the increased collection of deposits, the deleveraging enabled the Group to improve its 
liquidity position further. Indeed, at EUR 119 billion at the end of December 2010, Dexia’s short-term 
funding gap was decreased by an impressive EUR 141 billion since the peak it reached in October 
2008, of which a EUR 48 billion decrease was achieved in 2010.

The Group has raised a total of EUR 86.3 billion of wholesale medium and long term resources since 
the end of 2008. In 2010, EUR 44.4 billion were issued through EUR 23.2 billion of government-
guaranteed debt, EUR 13.6 billion of long-dated covered bonds, EUR 4.5 billion of long-term secured 
funding other than covered bonds and EUR 3.2 billion of senior unsecured funding. At the beginning of 
2011 the long-term wholesale funding programme was also solid with slightly more than EUR 4 billion 
issued as at 17 February 2011. The 2011 funding programme has been aligned with investors’ 
appetite and should be around EUR 15 billion.

Furthermore, the successful deployment of the group’s commercial strategy was reflected in RCB and 
PWB deposits, up by EUR 16.6 billion since end of 2008 increasing the base of Dexia’s stable 
resources.

Over the past two years, the Group has not only demonstrated its ability to reduce its short-term 
liquidity gap but also to improve the quality of its short-term funding mix. Indeed, the Government 
guarantee issuance mechanism was discontinued from 1 July 2010 onwards, in line’s with Dexia’s 
decision to exit the State guarantee mechanism earlier than scheduled. As at 31 December 2010, the 
guaranteed short-term outstanding (money market) is nil and the remaining EUR 44.4 billion medium-
term guaranteed debt will amortize by 2014, of which approximately 40% will amortize in 2011.
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Furthermore, Dexia accelerated the cutback of central bank borrowings leading to a EUR 97 billion 
decrease of the outstanding amount of central bank funding between October 2008 when it reached 
the peak of EUR 122 billion and the end of December 2010. As of February 2011, central bank 
borrowings are below pre-crisis levels at EUR 18 billion.

Despite the deleveraging the Group maintains its ability to fund in the repo market and the shift to-
wards longer-term bilateral and tri-party repos was confirmed in 2010. As at the end of December 
2010, the outstanding of bilateral and tri-party repos amounted to EUR 48 billion.

Lastly, the Group still enjoys a comfortable buffer of eligible securities. As at the end of Decem-
ber 2010, eligible securities amounted to EUR 108 billion (of which EUR 42 billion were unen-
cumbered).

As part of its transformation plan, Dexia also undertook  to reduce its cost base by 600 million 
between the end of 2008 and the end of 2011. With EUR 416 million cost reductions between the end 
of 2008 and the end of 2010, the Group is on track to meet this objective.

The Dexia restructuring plan is being monitored by an independent expert commissioned by Dexia 
and the European Commission. The extent to which the objectives are being met will be concluded 
from the report to be issued by the expert by 30 April, 2011. With regard to the commitments related to 
the balance sheet, accounting data as at 31 December, 2010 will be restated, in compliance with the 
measures outlined in the Commission’s decision. 

Results by division

Core Division

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09* 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009* 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income** 1,221 1,241 1,185 -2.9% -4.5% 5,004 4,916 -1.8%
Expenses -889 -941 -943 +6.1% +0.2% -3,444 -3,585 +4.2%

Gross operating income 332 300 243 -27.0% -19.1% 1,560 1,331 -14.7%
Cost of risk -129 -34 45 n.s. n.s. -455 -151 -66.9%
Other impairments & provisions for 
legal litigations* -32 3 107 n.s. n.s. -78 -40 -48.7%

Pre-tax income 171 268 394 x2.3 46.9% 1,027 1,140 11.0%

* The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income).
** Income (also mentioned as revenues) = interests, fees, and commissions, trading and other income.

Note: 2010 figures unaudited

Under the segment reporting introduced in 1Q 2010, the Core Division includes the contributions of
Retail and Commercial Banking (RCB), Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB), Asset Management 
and Services (AMS) and Group Center. 

The capital gains related to the sale of SPE (EUR 69 million) and of DEP (EUR 29 million) both closed 
in 2Q 2010 and of AdInfo (EUR 14 million) closed in 3Q 2010 were recorded in the Core Division. 

In 2010, the Core Division reported a pre-tax income of EUR 1,140 million up 11% on FY 2009 driven 
by diverging trends. Pre-tax of the commercial business lines increased by 18% (excluding the afore-
mentioned capital gains) supported by the strong performance of Retail and Commercial Banking and 
Insurance, a resilient Public and Wholesale Banking activity and a recovery in the financial markets 
driving up Asset Management and Investor Services. In contrast, the strengthening of the Group’s 
liquidity profile, in line with targets, impacted the pre-tax income of the Group Center due to a sharp 
fall in treasury income.

In 4Q 2010, pre-tax income amounted to EUR 394 million, more than twice the level of 4Q 2009 which 
was impacted by a high level of provisions. 
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Retail and Commercial Banking (RCB)

(See business line statement of income in appendix)

The development of its retail franchises is central to Dexia’s commercial strategic plan and the Group 
kept a strong focus on expanding its customer franchise and better serving its client base in 2010. In a 
context of gradual economic recovery, Dexia pursued the development of its “New Distribution Model” 
in Belgium while further strengthening its private banking franchise in Luxembourg. In Turkey, 
DenizBank benefited from the fast growth of the economy, supported by a strong domestic demand, 
increasing foreign trade, and an overall but raising level of bank penetration. 

This positive commercial momentum translated into robust growth in loans and deposits. Total 
customer loans rose by EUR 5 billion (of which EUR 3 billion of business loans and EUR 1.7 billion of 
mortgages) and reached EUR 56 billion at year-end.

The deposit collection recorded a strong 8% increase (EUR +6.2 billion to EUR 87.7 billion) on FY 
2009, of which 40% from Turkey. In Belgium, the product mix remained oriented towards savings 
accounts as retail and private customers remained very cautious in the light of still uncertain financial 
markets. This principally explained the 3% fall in off-balance-sheet assets (excluding life insurance 
products) which amounted to EUR 36 billion at year-end 2010. Life insurance technical reserves were 
up 10% on 2009 at EUR 11.9 billion, driven by guaranteed-yield insurance products (branch 21) in 
Belgium and unit-linked contracts in Luxembourg.

In Belgium, 2010 was an important milestone for the implementation of the new distribution model 
which is part of the investments supporting Dexia’s commercial ambitions. By the end of 2010, 304 
branches were refurbished and additional specialised account managers were appointed to improve 
customer service further. Although not yet reaching its full potential, the new distribution model has 
delivered its first results with the customer satisfaction improving in 2010 and the market share in 
assets rising to 14%. This contributed to significant growth in loans and deposits. Overall, customer 
assets were up 4% to EUR 93.4 billion and loans grew by EUR 1.8 billion (or 6%) driven by business 
and mortgage loans. EUR 3.4 billion were collected on savings accounts (reaching EUR 32 billion at 
year-end 2010), a 12% increase compared to last year and a 39% increase in a two year-period. 
Structured bonds issued by the Group grew by EUR 1.8 billion and life insurance technical reserves 
rose by EUR 0.8 billion. 

In Luxembourg, the bank further consolidated its local franchise and increased its market share as 
“main banker” of Luxembourg individuals from 13% in 2009 to 14% in 2010. The recruitment of wealth 
managers and the diversification of the offer to affluent and private clients led to a successful 
repositioning of private banking, confirmed by a 5% increase in the mandate penetration at 24%. Total 
customer assets were up 3% year-on-year to EUR 31 billion supported by a strong rise in life 
insurance (+34% in life reserves). Loans were up 2% to EUR 9 billion at year-end 2010.

In Turkey, DenizBank continued its fast expansion, following its roadmap. With 50 new retail and SME
branches to reach 500 domestic branches in total by the end of the year and 346 extra ATMs made 
available to its clientele, DenizBank continued to expand its customer franchise in 2010. DenizBank 
gained 425,000 new retail and business customers (+11% compared to 2009) and the cooperation 
with the Turkish Post signed in November 2010 added a potential of 3 million new customers to its 
client base. With a 34% rise to TRY 19.7 billion (or EUR 9.6 billion) the deposit gathering has beaten 
the 20% average sector growth. Outstanding loans also posted a sharp 28% increase to TRY 23.8 
billion (or EUR 11.6 billion) reflecting the dynamism of the Turkish economy. As a result the loan to 
deposit ratio of DenizBank stabilized around 120% at year-end 2010 following a sharp decrease from 
146% to 126% between 2008 and 2009.

In 2010 the pre-tax income of the RCB division increased by a solid 32% to EUR 709 million 
compared to FY 2009, testifying to the healthy commercial position of the Group and the improvement 
of the risk environment. Income increased by EUR 86 million on FY 2009 at EUR 2,852 million, mainly 
supported by good revenue generation in Belgium driven by volumes and a favourable product mix. In 
Turkey, revenues benefited from a positive exchange rate impact and increased volumes which more 
than offset the margin shrinkage in line with the fast decreasing Cost of Risk.

Whereas cost reduction efforts continued in Belgium and Luxembourg, costs went up 4% in 2010 (to 
EUR 1,935 million) as a result of the business expansion in Turkey and a negative TRY/EUR currency
impact. 
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The cost of risk fell sharply (-33%) in 2010 amounting to EUR 208 million mainly as a result of an 
improving environment in Turkey. 

In 4Q 2010, pre-tax income stood at EUR 146 million, up 28% on 4Q 2009. Income amounted to
EUR 707 million, affected by around EUR 30 million related to the Belgian deposit guarantee scheme. 
Costs were driven up (+9% on 4Q 2009) by the business expansion in Turkey and the cost of risk
reached 35 basis points on average customer loans, i.e. a 54% decrease compared to 4Q 2009. By 
country, it represented a 62% decrease for Turkey in line with a further NPL decrease and a 25%
decrease for Belgium and Luxembourg.

Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB)

(See business line statement of income in appendix)

Since 2008, PWB has drastically refocused its activities on its core markets and franchises i.e. 
providing credit and non lending services to the public and social sector in Belgium, France, Spain and 
Italy as well as to corporate clients in Belgium, and developing its leading edge expertise on PFI, PPP 
and energy/environment in project finance with a broader geographical scope. 

Globally long-term commitments were slightly down year-on-year, at EUR 228.2 billion, reflecting
stability in the historic markets and a 4% decline in other geographic areas.

In Public Banking, Dexia’s more selective approach has resulted in EUR 7.7 billion new long term 
commitments in 2010 (EUR 9.5 billion in 2009). New loans were mainly originated in France and 
Belgium, where Dexia's position as a skilled and selective specialist was better recognized, and to a 
lesser extent, in Spain. Margin levels were satisfactory in all markets as, for example, the average 
margin on the French and Belgium markets increased by 76% compared to 2009. Long-term 
commitments were slightly down year-on-year, at EUR 191.2 billion.

In Project Finance, Dexia, once again, demonstrated the quality of its franchise in 2010. Its recognized 
know-how in infrastructure, transport and renewable energy was confirmed by a large number of new 
lead-arranger mandates. Indeed, this expertise was recognised with awards 5 times in 2010, notably 
the “Europe Renewable Deal of the Year” for the “C-Power” wind farm project, the “Europe Telecoms 
Deal of the Year” for the GSMR transaction and the “Europe PPP Deal of the Year” for the 
Birmingham Highways.

New commitments in Project Finance amounted to EUR 1.4 billion in 2010 (EUR 27.9 billion of total 
outstanding), +4% on 2009, in line with the strong focus given to syndication and asset rotation.

In Corporate Banking, EUR 1.2 billion of new commitments were originated in 2010 on a selective and 
profitable basis.

The deposit collection increased by 8% in 2010, reflecting PWB business focus on liquidity. This 
growth was notably supported by a dynamic collection in Belgium and in Germany.

In 2010, PWB benefitted from a positive trend of commercial margins, increasing fees from the Project 
Finance activity and an improvement of the environment driving down the Cost of Risk. However, the 
improvement of the funding mix of the business line, relying on longer-dated and more stable 
resources more than offset these positive elements and pre-tax income was down 3% on FY 2009 at 
EUR 544 million. 

Income fell by 18%, mainly due to higher allocated costs of funding (EUR 290 million) which more 
than offset EUR 83 million of capital gains and positive margin evolution. Restated from capital gains 
recorded in 2010, the decline would have been 25%. 

Costs were well controlled, down by 3% in 2010 compared to FY 2009, mainly supported by the
implementation of the transformation plan.

The cost of risk returned to the traditionally low levels recorded by the business line after higher
provisioning in project finance in the second half of 2009. The improvement of the environment led to 
a decrease in the cost of risk of EUR 195 million compared to FY 2009. 2009 was marked by EUR 128 
million of provisions whereas reversals were booked in 2010, in particular during the fourth quarter of 
the year.

In 4Q 2010, the business lines benefited from an increase in interest margins, higher market-related 
revenues and significant up front fees which boosted revenues up by 9% versus 4Q 2009. Costs 
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remained well controlled and down 7% compared to 4Q 2009. The Cost of Risk recorded a sharp 
decrease versus 4Q 2009 following a reversal of EUR 107 million, of which EUR 62 million reflecting a 
change in methodology due to a now mature project finance activity having reached critical mass. As a 
result, pre-tax income was up by EUR 161 million compared to 4Q 2009 at EUR 221 million.

Asset Management and Services (AMS)

(See business line statement of income in appendix)

Asset-Management and Services comprises three divisions, namely Asset Management, Investor 
Services and Insurance.

In 2010, the Asset Management and Services contribution to the Group’s pre-tax income was sharply 
higher at EUR 308 million i.e. twice the level of 2009, supported by a strong drive of Insurance and 
Investor Services. Insurance contributed up to 60% to the total pre-tax income of the business-line in 
2010, while Asset Management and Investor Services represented a share of 20% each.

Asset Management

In 2010 Dexia AM expertise was rewarded by several new mandates from pension funds, corporate 
and public sector clients both in fixed income and equities. It also received 3 different awards as asset 
manager for its excellent performances and 24 awards for specific funds in 10 different countries. 

The business line’s Assets under Management (AuM) amounted to EUR 86.4 billion at the end of 
December 2010, up 4.8% compared to December 2009. This EUR 4.0 billion growth is due to a strong 
inflows in institutional and private mandates (EUR 4.9 billion) enhanced by a positive market effect
(EUR 4.0 billion), more than offsetting outflows in retail (EUR -2.2 billion) and institutional funds (EUR -
2.7 billion). Private and retail clients have continued to show a preference for on-balance-sheet 
products given the uncertain economic and financial environment. In 4Q 2010, AuM remained stable 
(+0.2%).

In 2010, the business line’s pre-tax income amounted to EUR 63 million, up 53% compared to 2009,
driven by higher revenues (+14%) while costs remained well under control. The total costs on average
AuM ratio decreased from 16.2 basis points in 2009 to 15.5 basis points in 2010, reflecting a high 
degree of efficiency. 

In 4Q 2010, Asset Management posted a pre-tax income of EUR 12 million compared to EUR 19
million in 4Q 2009.

Investor Services

2010 confirmed the rebound of the Canadian and US equity markets, enabling Investor Services to 
post an extremely satisfactory commercial performance. This momentum translated into a 23% growth 
of Assets under Administration (AuA) at EUR 2,101 billion (of which EUR +144 billion in 4Q 2010). 
This growth was also enhanced by a foreign exchange effect and in particular the 12% appreciation of 
the CAD/ EUR and 7% appreciation of the USD/EUR. Finally, the integration on 31 May 2010 of Ubi 
Banca Depositary Bank business contributed to EUR 20 billion growth in AuA. 

Sustained by the same parameters, Assets under Custody (AuC) posted 27% growth in 2010. The
number of accounts managed within the transfer agent activity rose by 667,000. 

In 2010, the division’s pre-tax income amounted to EUR 60 million, more than twice the pre-tax 
income recorded in 2009. Income was up 20% at EUR 393 million thanks to the positive AuA evolution 
and to increased FX margins as investors rebalanced their currency exposure.

At EUR 332 million, costs were up 13%, half of the increase being driven by a currency impact. 

Annual gross operating income amounted to EUR 61 million, of which EUR 1 million associated with 
the integration of Ubi Banca Depositary Bank business (EUR +8 million in income and EUR -7 million 
in costs) from 31 May 31 2010.

In 4Q 2010, the division’s pre-tax income totalled EUR 20 million (+100% on 4Q 2009). At EUR 106 
million (+31% on 4Q 2009), the income benefited from a rise of the Canadian base rate and the good 
health of the division core financial markets. Costs increased by 20% against 4Q 2009 mainly due to a 
currency impact.

Insurance
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Dexia Insurance Services recorded an excellent commercial performance in 2010. Total gross written 
premiums increased by 52% to EUR 3.5 billion driven by Life insurance (+ 64% to EUR 3 billion) that 
has benefited from high customer demand supported by commercial campaigns and non-life (+4% to 
EUR 504 million). 

In Belgium, the retail network collected twice as much in premiums as in 2009 and in the Public and 
Wholesale Banking the cross sale of Insurance products contributed positively to the growth of the 
business line’s performance. Dexia Insurance Services successfully entered the second pillar pension 
market for public-sector related counterparties, which was a major commercial achievement in 2010.

In Luxembourg, Dexia Life & Pensions outperformed and collected EUR 1.1 billion within the context 
of the forthcoming European Savings Directive.

Consequently life insurance reserves grew by 12.7% in 2010 to reach EUR 18.4 billion at year-end. 

In 2010, the business line’s pre-tax income more than doubled (x 2.3) in comparison with FY 2009 and 
reached EUR 185 million thanks to improved revenues and a halved cost of risk. Income also
benefited from higher financial results supported by outstandings and higher capital gains. 

In contrast, 4Q 2010 was marked by lower financial results and extra provisions to strengthen life 
reserves. The pre-tax income stood at EUR 34 million, a level lower than 4Q 2009 which benefitted 
from capital gains and reversal of impairments.

Group Center

(See business line statement of income in appendix)

Group Center includes the Treasury, the ALM and the Central Assets segments.

In 2010, Group Center posted a pre-tax loss of EUR 421 million, against a loss of EUR 222 million in 
2009. Compared to 2009, the EUR 147 million fall of the division’s income, to EUR 36 million is 
principally explained by a EUR 155 million decline of Treasury revenues compared to 2009 record 
results, following the ongoing reduction of the liquidity gap of the Group and less favourable market 
conditions. Restructuring costs booked mainly in the second half of the year impacted the costs (up 
EUR 27 million on 2009). The cost of risk and other impairments amounted to EUR 33 million in 
2010, down EUR 25 million compared to 2009, which was positively impacted by reversals of 
impairments. 

In 4Q 2010, income amounted to EUR -40 million, down EUR 48 million compared to 4Q 2009 due to 
EUR 37 million decrease in Treasury revenues and EUR 53 million negative adjustments related to 
the cessation of international activities, partially offset by EUR 14 million gain on DenizBank Turkish 
CPI bond portfolio. Costs totalled EUR 116 million and were impacted by EUR 48 million of restructur-
ing costs. Lastly, other impairments and provisions for legal litigations improved by EUR 129 million 
compared to 4Q 2009, at EUR 117 million as a result of reversals of provisions, particularly the provi-
sion related to the Ritro litigation in Slovakia.

As a consequence, the division’s pre-tax income amounted to EUR -39 million, against EUR -114 
million in 4Q 2009.

Legacy Portfolio Management Division

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09* 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009* 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income** 262 -7 29 -88.7% n.s. 1,180 395 -66.5%
Expenses -31 -32 -30 -2.0% -4.4% -162 -119 -26.8%

Gross operating income 231 -39 -1 n.s. -98.1% 1,017 276 -72.9%
Cost of risk -146 -15 -246 67.8% x16.4 -641 -490 -23.5%
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations* -6 0 0 n.s. n.s. 0 -2 n.s.

Pre-tax income 79 -53 -246 n.s. x4.6 376 -216 n.s.
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o/w changes in scope*** 154 0 0 n.s. n.s. 254 0 n.s.
* The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income).
** Income (also mentioned as revenues) = interests, fees, and commissions, trading and other income.
*** Mainly FSA Insurance and Crédit du Nord.

Note: 2010 figures unaudited

The Legacy Portfolio Management Division (LPM Division) includes the contributions from the Group’s 
bond portfolios in run-off (including the Financial Products portfolio) and the PWB run-off 
commitments. The LPM Division is also allocated part of the Treasury result. Entities to be divested 
are still reported in the Core Division.

The capital gains on the disposal of Crédit du Nord (EUR 153 million booked in 4Q 200) and on the 
sale of the stake in Assured Guaranty (EUR 153 million booked in 1Q 2010) were both allocated to the 
Legacy Division. FSA Insurance was deconsolidated as from 2Q 2009.

In 2010, the LPM Division recorded a pre-tax loss of EUR 216 million, against EUR 376 million
(including FSA Insurance) or EUR 305 million (excluding FSA Insurance) positive results in 2009.

Over the year, the LPM Division posted a positive result in the first quarter and losses in the last three. 
This evolution is explained, in particular, by the EUR 414 million (excluding FSA Insurance) fall in 
income compared to FY 2009 driven by a EUR 373 million decrease in Treasury income allocated to 
the division in line with the ongoing decrease of the liquidity gap but also the reduction of net margins 
on the PWB run-off commitments (EUR -121 million) and on the bond portfolio in run-off (EUR -162 
million). The cost of risk, up by EUR 121 million (excluding FSA Insurance), was impacted by a 
reversal of collective provisions on ABS and subordinated debt booked in the bond portfolio in run-off, 
for an amount of EUR 184 million, and by a EUR 328 million increase of the provisions on the 
Financial Products portfolio. 

In 4Q 2010, the LPM Division posted a pre-tax loss of EUR 246 million down EUR 325 million on 
4Q 2009 which benefited from a EUR 153 million capital gain from the sale of Crédit du Nord. 
Excluding this capital gain, the decrease in pre-tax income is mainly explained by a EUR 69 million
decrease of the Treasury revenue allocated to the LPM Division. In addition, the cost of risk was up 
EUR 100 million, impacted by additional provisions booked in the Financial Products portfolio. 

The significant changes impacting for the segments of the LPM Division are set out in detail below. 

The bond portfolio in run-off amounted to EUR 111.7 billion at year-end 2010, a reduction of 
EUR 22.5 billion on 2009. Thanks to the Group’s voluntary balance-sheet deleveraging, EUR 18.8 
billion bonds were disposed of from this portfolio, with a 1% loss of the nominal amount i.e. EUR 184
million. EUR 2 billion of bonds were sold in 4Q 2010, with an impact of EUR 53 million on the 
statement of income. Over the year, EUR 8 billion of bonds amortized and the size of the portfolio was 
inflated by EUR 4.4 billion currency impact.

The portfolio remains of good credit quality, at 95% investment grade (against 97% at year-end 2009)
and the rating migrations were principally due to the impact of deleveraging and the downgrade of the 
Greek rating from A to BBB. The stock of impairments is down to EUR 884 million at year-end 2010, 
against EUR 956 million at year-end 2009. 

In 2010, the bond portfolio in run-off recorded a pre-tax loss of EUR 10 million, against a loss of 
EUR 316 million in 2009. Income was up EUR 115 million on 2009, principally driven by a EUR 293 
million  increase in trading income (CDS linked to synthetic securitization and CVA on CDS 
intermediation) which more than offset the reduction of interest margin (EUR -162 million) and 
deleveraging losses up by EUR 65 million, as volumes disposed of were higher in 2010. The cost of 
risk improved by EUR 184 million in 2010, marked by reversals of impairments, principally on ABS and 
on the banking sector.

In 4Q 2010, the segment’s pre-tax income was EUR 5 million, up EUR 41 million on 4Q 2009. Income 
totalled EUR 38 million against EUR -28 million in 4Q 2009, due to trading results (EUR +37 million) 
and reversals of impairments related to the disposal of assets (EUR 67 million) despite the decrease 
of the interest margin (EUR -28 million). Cost of risk stood at EUR 15 million, up EUR 27 million as a 
result of a collective impairment on ABS.
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Over 2010, the Financial Products portfolio was reduced by USD 1.6 billion, to USD 13.8 billion 
(nominal value), due to USD 0.4 billion asset sales (of which USD 0.2 billion in 4Q 2010) and to the
amortization of the portfolio. The expected average life of the portfolio was 9.2 years at year-end 2010. 

The total cash shortfalls and realised losses on the portfolio increased by USD 82 million over the 
quarter, to USD 624 million. This includes USD 49 million shortfalls and USD 33 million losses on 
asset sales that were mitigated by a release of collective impairments.

In 2010, the Financial Products portfolio posted a pre-tax loss of EUR 299 million, against a EUR 169 
million loss in 2009. The EUR 204 million rise in income, to EUR 282 million as a result of gains on 
own credit risk and of the sale of the stake in Assured Guaranty (EUR 153 million) did not totally offset 
the EUR 328 million rise of the Cost of Risk over the year. 

4Q 2010 was impacted by additional impairments, the background of which is given below, leading to
a pre-tax loss of EUR 243 million.

In a context characterized by a volatile economic environment and large stocks of homes which will 
continue to weigh heavily on the real estate market, at least in 2011, Dexia adapted its US RMBS 
scenario to take into account the following considerations:

- During 2010, a high percentage of delinquent loans, in particular subprime loans, have been 
restructured by the servicers, and this has contributed to improve the default rate on such as-
sets. However, Dexia estimates that part of these defaults could be just postponed in time.

- The visibility on housing price recovery is remaining low due to the existing large stock of 
homes for sale and to other negative factors such as the impact of the potential forecloser 
freeze.

Dexia therefore proceeded to make some adjustments of its assumptions for US RMBS in 4Q 2010. In 
particular, to reflect the assessed impact of loans modifications, Dexia assumes that the current
default rates will not improve within the next 3 years and might need 4 additional years to return to the 
levels observed before materialization of the crisis. Moreover, Dexia assumes that the current severity 
rates (1) will not show any improvement until the end of the transactions.

As a consequence, in 4Q 2010:

- The expected economic losses (discounted expected cash shortfalls) increased by USD 588 
million versus 3Q 2010 to USD 1.796 billion. Such an estimate is made to the best of Dexia’s 
knowledge based on market conditions as at the end of December 2010. The increase in ex-
pected economic losses led to a USD 135 million reductions of the Deferred Tax Assets. 

- USD 50 million of specific impairments and USD 286 million of collective impairments were 
booked leading to a total of USD 2.252 billion impairments.

- By the end of December 2010, the level of cumulative impairments exceeds the expected 
economic losses by USD 456 million. 

It is important to note that, in line with the State Guarantee mechanism, Dexia’s regulatory solvency 
ratio is immune from provisions and losses on Financial Products (see press release published by 
Dexia on 14 November 2008 and Special Report of the Board of Directors dated 12 May 2009).

Those additional provisions therefore have no impact on Dexia’s regulatory solvency ratio.

The modelling of the US RMBS portfolios is very sensitive to parameters such as the timing of 
defaults, loan modifications, house prices and the length of the crisis. Therefore any changes of the 
parameters could lead to significant modifications in the projected economic results compared to the 
4Q 2010 “base scenario”.

- As an example, under a scenario based on deteriorated default rates against the “base case” 
(higher level of default during the whole period) coupled with a higher (5%) severity, expected 
losses would increase to USD 2.3 billion.

- As another example, under a scenario based on a flat default rate curve “for ever”, expected 
economic losses would increase to USD 2.8 billion.

- In contrast, a faster recovery in the US economy by 18 months compared to the “base case” 
would decrease the expected economic losses to USD 1.3 billion. 

Assuming the materialization of one of those scenarios and as stated earlier, Dexia’s regulatory 
solvency ratio is immune from provisions and losses in line with the state Guarantee mechanism.
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Lastly, Dexia launched an active work-out process to optimize recoveries on the US RMBS portfolio in 
2011, with a dedicated experienced team in New York, and filed lawsuits against different 
stakeholders involved in the US RMBS market. However, at this stage no potential positive impact of 
such litigation procedures has been taken into account in the Group’s financial statements.

In 2010, PWB run-off commitments posted a pre-tax income of EUR -14 million, down EUR 138 
million compared to FY 2009. This decrease is principally explained by the EUR 170 million fall in 
income related to the decrease in margin revenues, mainly due to reduced exposure on US Stand-By 
Purchase Agreements (SBPA), and to an active deleveraging of loans. 2

The portfolio recorded a EUR 48 million loss on the EUR 4.8 billion loans disposed of in 2010. 
Furthermore income was impacted by the cessation of activities in Australia and Japan and 
subsequent asset repatriation. 

In 4Q 2010, the division reported a pre-tax loss of EUR 10 million, against a gain of EUR 3 million in
4Q 2009. This trend is also explained by the fall of margins and the cost of asset sales which were 
partially offset by an improvement in the cost of risk, as specific impairments were booked in 4Q 2009.

Against the background of less favourable market conditions and in line with the sharp decrease in the 
Group’s liquidity gap, the Treasury result allocated to the LPM Division was down sharply in 2010
(EUR -376 million) compared to the FY 2009 record result. The 2010 result was mainly generated 
during the first half-year.

In 4Q 2010, the Treasury result allocated to the LPM Division followed the same trend with a pre-tax 
income down by EUR 69 million on 4Q 2009 due to the same elements. 

Balance-sheet and solvency

Total assets, shareholders’ equity and solvency

Dec. 31, 
2009*

Sept. 30, 
2010

Dec. 31, 
2010

Variation 
Dec. 31, 10/ 
Dec. 31, 09

Variation 
Dec. 31, 10/ 
Sept. 30, 10

Total assets (EUR m) 577,630 598,517 566,735 -1.9% -5.3%

Core shareholders’ equity (EUR m) 18,498 19,167 19,214 +3.9% +0.2%

Total shareholders’ equity (EUR m) 10,181 9,070 8,945 -12.1% -1.4%

Tier 1 capital (EUR m) 17,573 18,418 18,425 +4.8% n.s.

Total weighted risks (EUR m) 143,170 143,962 140,834 -1.6% -2.2%

Tier 1 ratio 12.3% 12.8% 13.1% +81 bps +29 bps

Core Tier 1 ratio 11.3% 11.8% 12.1% +79 bps +27 bps

Net assets per share

  –  Core shareholders’ equity (EUR) 10.02 10.38 10.41 +3.9% +0.3%

  –  Total shareholders’ equity (EUR) 5.52 4.91 4.85 -12.1% -1.2%

* Figures for December 2009 were restated to take into consideration the bonus shares (free of charge) dis-
tributed to the shareholders.

Note: 2010 figures unaudited

At the end of December 2010, Dexia’s total assets reached EUR 567 billion, down by EUR 11 billion 
compared to December 2009. The impact of the deleveraging (EUR -27.2 billion) and natural asset 
amortization (EUR -27.6 billion), was partially offset by the new commercial production of the year 
(EUR +22.3 billion) and the increase (EUR +17.8 billion) in cash collateral postings and fair value 
adjustments of assets (mainly derivatives) following the evolution of the EUR and USD interest rate 
curves. In the fourth quarter of the year the balance sheet went down by EUR 32 billion mainly driven 

                                           
2 The “severity” refers to the loss expected on a property that would have been sold following a foreclosure process
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by decrease of cash collateral posting, derivatives and fair value adjustments of hedged items 
following the strong increase of the EUR and USD interest rate curves during the last quarter of the 
year.

At EUR 19.2 billion, Dexia’s core shareholders’ equity increased by 3.9% on December 2009 
supported by the robust organic capital generation of the Group. 

The Group’s total shareholders’ equity amounted to EUR 8.9 billion, down 12.1% (EUR 1.2 billion) 
compared to the end of 2009. This decline is due to an increase of the negative Other Comprehensive 
Income 
(EUR -2.0 billion), and in particular of the available-for-sale reserve on securities (AFS), from EUR -1.5 
billion at the end of December 2009 to EUR -3.9 billion at the end of December 2010. The negative 
evolution on the AFS reserve on bonds is mainly explained by the spread widening on sovereign debt 
(Greece, Portugal and Italy). The frozen fair value of assets reclassified in Loans and Receivables 
improved by EUR 0.3 billion to EUR -5.3 billion by end of 2010. If the reclassification had not been 
made, an additional EUR -0.6 billion fair value adjustment would have been recognized. On a 
quarterly basis, the AFS reserve remained almost stable as the spread widening on covered bonds 
and bank debt was offset by a tightening of the sovereign debt.

At the end of December 2010, weighted risks amounted to EUR 140.8 billion, down EUR 2.3 billion 
compared to December 2009. Core weighted risks increased by 3% (EUR +2.3 billion) driven by the 
growth of activities in Turkey whereas the Legacy weighted risks fell by 9% (EUR -4.7 billion), mainly 
due to impairments on Financial Products and deleveraging efforts of the Group. During the last 
quarter of the year the weighed risks decreased by EUR 3.1 billion, mainly due to impairments on the 
Financial Products portfolio.

With a Tier 1 ratio of 13.1% (Core Tier 1 of 12.1%) as at end of December 2010, the Group enjoys a 
robust solvency which has been further strengthen in 2010 thanks to organic capital generation (+60
bps versus end of 2009) and by a decrease of total weighted risks by EUR 2.3 billion (equivalent to 
21 bps). 
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APPENDIX

Retail and Commercial Banking (RCB)

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income 697 715 707 +1.4% -1.0% 2,765 2,852 +3.1%
Expenses -471 -477 -513 +8.8% +7.4% -1,853 -1,935 +4.4%

Gross operating income 226 237 195 -14.0% -18.0% 913 917 +0.5%
Cost of risk -96 -31 -49 -49.4% 58.0% -313 -208 -33.4%
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations -16 2 0 n.s. n.s. -63 0 n.s.

Pre-tax income 114 208 146 +28.2% -29.9% 537 709 +32.1%

Note: The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income). Income (also 
mentioned as revenues) includes interests, fees, and commissions, trading and other income. 2010 figures 
unaudited.

Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB)

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income 233 235 254 9.1% 8.4% 1,227 1,007 -17.9%
Expenses -138 -131 -128 -7.3% -2.0% -535 -521 -2.6%

Gross operating income 95 104 126 32.9% 21.6% 692 486 -29.7%
Cost of risk -36 -4 102 n.s. n.s. -128 67 n.s.
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations 1 -2 -7 n.s. n.s. 0 -9 n.s.

Pre-tax income 60 98 221 x3.7 x2.3 564 544 -3.5%
Note: The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income). The results of 
AdInfo previously recorded in PWB are now recorded in Group Center. Income (also mentioned as revenues) 
includes interests, fees, and commissions, trading and other income. 2010 figures unaudited.

Asset Management and Services (AMS)

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income 282 289 264 -6.5% -8.7% 829 1,021 +23.1%
Expenses -169 -175 -186 +10.3% 6.5% -659 -704 +6.9%

Gross operating income 113 114 78 -31.5% -31.9% 171 317 +85.7%
Cost of risk 1 0 -10 n.s. n.s. -21 -7 -64.7%
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations -2 0 -2 n.s. n.s. -1 -2 n.s.
Pre-tax income 112 114 66 -40.5% -41.7% 149 308 x2.1
Of which

Asset Management 19 16 12 -34.9% -21.0% 41 63 +52.8%
Investor Services 10 12 20 x2.0 68.5% 27 60 x2.2
Insurance 83 86 34 -59.1% -60.7% 81 185 x2.3

Note: The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income). The results of DEP previously 
recorded in AMS are now recorded in Group Center.Income (also mentioned as revenues) includes interests, fees, and com-
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missions, trading and other income. 2010 figures including UBI Banca’s depositary banking business from 31 May 2010. 2010 
figures unaudited.

Group Center

Statement of income

In millions of EUR
4Q09 3Q10 4Q10

Var. 
4Q10/ 
4Q09

Var. 
4Q10/ 
3Q10

2009 2010
Var. 

2010/ 
2009

Income 8 3 -40 -48 -43 183 36 -147
Expenses -110 -158 -116 -6 +42 -398 -425 -27

Gross operating income -102 -155 -156 -54 -1 -215 -389 -174
Cost of risk 2 0 2 0 +2 6 -2 -8
Other impairments & provisions 
for legal litigations -14 4 115 +129 +111 -13 -31 -18

Pre-tax income -114 -151 -39 +75 +112 -222 -421 -199

Note: The provisions for legal litigations were previously included in income (other net income). The results of 
DEP previously recorded in AMS and the results of AdInfo previously recorded in PWB are now recorded in 
Group Center.  Income (also mentioned as revenues) includes interests, fees, and commissions, trading and 
other income. 2010 figures unaudited.
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TAXATION

The matters described below do not constitute, and should not be considered as, legal or tax 
advice to prospective purchasers. Prospective purchasers should consult legal or tax advisers in the 
country of their citizenship, residence or domicile to determine the possible tax or other consequences 
of purchasing, holding and redeeming Notes and/or Warrants, as the case may be, under the laws of 
the relevant jurisdiction.

Luxembourg Tax Consequences
The following is a summary discussion of certain material Luxembourg tax consequences with 

respect to the Notes and the Warrants. The summary does not purport to be a comprehensive 
description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to any particular holder of Notes, and 
does not purport to include tax considerations that arise from rules of general application or that are 
generally assumed to be known to holders of Notes and/or Warrants. It is not intended to be, nor 
should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice. This discussion is based on Luxembourg laws and 
regulations as they stand on the date of this prospectus and is subject to any change in law or 
regulations or changes in interpretation or application thereof that may take effect after such date. 
Prospective investors in the Notes and/or Warrants should therefore consult their own professional 
advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws and regulations, including Luxembourg tax law 
and regulations, to which they may be subject.

1. Notes
Withholding Tax
Non-Residents

Under Luxembourg tax law currently in effect and except as provided for by the laws of 21 June, 
2005 (the “2005 Laws”) implementing the Directive 2003/48/EC on taxation of savings income in the 
form of interest payments (the “EU Savings Directive”), there is no withholding tax for non-resident 
holders of the Notes on payments of interest (including accrued but unpaid interest) and on payments 
received upon redemption or repayment of the principal or upon an exchange of the Notes.

Under the 2005 Laws and under the relevant Accords payments of interest or similar income 
made or ascribed by a paying agent established in Luxembourg to or for the immediate benefit of an 
individual or a residual entity, who as a result of an identification procedure implemented by the paying 
agent are identified as residents or are deemed to be residents of an EU Member State (other than 
Luxembourg) or a dependant or associated territory, will be subject to a withholding tax unless the 
relevant beneficiary has adequately instructed the relevant paying agent to provide details of the 
relevant payments of interest or similar income to the fiscal authorities of his/her country of residence 
or deemed residence or has provided a tax certificate from his/her fiscal authority in the format 
required by law to the relevant paying agent.

Where withholding tax is applied, payments of interest and similar income will be subject to a 
withholding at a rate of 20 per cent. until 30 June 2011 and at a rate of 35 per cent. thereafter.

When used in the preceding three paragraphs “interest”, “paying agent”, and “residual entity” 
have the meaning given thereto in the 2005 Laws or the relevant Accords. “Interest” will include 
accrued or capitalised interest at the sale, repayment or redemption of the Notes. “Paying agent” is 
defined broadly for this purpose and in the context of the Notes means any economic operator 
established in Luxembourg who pays interest on the Notes to or ascribes the payment of such interest 
to or for the immediate benefit of the beneficial owner, whether the operator is, or acts on behalf of, 
the Issuer or is instructed by the beneficial owner to collect such payment of interest.

Payments of interest or similar income under the Notes to the clearing systems and payments 
by or on behalf of Clearstream, Luxembourg, to financial intermediaries will not give rise to a 
withholding tax under Luxembourg law.

Residents
Interest on Notes paid by a Luxembourg paying agent to an individual holder who is a resident 

of Luxembourg or to certain foreign residual entities securing the payment for the benefit of such 
individual holder will be subject to a withholding tax of 10 per cent. If the individual holder does not 
hold the Notes as business assets, the aforementioned 10 per cent. withholding tax will operate a full 
discharge of income tax due on such payments. In case interest is paid on the Notes to Luxembourg 
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resident individuals or to certain foreign residual entities securing the payment for the benefit of such 
individuals by a paying agent established in a Member State of the EU or the EEA other than 
Luxembourg or in a State party to an international convention linked to the EU Savings Directive, the 
beneficiary may opt for the application of the aforementioned 10 per cent. withholding tax in 
accordance with the provisions of the law of 23 December 2005. In such case the beneficiary is 
responsible for the related payment and declaration obligations. This withholding tax represents the 
final tax liability for Luxembourg individual resident taxpayers acting in the course of the management 
of their private wealth.

Interest on Notes paid by Luxembourg paying agent to Luxembourg Noteholders which are not 
individuals will not be subject to any withholding tax.

Income deriving from the Notes
Non-Resident Holders

Holders of the Notes will not become residents, or be deemed to be resident in Luxembourg by 
reason only of the holding of the Notes.

Non-Luxembourg holders of the Notes who are non-resident of Luxembourg and who do not 
hold the Notes through a permanent establishment or permanent representative in Luxembourg are 
not liable to any Luxembourg income tax, whether they receive payments of principal, payments of 
interest (including accrued but unpaid interest), payments received upon redemption, repurchase or 
exchange of the Notes, or realize capital gains on the sale of the Notes.

Resident Holders – General
Holders of the Notes who are tax resident in Luxembourg, or non-resident holders of the Notes 

who have a permanent establishment or permanent representative in Luxembourg to which or to 
whom the Notes are attributable, must for income tax purposes include any interest and other income 
received or accrued on the Notes in their taxable income unless an individual holder holds the Notes 
in the frame of the management of its private wealth. If in this last case the aforementioned 10 per 
cent. withholding tax has been levied it can be credited against the overall income tax liability. They 
will not be liable to any Luxembourg income tax on repayment of principal. 

Luxembourg Resident Individuals
Luxembourg resident individual holders of the Notes who do not hold Notes as business assets 

are not subject to taxation on capital gains upon the disposal of the Notes, unless their disposal 
precedes their acquisition or they are disposed of within six months of the date of their acquisition. 
Upon a repurchase, redemption or exchange of Notes, the portion of repurchase, redemption or 
exchange price corresponding to accrued but unpaid interest is subject to the aforementioned 10 per 
cent. withholding tax. When the the aforementioned 10 per cent. withholding tax is applied, it may be 
credited against the resident individual’s income tax liability. Luxembourg resident individual holders of 
Notes who hold Notes as business assets are subject to tax as described in relation to “Luxembourg 
Resident Undertakings with a Collective Character” below.

Luxembourg Resident Undertakings with a Collective Character
Unless they benefit from an exemption under Luxembourg tax law, Luxembourg resident 

undertakings with a collective character (organismes à caractère collectif), holding Notes, or foreign 
entities of the same type who have a permanent establishment or permanent representative in 
Luxembourg to which or to whom the Notes are attributable, must include in their taxable income 
interests accrued in the Notes and, on a sale repurchase, redemption or exchange, the difference 
between the sale, repurchase, redemption or exchange price (including accrued but unpaid interest) 
and the lower of the cost or book value of the Notes sold, repurchased, redeemed or exchanged.

Net Wealth Tax
Unless they benefit from an exemption under Luxembourg tax law, Luxembourg net wealth tax will 

not be levied on a holder of the Notes, unless such Notes are attributable to a business enterprise or part 
thereof or which is carried on in Luxembourg or through a permanent establishment or a permanent 
representative of a non-resident company in Luxembourg. In such a case, the holder of Notes must take 
the Notes into account for the purposes of Luxembourg wealth tax.

Other Tax Consequences
Stamp Taxes and Transfer Taxes
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There is no Luxembourg registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in 
Luxembourg by the holders of Notes as a consequence of the issuance of the Notes, nor will any of 
these taxes be payable as a consequence of a subsequent transfer, repurchase or redemption of the 
Notes.

Gift Taxes
No estate or inheritance tax is levied on the transfer of Notes upon death of a holder of Notes in 

cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg for inheritance tax purposes and no gift 
tax is levied upon a gift of Notes if the gift is not passed before a Luxembourg notary or recorded in a 
deed registered in Luxembourg. Where a holder of Notes is a resident for tax purposes of Luxembourg 
at the time of his death, the Notes are included in its taxable estate for inheritance tax or estate tax 
purposes.

2. Warrants
Non-residents Warrant Holders

Under the existing laws of Luxembourg, the exercise or sale of Warrants by a non-resident 
Holder does not give raise to taxable income in Luxembourg, unless such Warrants were held as 
business assets by such non-resident within a permanent establishment in Luxembourg.

Residents Warrant Holders
Individuals

The profit made by a resident individual Warrant Holder not holding the Warrants as business 
assets, on the sale of Warrants or upon the exercise thereof against payment of a cash amount is 
taxable in Luxembourg if such Warrant is sold or exercised within a period of 6 months following the 
acquisition by such person. The exercise by such a Holder of Warrants against physical settlement 
does not give raise to taxation in Luxembourg, provided that the disposal of the assets acquired upon 
such exercise will be taxable in Luxembourg in the same circumstances as would be a sale of a 
Warrant or the exercise thereof against payment of a cash amount and that the holding period of 6 
months referred to above will start on the date of acquisition of such assets following the exercise of 
such Warrant.

If Warrants are held by a resident individual Warrant Holder as a business asset, they are subject 
to Luxembourg tax as described in the paragraph “Luxembourg Resident Undertakings with a Collective 
Character” here below.

Luxembourg Resident Undertakings with a Collective Character
Save where the Warrant Holder is exempt from taxation under Luxembourg law, a Holder who is 

an undertaking with a collective character resident of Luxembourg, or a non-resident Holder of the same 
type who has a permanent establishment in Luxembourg with which the holding of the Warrants is 
connected must include in his taxable income the profit made on the sale of Warrants or upon the 
exercise thereof against payment of a cash amount. The exercise by a Holder of Warrants against 
physical settlement does not give raise to taxation in Luxembourg, provided that the disposal of the 
assets acquired upon such exercise will be taxable in Luxembourg in the same circumstances as would 
be a sale of a Warrant or the exercise thereof against payment of a cash amount.

Other Taxes
Luxembourg net wealth tax will not be levied on a Warrant Holder, unless the Holder is an 

undertaking with a collective character resident in Luxembourg; or the Warrants are attributable to the 
permanent establishment in Luxembourg of a foreign entity of the same type as a Luxembourg 
organism with a collective character.

There is no Luxembourg registration tax, capital tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty 
payable in Luxembourg in respect of or in connection with the execution and delivery of the Warrants 
or the performance of the Issuer’s obligations under the Warrants, except that courts proceedings in a 
Luxembourg court or the representation of the Warrants to an “autorité constituée”, could imply 
registration of the Warrants at a fixed registration duty.
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PLAN OF DlSTRIBUTION

Summary of Distribution Agreement
Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in a Distribution Agreement (as further 

amended and supplemented as at the date of issue of the Notes) (the “Distribution Agreement”) dated 9 
November, 1995 as amended and restated on 31 March, 2011 between the Issuer, the Permanent 
Dealers and the Arranger, the Notes and the Warrants will be offered on a continuous basis by the 
Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes and Warrants 
directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers and to sell Notes and Warrants 
directly in its capacity as a Dealer. The Notes and the Warrants may be resold at prevailing market 
prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The 
Notes and the Warrants may also be sold by the Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the 
issuer. The Distribution Agreement also provides for Notes and Warrants to be issued in syndicated 
Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission in respect of Notes or Warrants 
subscribed by it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Arranger for certain of its expenses incurred 
in connection with the update of the Programme and the Dealers for certain of their activities in 
connection with the Programme. The commission in respect of an issue of Notes or Warrants on a 
syndicated basis will be stated in the relevant Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants, as 
applicable.

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the 
offer and sale of the Notes and the Warrants. The Distribution Agreement entitles the Dealers to 
terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes or Warrants in certain circumstances prior 
to payment for such Notes or Warrants being made to the Issuer.

Selling Restrictions in respect of the Notes and the Warrants
United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 as 
amended (the “Securities Act”) and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the 
account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act 
(Regulation S) or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 
Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities 
Act.

Notes in bearer form having a maturity of more than one year are subject to U.S. tax law 
requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or 
to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms 
used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and 
regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed that, except as permitted by the Distribution Agreement, it will not offer, 
sell or in the case of Notes in bearer form, deliver the Notes of any identifiable tranche (i) as part of its
distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after completion of the distribution of such 
tranche as determined, and certified to each Relevant Dealer, by the issuer, or in the case of Notes 
issued on a syndicated basis, the Lead Manager, within the United States or to, or for the account or 
benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the 
distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and 
sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms 
used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance 
on Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes 
within the United States by any dealer (not participating in the offering) may violate the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act.

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be 
offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Each 
Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and agrees that it will not offer or 
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sell, any Warrants constituting part of its allotment within the United States. Terms used in this 
paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Furthermore, neither the sale of nor trading in Warrants which relate to currencies, commodity 
prices or indices has been approved by the United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
under the United States Commodity Exchange Act and no U.S. person may at any time purchase, 
trade or maintain a position in such Warrants.

Public Offer Selling Restrictions under the Prospectus Directive
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the 

Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented and agreed 
that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that 
Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an 
offer of Notes or Warrants which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as 
completed by the relevant Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants in relation thereto, as the case 
may be, to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including 
the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Notes or Warrants to the public in that Relevant 
Member State:

(a) if the Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants specify that an offer of those Notes or 
Warrants, as the case may be, may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the 
Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a “Non-exempt Offer”), following the 
date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes or Warrants, as the case may 
be, which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State 
or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the 
competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such prospectus 
has subsequently been completed by the Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants 
contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in 
the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Final Terms 
or Final Terms for the Warrants, as applicable and the Issuer has consented in writing to 
its use for the purposes of that Non-exempt Offer;

(b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus 
Directive;

(c) at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the 
relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150 natural or legal persons (other 
than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the 
prior consent of the Relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such 
offer; or

(d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus 
Directive

provided that no such offer of Notes or Warrants, as the case may be, referred to in (b) to (d) 
above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the 
Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus 
Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes or Warrants to the 
public” in relation to any Notes or Warrants in any Relevant Member State means the communication 
in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes or 
Warrants to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes or 
Warrants, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the 
Prospectus Directive and the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and 
amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the 
Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member 
State and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73 EU.

United Kingdom
Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:

1. in relation to Notes which have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their 
issue, (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing 
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or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) 
it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes or Warrants other than to 
persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing 
of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is 
reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or 
agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes or Warrants would 
otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (the “FSMA”) by the Issuer;

2. it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or 
cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity 
(within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue 
or sale of such Notes or Warrants in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA 
does not apply to the Issuer; and

3. it has complied with and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with 
respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes or Warrants in, from or otherwise 
involving the United Kingdom.

France
Each Dealer and the Issuer has represented and agreed that the Notes and the Warrants are 

being issued outside the Republic of France and, in connection with their initial distribution, that (i) it 
has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any Notes or Warrants to the 
public in the Republic of France; (ii) such offers, sales have been and will only be made in the 
Republic of France to qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) in accordance with Article L.411-1 
and L.411-2 and D.411-1 to D.411-3 of the French Code monétaire et financier and/or to persons 
providing investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties; and (ii) 
it has not distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed to the public in the Republic of 
France this Prospectus or any other offering material relating to the Notes or the Warrants, except to 
the investors to whom offers and sales of Notes and Warrants in the Republic of France may be made 
as described above.

Germany
Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has only offered or sold and that it shall only 

offer or sell Notes in the Federal Republic of Germany in compliance with the provisions of the 
German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpapierprospektgesetz) and any other laws applicable in the 
Federal Republic of Germany governing the issue, sale and offering of Securities.

Japan
None of the Notes or the Warrants have been or will be registered under the Financial 

Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (the “Financial Instruments and Exchange Act”) and, 
accordingly, each of the Dealers has undertaken that it will not offer or sell any Notes or Warrants, 
directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any Japanese Person or to others for re-
offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any Japanese Person 
except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance 
with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and all other relevant laws and regulations 
promulgated by the relevant Japanese governmental and regulatory authorities and in effect at the 
relevant time. For the purposes of this paragraph, “Japanese Person” shall mean any person resident 
in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

Singapore
This Prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the MAS. Accordingly, this 

Prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for 
subscription or purchase, of the Notes or the Warrants may not be circulated or distributed, nor may 
the Notes or the Warrants be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or 
purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional 
investor under Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1), or any 
person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275, of 
the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable 
provision of the SFA.
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Where the Notes or the Warrants are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA, 
by a relevant person which is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the 
SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital 
of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited 
investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to 
hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an 
accredited investor,

securities (as defined in section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ 
rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six 
months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes or the Warrants pursuant 
to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

(1) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the 
SFA, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section
276(4)(1)(B) of the SFA;

(2) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(3) where the transfer is by operation of law; or

(4) as specified in section 276(7) of the SFA.

The Netherlands
Zero coupon Notes in definitive form and other Notes in definitive form on which interest does 

not become due and payable during their term but only at maturity (savings certificates or 
spaarbewijzen as defined in the Dutch Savings Certificates Act or Wet inzake spaarbewijzen, the 
“SCA”) may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into the Netherlands 
through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. with due 
observance of the provisions of the SCA and its implementing regulations (which include registration 
requirements). No such mediation is required, however, in respect of (i) the initial issue of such Notes 
to the first holders thereof, (ii) the transfer and acceptance by individuals who do not act in the conduct 
of a profession or business, and (iii) the issue and trading of such Notes if they are physically issued 
outside The Netherlands and are not immediately thereafter distributed in The Netherlands.

General
These selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Issuer and the Dealers 

following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification will be set out in the 
Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants issued in respect of the issue of Notes or Warrants, as 
the case may be, to which it relates or in a supplement to this Prospectus.

Other than with respect to the listing of the Notes and the Warrants, no action has been taken in 
any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Notes or the Warrants, or possession 
or distribution of the Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms or Final Terms for 
the Warrants, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each Dealer has agreed that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant 
laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or 
delivers Notes or Warrants or has in its possession or distributes the Prospectus, any other 
offering material or any Final Terms or Final Terms for the Warrants and neither the Issuer nor 
any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefor.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS
Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for

each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme.

Final Terms dated [•]

Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme
(incorporated with limited liability in Luxembourg)

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

under the €10,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note and Warrant Programme

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set 
forth in the Prospectus dated 31 March, 2011 [and the supplement to the Prospectus dated [•]] which 
[together] constitute[s] a Prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) 
(the “Prospectus Directive”). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for 
the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with such 
Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only 
available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Prospectus [as so 
supplemented]. The Prospectus [and the supplement to the Prospectus] [is] [are] available for inspection 
at the office of the Agent and the office of the Issuer and are available to view on the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange Website (www.bourse.lu).

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased 
was issued under a Prospectus (or equivalent) with an earlier date. 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the 
“Conditions”) set forth in the [Offering Circular]1 [Prospectus] dated [original date] [and the supplement to 
the [Offering Circular]1 [Prospectus] dated [•]]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes 
described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the 
“Prospectus Directive”) and must be read in conjunction with the Prospectus dated 31 March, 2011 [and 
the supplement to the Prospectus dated [•] which together, constitute[s] a Prospectus for the purposes of 
the Prospectus Directive, save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the [Offering 
Circular]1[Prospectus] dated [original date] [and the supplement to the Prospectus dated [•]] and are 
attached hereto. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of 
the combination of these Final Terms and the [Offering Circular dated [original date] and the Prospectus 
dated 31 March, 20111 [Prospectuses dated [original date] and [current date]] [and supplement to the 
[Prospectus] [Prospectuses]]. The [Offering Circular dated [original date] and the Prospectus dated 31
March, 20111[Prospectuses] [and any supplement to the [Prospectus [Prospectuses]] are available for 
inspection at the office of the Fiscal Agent and the office of the Issuer.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the 
numbering should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs 
or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.]

[When completing any final terms, or adding any other final terms or information, consideration 
should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute “significant new factors” and 
consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus 
Directive.]

1. Issuer: Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, 
société anonyme

2. [(i)] Series Number: [_]

[(ii) Tranche Number: [_]

(If fungible with an existing Series, details of that 
Series, including the date on which the Notes 
become fungible).]
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3. Specified Currency or Currencies: [_]

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount: [_]

[(i)] Series: [_]

[(ii) Tranche: [_]]

5. Issue Price: [_] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount 
[plus accrued interest from [insert date] (in the 
case of fungible issues only, if applicable)]

6. (i) Specified Denominations: [_]

(ii) Calculation Amount: [_]

7. [(i)] Issue Date: [_]

[(ii)] Interest Commencement Date: [_]

8. Maturity Date: [specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes or any 
other rate where the Interest Period end date(s) 
are adjusted) Interest Payment Date falling in or 
nearest to the relevant month and year]

9. Interest Basis: [[_] per cent. Fixed Rate]

[[LIBOR/EURIBOR] +/– [_] per cent. Floating 
Rate]

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked Interest]

[Dual Currency Interest]

[Other (specify)] 

(further particulars specified below)

10. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par]

[Index Linked Redemption]

[Dual Currency]

[Partly Paid]

[Instalment]

[Other (specify)]

If the Final Redemption Amount is different from 
100 per cent. of the nominal value the Notes will 
be derivative securities for the purposes of the 
Prospectus Directive and the requirements of 
Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation 
No. 809/2004 will apply and the Issuer will 
prepare and publish a supplement to the 
Prospectus

11. Change of Interest or Redemption/Payment [Specify details of any provision for convertibility
Basis: of Notes into another interest or redemption/ 

payment basis]

12. Put/Call Options: [Put]

[Call]

[(further particulars specified below)]

13. [(i)] Status of the Notes: [Senior/[Dated/Undated]/Subordinated] 

[(ii)] 
[Date [Board] approval for issuance of
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Notes obtained: [_] [and [_], respectively]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) 
authorisation is required for the particular tranche 
of Notes)]

14. Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE
15. Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: [_] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/ semi-
annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]

(ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [_] in each year [adjusted in accordance with 
[specify Business Day Convention and any 
applicable Business Centre(s) for the definition of 
“Business Day”]/[not adjusted]

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [_] per Calculation Amount

(iv) Broken Amount(s): [ ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the 
Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ]

(v) Day Count Fraction: [30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA /ISDA) / other]

(vi) Determination Dates: [_] in each year (insert regular interest payment 
dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the 
case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. 
only relevant where Day Count Fraction is 
Actual/Actual (ICMA))

(vii) Other terms relating to the method 
of calculating interest for Fixed
Rate Notes: [Not Applicable/give details]

16. Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Interest Period(s): [_]

(ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates: [_]

(iii) First Interest Payment Date: [ ]

(iv) Interest Period Date: [ ]
(Not applicable unless different from Interest 
Payment Date)

(v) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/ Following Business 
Day Convention/ Modified Following Business 
Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day 
Convention/ other (give details)]

(vi) Business Centre(s): [_]

(vii)
Manner in which the Rate(s) of
Interest is/are to be determined: [Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination  

other (give details)]

(viii) Party responsible for calculating the
Rate(s) of Interest and Interest
Amount(s) (if not the Calculation
Agent): [_]
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(ix) Screen Rate Determination:

– Reference Rate: [_]

– Interest Determination Date(s): [_]

– Relevant Screen Page: [_]

(x) ISDA Determination:

– Floating Rate Option: [_]

– Designated Maturity: [_]

– Reset Date: [_]

(xi) Margin(s): [+/-][_] per cent. per annum

(xii) Minimum Rate of Interest: [_] per cent. per annum

(xiii) Maximum Rate of Interest: [_] per cent. per annum

(xiv) Day Count Fraction: [_]

(xv) Fall back provisions, rounding 
provisions, denominator and any 
other terms relating to the method of 
calculating interest on Floating Rate 
Notes, if different from those
set out in the Conditions: [_]

17. Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Amortisation Yield: [_] per cent. per annum

(ii) Any other formula/basis of
determining amount payable: [_]

18. Index Linked Interest Note/other
variable-linked interest Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Index/Formula/other variable: [give or annex details] 

(ii) Calculation Agent responsible for 
calculating the interest due: [_]

(iii) Provisions for determining Coupon 
where calculated by reference to 
Index and/or Formula and/or other
variable: [_]

(iv) Interest Determination Date(s): [_]

(v) Provisions for determining Coupon 
where calculation by reference to 
Index and/or Formula and/or other 
variable is impossible or
impracticable or otherwise disrupted: [_]

(vi) Interest or Interest Accrual Period(s): [_]

(vii) Specified Interest Payment Dates: [_]

(viii) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business 
Day Convention/Modified Following Business 
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Day Convention/Preceding Business Day 
Convention/other (give details)]

(ix) Business Centre(s): [_]

(x) Minimum Rate of Interest: [_] per cent. per annum

(xi) Maximum Rate of Interest: [_] per cent. per annum

(xii) Day Count Fraction: [_]

19. Dual Currency Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Rate of Exchange/method of [give details]
calculating Rate of Exchange:

(ii) Calculation Agent, if any, responsible 
for calculating the principal and/or 
interest due: [_]

(iii) Provisions applicable where 
calculation by reference to Rate of 
Exchange impossible or impracticable:  [_]

(iv) Person at whose option Specified
Currency(ies) is/are payable:  [_]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION
20. Call Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [_]

(ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of
each Note and method, if any, of
calculation of such amount(s): [_] per Calculation Amount

(iii) If redeemable in part:

(a) Minimum Redemption Amount: [_] per Calculation Amount

(b) Maximum Redemption Amount: [_] per Calculation Amount

(iv) Notice period: [_] (If setting notice periods which are different to 
those provided in the terms and conditions, the 
Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of 
distribution of information through intermediaries, 
for example, clearing systems and custodians, 
as well as any other notice requirements which 
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 
and Agent.)

21. Put Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [_]

(ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of 
each Note and method, if any, of 
calculation of such amount(s): [_] per Calculation Amount

(iii) Notice period: [_] (If setting notice periods which are different to 
those provided in the terms and conditions, the 
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Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of 
distribution of information through intermediaries, 
for example, clearing systems and custodians, 
as well as any other notice requirements which 
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer 
and Agent)

22. Final Redemption Amount of each Note: [[_] per Calculation Amount

[If the Final Redemption Amount is different from 
100 per cent. of the nominal value the Notes will 
be derivative securities for the purposes of the 
Prospectus Directive and the requirements of 
Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulation 
No. 809/2004 will apply and the Issuer will 
prepare and publish a supplement to the 
Prospectus]

In cases where the Final Redemption Amount
is Index Linked or other variable-linked:

(i) Index/Formula/variable: [give or annex details]

(ii) Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the Final Redemption
Amount: [_]

(iii) Provisions for determining Final
Redemption Amount where calculated
by reference to Index and/or Formula
and/or other variable: [_]

(iv) Determination Date(s): [  ]

(v) Provisions for determining Final
Redemption Amount where calculation
by reference to Index and/or
Formula and/or other variable is
impossible or impracticable or
otherwise disrupted: [_]

(vi) Payment date of Final Redemption 
Amount: [_]

(vii) Minimum Final Redemption Amount: [_] per Calculation Amount

(viii) Maximum Final Redemption Amount: [_] per Calculation Amount

23. Early Redemption Amount:

Early Redemption Amount(s) per 
Calculation Amount payable on redemption 
for taxation reasons or on event of default 
or other early redemption and/or the 
method of calculating the same (if required 
or if different from that set out in the 
Conditions): [_]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES
24. Form of Notes: [Bearer Notes/Exchangeable Bearer Notes/

Registered Notes] 

[Regulation S Global Note (U.S.$/€ [•] nominal 
amount) registered in the name of a nominee for 
[DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper 
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for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (that 
is, held under the NSS)]]

[Rule 144A Global Note (U.S.$ [•] nominal 
amount) registered in the name of a nominee for 
[DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper 
for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (that 
is, held under the NSS)]]

25. New Global Note: [Yes] [No]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a 
Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable 
for Definitive Notes on [ ] days’ notice/at any 
time/in the limited circumstances specified in the 
Permanent Global Note]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes on [ ] days’ notice]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes on [ ] days’ notice/at any time/in 
the limited circumstances specified in the 
Permanent Global Note]

26. Financial Centre(s) or other special [Not Applicable/give details. Note that this
provisions relating to payment dates: paragraph relates to the date and place of 

payment, and not interest period end dates, to 
which sub-paragraphs 15(ii), 16(v) and 18(ix) 
relate]

27. Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates
on which such Talons mature): [Yes/No. If yes, give details]

28. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount 
of each payment comprising the Issue Price 
and date on which each payment is to be 
made [and consequences (if any) of failure 
to pay, including any right of the Issuer to 
forfeit the Notes and interest
due on late payment]: [Not Applicable/give details]

29. Details relating to Instalment Notes: amount
of each instalment, date on which each
payment is to be made: [Not Applicable/give details]

30. Redenomination, renominalisation and
reconventioning provisions: [Not Applicable/The provisions in Condition [•] 

apply]

31. Consolidation provisions: [Not Applicable/The provisions in Condition [•] 
apply]

32. Other final terms: [Not Applicable/give details]

(When adding any other final terms consideration 
should be given as to whether such terms 
constitute “significant new factors” and 
consequently trigger the need for a supplement 
to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the 
Prospectus Directive.)

33. Governing law: [English/Luxembourg] [Senior Notes de-
nominated in euro may be governed by 
Luxembourg law. All Senior Notes denominated 
in euro and not governed by Luxembourg law will 
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be governed by English law. All other Senior 
Notes will be governed by English law. All 
Subordinated Notes will be governed by 
Luxembourg law.]

DISTRIBUTION
34. (i) If syndicated, names [and 

addresses]2of Managers [and 
underwriting 
commitments]:2 [Not Applicable/give names, addresses and 

underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities 
agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm 
commitment basis and names and addresses of 
the entities agreeing to place the issue without a 
firm commitment or on a “best efforts” basis if 
such entities are not the same as the Managers.)

[(ii) Date of Subscription Agreement: [_]]2

(iii) Stabilising Manager(s) (if any): [Not Applicable/give names]

35. If non-syndicated, name and address of 
Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name and address]

36. Total commission and concession: [_] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount

37. U.S. Selling Restrictions: [Reg.S Compliance Category; TEFRA
C/TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable]

38. Additional Selling Restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details]

PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS
These Final Terms comprise the final terms required to list and have admitted to trading the 

issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the €10,000,000,000 Programme for the issuance of Euro 
Medium Term Notes and Warrants of Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme.] 

RESPONSIBILITY 
The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. [[_] has 

been extracted from [_]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced 
and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [_], no facts have 
been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By: 
________________________
Duly authorised
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION*
1 LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Listing: [The official list of the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange/other (specify)/None]

(ii) Admission to trading: [Application has been made for the Notes to be 
admitted to trading on [_] with effect from [_].] 
[Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to 
indicate that the original notes are already 
admitted to trading.) 

[(iii) Estimate of total expenses related 
to admission to trading: [_]]3

2 RATINGS
Ratings: The Notes to be issued have been rated: 

[S & P: [_]]

[Moody’s: [_]]

[Fitch: [_]]

[[Other]: [_]]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the 
meaning of the ratings if this has previously been 
published by the rating provider.]

[[Name of credit rating agency] [is/is not] 
established in the European Union and [has 
applied to be/is/is not] registered under the 
Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 
2009 on credit rating agencies.]5

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating 
allocated to Notes of the type being issued under 
the Programme generally or, where the issue 
has been specifically rated, that rating.) 

3 [NOTIFICATION
The Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financíer [has been requested to provide/has 

provided - include first alternative for an issue which is contemporaneous with the establishment or 
update of the Programme and the second alternative for subsequent issues] the [include names of 
competent authorities of host Member States] with a certificate of approval attesting that the 
Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive.] 

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters 
described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to 
the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

4 INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE
“So far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest 

material to the offer.” – Amend as appropriate.

5 REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES2
[(i) Reasons for the offer: [_]

(See “Use of Proceeds” wording in Prospectus –
if reasons for offer different from general funding 
purposes of the Issuer, will need to include those 
reasons here.)] 
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[(ii)] Estimated net proceeds: [_]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use 
will need to split out and present in order of 
priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all 
proposed uses state amount and sources of 
other funding.)

[(iii)] Estimated total expenses: [_] [Include breakdown of expenses.] 

(If the Notes are derivative securities to which 
Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation 
applies it is only necessary to include disclosure 
of net proceeds and total expenses at (ii) and (iii) 
above where disclosure is included at (i) above.)

6 [Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD
Indication of yield: [_] 

Calculated as [include details of method of 
calculation in summary form] on the Issue Date. 

As set out above, the yield is calculated at the 
Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is 
not an indication of future yield.]

7 [Floating Rate Notes only – HISTORIC INTEREST RATES2

Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/other] rates can be obtained from [Reuters].]

8 [Index Linked or other variable-linked Notes only – PERFORMANCE OF IN-
DEX/FORMULA/OTHER VARIABLE, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT 
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS, A DESCRIPTION OF ANY MARKET DISRUPTION AND/OR SETTLE-
MENT DISRUPTION EVENTS THAT AFFECT THE UNDERLYING, A DESCRIPTION OF ANY AD-
JUSTMENT RULES WITH RELATION TO EVENTS CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING AND OTH-
ER INFORMATION CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING4

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the 
index/formula/other variable can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the 
value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most 
evident.[Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index and a description if 
composed by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to include details of 
where the information about the index can be obtained. Where the underlying is not an index need to 
include equivalent information. Where the underlying is a security need to include the name of the 
issuer of the security and the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) or equivalent 
identification number. Where the underlying is an interest rate need to include a description of the 
interest rate. Where the underlying is a basket of underlyings, need to include the relevant weightings 
of each underlying in the basket.] Include any other information concerning the underlying required by 
paragraph 4.2 above of Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation].

The Issuer [intends to provide post-issuance information [specify what information will be 
reported and where it can be obtained]] [does not intend to provide post-issuance information except 
where required by applicable laws and regulations].

9 [Dual Currency Notes only – PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND 
EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT4

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the relevant 
rate[s] can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment 
is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters 
described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to 
the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]
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10 OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
Intended to be held in a manner which
would allow Eurosystem eligibility: [Yes] [No] (Only applicable for Senior Notes)

[Note that the designation “yes” simply means 
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be 
deposited with one of the ICSDs as Common 
Safekeeper[, and registered in the name of a 
nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common 
safekeeper,][include this text for registered 
notes] and does not necessarily mean that the 
Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for 
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue 
or at any or all times during their life. Such 
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the 
Eurosystem eligibility criteria.] [include this text if 
“yes” selected in which case the Notes must be 
issued in NGN form]

ISIN Code:  [_]

Common Code:  [_]

Any clearing system(s) other than
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. or Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme and the 
relevant identification number(s):
                                                                          [Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s) [and

                                                                address(es)]]
Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment

Names and addresses of initial 
Paying Agents: [_]

Names and addresses of additional 
Paying Agents (if any): [_]

11 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER2

Offer Price: [Issue Price][specify]

Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Not Applicable/give details]

Description of the application process: [Not Applicable/give details]

Description of possibility to reduce 
subscriptions and manner for refunding 
excess amount paid by applicants: [Not Applicable/give detail]

Time period (including any possible [_]
amendments) during which the offer will
be open and description of the application
process:

Details of the minimum and/or maximum 
amount of application: [Not Applicable/give details]

Details of the method and time limits for 
paying up and delivering the Notes: [Not Applicable/give details]

Manner in and date on which results of the 
offer are to be made public: [Not Applicable/give details]

Procedure for exercise of any right of 
pre-emption, negotiability of subscription 
rights and treatment of subscription rights 
not exercised: [Not Applicable/give details]
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Categories of potential investors to which 
the Notes are offered and whether tranche(s) 
have been reserved for certain countries: [Not Applicable/give details]

Process for notification to applicants of the 
amount allotted and the indication whether 
dealing may begin before notification 
is made: [Not Applicable/give details]

Amount of any expenses and taxes 
specifically charged to the subscriber 
or purchaser: [Not Applicable/give details]

Name(s) and address(es), to the extent 
known to the Issuer, of the placers in 
the various countries where the offer 
takes place. [None/give details]

Notes

* If an issue of Notes is (i) NOT admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic area and (ii) 
only offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is not required to be published under 
the Prospectus Directive, the Issuer may elect to amend and/or delete certain of the above paragraphs of
Part B.

1 Delete unless the Issue Date of the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was prior to 22 November, 2005.

2 Delete if the minimum Specified Denomination is at least €100,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.

3 Include if the minimum Specified Denomination is at least €100,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.

4 Required for derivative securities to which Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive applies

5 Insert for Notes which are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EEA and which have been assigned a rating.  
.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS FOR THE WARRANTS
Set out below is the form of Final Terms for the Warrant that will be completed for each issue of 

Warrants under the programme.

These Final Terms for the Warrants, under which the Warrants described herein (the 
“Warrants”) are issued, are supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Prospectus 
(the “Prospectus”) dated 31 March, 2011 issued in relation to the EUR10,000,000,000 Programme for 
the issue of Euro Medium Term Notes and Warrants [include reference to any other Final Terms for 
the Warrants for earlier Tranches of the same Series]. Terms defined in the Prospectus have the 
same meaning in these Final Terms for the Warrants. The Warrants will be issued on the terms of this 
Final Terms for the Warrants read together with the Prospectus. The Issuer accepts responsibility for 
the information contained in these Final Terms for the Warrants which, when read together with the 
Prospectus, contains all information that is material in the context of the issue of the Warrants. The 
Prospectus [and the supplement to the Prospectus] [is] [are] available for inspection at the office of the 
Agent and the office of the Issuer and are available to view on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
Website (www.bourse.lu).

These Final Terms for the Warrants do not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, 
an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of anyone to subscribe or purchase any of the Warrants.

[Set out any additions or variations to the selling restrictions].

[Except as disclosed in these Final Terms for the Warrants, there/There]1 has been no adverse 
change in the financial position or results of operations of the Issuer or of the Group in each case 
which is material in the context of the Programme or the issue and offering of Warrants thereunder, 
since [date of last audited accounts or interim accounts (if later)].

[Signed: ________________________________

Director]

1 N.B. If any such change is disclosed in the Final Terms for the Warrants, it will require approval by the Stock 
Exchange(s). Consideration should be given as to whether or not such disclosure should be made by means of a 
supplemental Prospectus rather than in Final Terms for the Warrants.

A. Issue Details

1. Form of Warrants: [Bearer/Book-entry] 

2. Title, Number, Put or Call:

3. European or American Style:

4. Issue Date:

5. Final Exercise Date:

6. Exercise Date or Exercise Dates (European Style only):

7. Strike Price:

8. Minimum Exercise Number:

9. Maximum Exercise Number (American Style only):

10. Calculation Agent:

11. Governing Law:

12. Date of resolution of Board of Directors of the Issuer approving the issue of the Warrants:

13. Dealers:

14. Date of Subscription Agreement:

15. Co-ordinator and Underwriters

16. Issue Price:
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17. Commissions, concessions or other similar amounts:

18. Stock Exchange on which Warrants are listed:

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that the original Warrants are already 
admitted to trading)

19. Common Code:

20. Other Clearing System:

21. Code of any other Clearing System:

22. ISIN (if applicable):

B. Interests of Natural and Legal Persons involved in the Issue
So far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Warrants has an interest 

material to the offer.

C. Reasons for the Offer, Estimated Net Proceeds and Total Expenses
[(i) Reasons for the offer: [_]

(See “Use of Proceeds” wording in Prospectus –
if reasons for offer different from general funding 
purposes of the Issuer, will need to include those 
reasons here.)] 

[(ii)] Estimated net proceeds: [_]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use 
will need to split out and present in order of 
priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all 
proposed uses state amount and sources of 
other funding.)

[(iii)] Estimated total expenses: [_] [Include breakdown of expenses.] 

D. Exercise Rights
This Section should set out the rights attaching to the Warrants on exercise. It should generally 

include definitions of:

“Business Day” means [a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks are open for 
business in [  ] and London];

“Settlement Amount” (if applicable);

“Settlement Date” means [the [number of days] Business Day following the Valuation Date];

“Settlement Price” or “Applicable Exchange Rate” etc.;

“Valuation Business Day” means [a Business Day on which [foreign exchange markets in 
[  ]/the [  ] Stock Exchange, etc.] are [(or, but for the occurrence of a Market Disruption Event, 
would be)] open for business];

”Valuation Date” means [, subject as provided below and in the Conditions,] the [next] 
[Valuation] Business Day following the Exercise Date.

This section should also include any other definitions or provisions relevant to the rights 
attaching to the Warrants, e.g. Market Disruption Events, Adjustment Rules, Discontinuance or 
Modification of Index etc.

E. Provisions modifying the General Conditions
[lf applicable]

F. Additional selling restrictions
[lf applicable]

G. Description of the Underlying
[If applicable]
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[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the 
index/formula/other variable can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of 
how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the 
risks are most evident. Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index 
and a description if composed by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need 
to include details of where the information about the index can be obtained. Where the 
underlying is not an index need to include equivalent information. Where the underlying is a 
security need to include the name of the issuer of the security and the International Securities 
Identification Number (ISIN) or equivalent identification number. Where the underlying is a 
basket of underlyings, need to include the relevant weightings of each underlying in the basket.]

[The Issuer [intends to provide post-issuance information [specify what information will be 
reported and where it can be obtained]] [does not intend to provide post-issuance information 
except where required by applicable laws and regulations.]
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GENERAL INFORMATION

1. The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in 
connection with the amending and updating of the Programme. The issue of the Notes and the 
Warrants and the supplementing and/or restating of the Programme and the increases in the limit of 
the Programme were authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors passed on 19 September, 
1995, 17 September, 1996, 16 September, 1997, 21 February, 2005, 3 October, 2005 and 25 
February, 2008.

2. There has been no significant change in the financial position of the Dexia BIL�Group 
since 31 December, 2010. There has been no significant change in the financial position of the Group 
since 31 December, 2010 and there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer 
or the Dexia BIL Group since 31 December, 2010.

3. Neither the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries is or has been involved in any governmental, 
legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of 
which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may 
have or have had in the recent past significant effects, in the context of the issue of the Notes or the 
Warrants, on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer.

4. The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined before filing of 
the relevant Final Terms of each Tranche, based on then prevailing market conditions. The Issuer 
does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any related underlying assets, 
except if required by any applicable laws and regulations.

5. Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Receipt, Coupon and Talon 
will bear the following legend: “Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to 
limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 
165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.

6. Notes and Warrants have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The Common Code, the 
International Securities Identification Number (“ISIN”) and the identification number for any other relevant 
clearing system for each Series of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms and the Common 
Code and ISIN for each Series of Warrants will be set out in the relevant Final Terms for the Warrants. 
The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of 
Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any 
alternative clearing system will be specified in the applicable Final Terms or Final Terms for the 
Warrants.

7. Copies in physical form of the Articles of Association of the Issuer, the annual report 
(which includes audited consolidated and non-consolidated figures) of the Issuer for the years ended 
31 December, 2009 and 31 December, 2010, including the reports of statutory auditors in respect 
thereof, may be obtained, and copies in physical form of this Prospectus and any supplement hereto 
and each Final Terms and Final Terms for the Warrants, the Distribution Agreement (as amended, 
restated or supplemented from time to time), the Agency Agreement (as amended, restated or 
supplemented from time to time), the Deed of Covenant (as amended, restated or supplemented from 
time to time) and the Undertaking (as amended, restated or supplemented from time to time) will be 
available for inspection, at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents during normal business 
hours, so long as any of the Notes are outstanding. Copies in physical form of the Final Terms, or 
Final Terms for the Warrants in respect of any Tranche of Notes or Warrants listed on the Official List 
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, as the case may be, will be obtainable at the specified offices of 
the Issuer in Luxembourg during normal business hours, so long as any of the Notes or Warrants 
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, as the case may be, of any such 
Tranche is outstanding.

8. Deloitte SA (a member of the Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises (the Luxembourg institute 
of chartered accountants)) has audited, and rendered the unqualified audit report on, the consolidated and 
non-consolidated accounts of Dexia BIL for the two years ended 31 December, 2009 and 31 December, 
2010.
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9. The Prospectus, the Final Terms and the Final Terms for the Warrants listed on the 
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and all documents that have been incorporated by 
reference will be available to view on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange website (www.bourse.lu).
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